The Bruhat-Tits building of a p-adic Chevalley group and an application to representation theory

Joseph Rabinoff

February 20, 2007



Submitted as a senior honors thesis to the Department of Mathematics of Harvard University, Cambridge, Massachusetts, March 31, 2003, under the excellent guidance of Professor Stephen DeBacker.

Please report any errors in this paper to the author at

rabinoff@post.harvard.edu

The latest version of this paper can be found at

http://shadowfax.homelinux.net/building/

Copyright 2003, Joseph Rabinoff.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1. Chevalley group example: Sp_4	6
2. The spherical and affine apartments	15
2.1. The spherical apartment	16
2.2. The affine apartment	20
3. Parahoric subgroups	
3.1. Definition and basic properties	
3.2. Passage to the residue field	33
3.3. Structure theory	37
4. The Bruhat-Tits building	
4.1. Definition and basic properties	
4.2. Example: the building of $SL_2(k)$	46
5. An application of the building to representation theory	
5.1. The depth of a representation	49
5.2. The main result	
5.3. Example: depth-zero super-cuspidals of $SL_2(k)$	59
A. Appendix: Non-simply-connectedness and $SO_4(k)$	
B. Appendix: Chevalley group miscellanea	
C. Index of Notation	65

Abstract

This thesis is concerned with the structure theory of generalized Levi subgroups G of simply-connected Chevalley groups defined over a finite extension of a p-adic field. We present a geometric parameterization of this structure known as the Bruhat-Tits building $\mathcal{B}(G)$. The building facilitates visualizing and reasoning about the structure of G, and therefore has applications to all things related to such groups. We present Moy and Prasad's classification of depth-zero super-cuspidal representations of G using the building. Such representations are obtained by induction from cuspidal representations of finite Chevalley groups — this is therefore an important connection between p-adic representation theory and the representation theory of finite groups of Lie type.

1. Introduction

Much of the research done in the field of algebra in the past century has been the analysis of certain well-behaved matrix groups defined over various fields, and the representations thereof. Real and complex matrix groups such as $SO_n(\mathbf{R})$, the rotations of *n*-space, and $GL_n(\mathbf{R})$, the group of invertible $n \times n$ matrices, are vital to physicists: for instance, the atomic orbitals of the hydrogen atom come from representations of the Lie algebra of the matrix group SU_2 , and particles can be thought of as irreducible representations of various symmetry groups such as SU_3 . Matrix groups defined over the finite fields \mathbf{F}_q comprise *all* finite simple groups except for the alternating groups A_n and a finite set of exceptions, and are therefore of primary importance to finite group theory. The *p*-adic fields have many characteristics of continuous fields such as \mathbf{R} , but are also closely related to finite fields such as \mathbf{F}_q . Matrix groups over *p*-adic fields turn out to be very important to number theorists. It is this latter class of groups which will concern us in this paper: we will study generalized Levi subgroups *G* of simply-connected Chevalley groups defined over finite extensions of *p*-adic fields. Specifically, we will investigate the structure theory and representation theory of these groups.

Review of the *p***-adics.** First we review the concept of a *p*-adic field, where *p* denotes a fixed prime number. Such fields were originally introduced by number theorists to facilitate calculations which involve an infinite number of congruences modulo p^n (it is therefore not surprising that *p*-adic representation theory has applications to number theory). In short, the *p*-adic field \mathbf{Q}_p is obtained from the rational numbers as the completion of \mathbf{Q} with respect to the *p*-adic norm, in the same way that \mathbf{R} is obtained as the completion of \mathbf{Q} with respect to the standard absolute value $|\cdot|$. To wit: the sequence 3, 3.1, 3.14, 3.141, ... is a nice sequence of rational numbers, called a Cauchy sequence, whose elements get arbitrarily close together, in the sense that |3.1415 - 3.141| is small. However, this sequence converges to π , which is not rational. One can realize the real numbers by declaring that all such sequences converge to something, in this way obtaining all infinite nonrepeating decimals trailing off to the right.

The exact same construction works if we replace the standard absolute value by the following size function. Let $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, and write $a = p^n \cdot b$, where $b \in \mathbb{Z}$ and p does not divide b— the number n is well-defined because of the uniqueness of prime factorizations. Then we can set the p-adic absolute value of a to be $|a|_p = p^{-n}$ for $a \neq 0$ and $|0|_p = 0$. For example, if p = 2, then $48 = 2^4 \cdot 3$ has norm 2^{-4} ; if we write 48 in its binary expansion 110000, we can see that its norm is completely dependent on its *least* significant nonzero digit. This is opposite from the standard absolute value, where a number's size depends on its most significant digit. One can extend the *p*-adic norm to all rational numbers by setting $|a/b|_p = |a|_p/|b|_p$ for $b \neq 0$, and using this, one can again declare that all Cauchy sequences (i.e., sequences $\{x_n\}$ of rational numbers such that $|x_n - x_m|_p$ gets arbitrarily small) must converge. One thus obtains the complete *p*-adic field \mathbf{Q}_p as the set of all infinite, nonrepeating decimals (written in base *p*) which trail off to the *left*, instead of to the right — note that numbers are "small" if their *least* significant digits are zero.

One should note that if $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ and p does not divide a, then $|a|_p = 1$, whether a is large or small — in this sense, the p-adic norm obliterates all information about any prime other than p. This is one reason that fields such as \mathbb{Q}_p are useful to number theorists. These fields also have the interesting property that if we set $R = \{a \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |a|_p \leq 1\}$ and $\wp = \{a \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |a|_p < 1\}$, then R/\wp is naturally isomorphic to the finite field \mathbb{F}_p of pelements, called the **residue field**. This fact is vital.

The basic objects. Claude Chevalley [Che55] has developed a method, later extended by Steinberg [Ste68], by which one can take a complex semisimple Lie group, such as $SL_n(\mathbf{C})$, and an arbitrary field k, and produce the analogous group **defined over** $k - SL_n(k)$ in this example. The resulting groups are called Chevalley groups. It is these objects with which we will be concerned, where k is a finite extension of some field \mathbf{Q}_p . We should note that all of the analysis that we will present is usually done in the more general context of reductive algebraic groups, but that the latter approach is more difficult and is beyond the scope of this paper. We give a full example of Chevalley's construction in Section 1.1; at this point, one can gain a good intuition for the structure theory of our groups by analyzing the simple example of $G = GL_3(\mathbf{Q}_p)$.

The first thing to notice is that the group T of diagonal matrices in G is an abelian group, called a **maximal torus**, which is isomorphic to $(\mathbf{Q}_p^{\times})^3$. The torus T acts nicely on the off-diagonal matrix entries by conjugation: for example,

$$\begin{bmatrix} a \\ b \\ c \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & x \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c \end{bmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & x \cdot a/c \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The group *B* of all invertible upper-diagonal matrices forms a large subgroup of *G*, with the nice property that B = TU as a semidirect product, where *U* is the normal subgroup of *B* with ones on the diagonal. That is,

$$\begin{bmatrix} * & * & * \\ * & * \\ & * \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} * & \\ * & * \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & * & * \\ 1 & * \\ & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

We call *B* a **Borel Subgroup**, *U* its **unipotent radical**, and the decomposition B = TU a **Levi Decomposition**; in this context, *T* is a **Levi subgroup** of *B*.

We define any subgroup P containing B to be a **standard parabolic subgroup**. It turns out that

 $\begin{bmatrix} * & * & * \\ * & * \\ * & * \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * \\ * & * \\ * & * \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * \\ * & * \\ * & * \end{bmatrix}, \text{ and } \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * \\ * & * & * \\ * & * & * \end{bmatrix}$

are the only standard parabolic subgroups in *G*. Any parabolic subgroup has a Levi decomposition into a semidirect product of a Levi subgroup and a unipotent radical; for instance, we have

$$P = \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * \\ * & * & * \\ * & * \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} * & * \\ * & * \\ * & * \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & * \\ 1 & 1 & * \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = M_P U_P$$

The Levi subgroup M_P above is isomorphic to $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbf{Q}_p) \times \operatorname{GL}_1(\mathbf{Q}_p)$, whose structure theory is similar to that of $G = \operatorname{GL}_3(\mathbf{Q}_p)$ itself. This is vital to the structure theory and the representation theory of the type of group we are concerned with: that is, all (generalized) Levi subgroups of a simply-connected *p*-adic Chevalley group can be analyzed in a uniform way. This suggests using inductive arguments in our analysis.

So far we have ignored the fact that \mathbf{Q}_p is a *p*-adic field, as opposed to an arbitrary field; indeed, the above definitions hold upon replacing \mathbf{Q}_p with any field. There is, however, much structure theory which depends on the *p*-adic nature of \mathbf{Q}_p . For $n \in \mathbf{Z}$, define

$$\wp^n = \{ a \in \mathbf{Q}_p : |a| \le p^{-n} \}.$$

Then

$$\{0\} \subset \cdots \subset \wp^3 \subset \wp^2 \subset \wp \subset R \subset \wp^{-1} \subset \wp^{-2} \subset \cdots \subset \mathbf{Q}_p$$

is an exhaustive filtration of \mathbf{Q}_p by compact open subgroups (the topology of \mathbf{Q}_p is given by the norm $|\cdot|_p$). Using this, we can define many interesting compact open subgroups of our group *G* (where the topology on *G* is induced from the natural topology on the space of 3×3 *p*-adic matrices). For instance, if we set

$$G_y = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ R & R & R \\ R & R & R \end{bmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad G_y^+ = \begin{bmatrix} 1+\wp & \wp & \wp \\ \wp & 1+\wp & \wp \\ \wp & \wp & 1+\wp \end{bmatrix}$$

(where all sets of matrices are of course intersected with G), then these are compact open subgroups. These groups have the vital property that

$$G_y/G_y^+ \cong \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{F}_p & \mathbf{F}_p & \mathbf{F}_p \\ \mathbf{F}_p & \mathbf{F}_p & \mathbf{F}_p \\ \mathbf{F}_p & \mathbf{F}_p & \mathbf{F}_p \end{bmatrix} \cong \mathrm{GL}_3(R/\wp) = \mathrm{GL}_3(\mathbf{F}_p)$$

which is the "same" group over the finite field. (Note that this is a generalization of the fact that $\mathbf{F}_p = R/\wp$.) This fact suggests that we will be able to use the theory of finite Chevalley groups to enhance our understanding of the *p*-adic versions

All of the objects treated in this section can be defined in any generalized Levi subgroup of a simply-connected *p*-adic Chevalley group; this is precisely the structure theory we will investigate in the majority of this thesis.

Representation theory. In Chapter 5, we will give an important application of the structure theory of our groups (as developed up to that point) to *p*-adic representation theory. It is therefore useful at this point to give a summary of some of the basic results in that area. The results mentioned here are the result of the invaluable work done by Jacquet, Langlands, Kottwitz, Mautner, Bernstein, Steinberg, Casselman, Iwahori, Moy, Prasad, and many others.

Let (π, V) be a **representation** of a group G of the type that we are considering — that is, V is some complex vector space, and π is a homomorphism from G into GL(V) (in other words, each $g \in G$ acts on V by an invertible linear map, such that $\pi(g) \circ \pi(h) = \pi(gh)$). We say that (π, V) is **smooth** if, for all $v \in V$, the subgroup of G fixing v contains a compact open subgroup. In other words, the action of G on V is continuous with respect to the discrete topology on V. All representations we will encounter are smooth. We write $\Re(G)$ for the category of smooth representations of G. If, in addition,

$$V^K = \{v \in V : kv = v \text{ for all } k \in K\}$$

is finite-dimensional for every compact open subgroup K of G, then we say that V is **ad**missible. If V has no G-invariant subspace — that is, V has no vector subspace U such that $\pi(g) \cdot u \in U$ for every $u \in U$ and $g \in G$ — then we say that V is *irreducible*. Equivalently, irreducible representations are simple G-modules. One can show that the only finite-dimensional smooth irreducible representations of G are one-dimensional, so that all interesting smooth representations are infinite-dimensional.

A fundamental problem in p-adic representation theory is to find all smooth irreducible representations of G (all such representations are automatically admissible). One of the most basic objects used to accomplish this goal, for reasons that will become clear, is the super-cuspidal representation.

Let $P \subset G$ be a proper parabolic subgroup with Levi decomposition P = MU as above, and let V(U) be the subspace of V generated by $\{\pi(u)v - v : u \in U, v \in V\}$. Then $V_U := V/V(U)$ is the largest quotient of V on which U acts trivially, and is therefore a natural representation of M because P = MU.

Definition 1.1. We say that the smooth representation (π, V) is *super-cuspidal* if for every (standard) proper parabolic subgroup P of G with Levi decomposition MU, the space V_U is trivial.

Intuitively, then, a super-cuspidal representation has nothing to do with any proper Levi subgroup — it is determined only by the data that differentiates the full group G from its Levi subgroups. One should note that this definition is almost identical to the definition of a cuspidal representation of a simply-connected Chevalley group over a finite field (over the finite field, one usually requires that cuspidal representations be irreducible):

Definition 1.2. A finite-dimensional irreducible representation (τ, W) of a simply-connected Chevalley group G defined over a finite field is *cuspidal* if for every (standard) proper parabolic subgroup P of G with Levi decomposition MU, the space W_U is trivial.

If $H \subset G$ is a subgroup and (σ, W) is a smooth representation of H, then we define $\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \sigma$ to be the space of all maps $f: G \to W$ such that f is locally constant on the right (that is, there is some compact open subgroup $K_f \subset G$ such that f(gk) = f(g) for all $g \in G$ and $k \in K_f$), and for any $g \in G$ and $h \in H$, we have $f(hg) = \sigma(h)f(g)$. For $g \in G$ and $f \in \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \sigma$, we define $g \cdot f$ by the right-regular action, that is, $(g \cdot f)(x) = f(xg)$ for $x \in G$. With this action, $\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \sigma$ is a smooth representation of G, called an *induced representation*. We also define $\operatorname{ind}_H^G \sigma$ to be the subspace of $\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \sigma$ consisting of functions whose support is compact modulo H (on the left). Intuitively, the functors ind and Ind are methods by which one can take a representation of a subgroup $H \subset G$, and obtain a representation of all of G, which, in some sense, does not contain any more information.

With these definitions, one can show that if $(\pi, V) \in \mathfrak{R}(G)$ is irreducible, then there exists a (not necessarily proper) parabolic subgroup P of G with Levi decomposition MU and an irreducible super-cuspidal representation σ of M such that π is a subrepresentation of $\operatorname{Ind}_P^G \tilde{\sigma}$, where $\tilde{\sigma}$ is σ extended to P = MU by declaring that U acts trivially (recall that Uis normal in P). Therefore we start to see that the smooth irreducible representations of Gdivide into those that can be induced from smaller well-behaved subgroups of G, and those that arise from the data that is unique to G and independent of its proper Levi subgroups. This division is in fact a splitting of the category $\mathfrak{R}(G)$ into the full subcategories of supercuspidal representations and those representations found in representations induced from super-cuspidal representations of proper Levi subgroups. Therefore, with the inductive argument hinted at before, we see that in a sense, we can understand all of the smooth irreducible representations of G if we can understand its super-cuspidal representations. Thus the super-cuspidal representations are the fundamental objects in p-adic representation theory. That said, the only class of groups for which all of the super-cuspidal representations are known is $GL_n(k)$ (and some of its close relatives like $SL_n(k)$, under some extra conditions on k). Thus finding the super-cuspidal representations is a major outstanding problem in p-adic representation theory.

The general strategy for finding super-cuspidal representations is by compact induction from subgroups K of G which are compact mod the center of G. The justification for this dates back to Mautner [Mau64]. He showed that that if σ is a smooth irreducible representation of K and $\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G} \sigma$ is irreducible, then it is super-cuspidal. Many, many people have tried to find all super-cuspidal representations in this fashion, but none have been successful. However, if (π, V) is an irreducible super-cuspidal representation of G such that the space of G_{y}^{+} -fixed vectors is nonzero (in the example above), then Moy and Prasad showed that the natural representation of G_{y}/G_{y}^{+} (which is $\operatorname{GL}_{3}(\mathbf{F}_{p})$ in our example above) on $V^{G_{y}^{+}}$ contains a cuspidal representation, and that (π, V) can be obtained by compact induction from this representation. This is a rather surprising connection between the representation theory of G and the representation theory of its analog over the finite residue field — somehow, cuspidal and super-cuspidal representations are related. In this way, Moy and Prasad classify all super-cuspidal representations of G with vectors fixed under certain subgroups similar to G_{y}^{+} (which is a nontrivial class of representations), using information about the cuspidal representations of finite groups of Lie type, which are well understood (in the sense that all finite simple groups are classified). We will carry out this classification in Chapter 5.

Motivation. The structure theory of our groups is rich and beautiful, and deserves to be studied for that reason alone. There are, however, applications to other areas of mathematics. For instance, Moy and Prasad [MP94] devised a method of characterizing a representation (π, V) of G by its **depth**, that is, how "deep" one must look into a certain filtration of the compact open subgroups G_y in order to find a compact open subgroup K such that the space V^K of K-fixed vectors is nonzero. This increases our understanding of the representation theory of G — see Chapter 5. As another example, DeBacker [DeB02] has found a way to parameterize nilpotent orbits in the Lie algebra of G via the structure theory presented in this paper, which aids in the study of harmonic analysis on G. Harmonic analysis on reductive p-adic groups and p-adic representation theory in turn have some deep applications to number theory.

Our focus. We will present the construction of the Bruhat-Tits building $\mathcal{B}(G)$, which is a geometric parameterization of the structure of G. The building is a huge CW-complex with a natural G action, which is formed by gluing together many apartments \mathcal{A} , which are all copies of affine ℓ -space \mathbb{R}^{ℓ} , cut up by hyperplanes in a regular fashion (see Figure 4.1). For instance, an apartment of SL_3 is a plane, tiled by equilateral triangles. The building also has a natural metric, with respect to which the group G acts by isometries.

Much of the structure theory of G can be realized using the building and its G-action: for example, if $y \in \mathcal{B}(G)$ is any point, then we can form the stabilizer subgroup $G_y = \{g \in G : g \cdot y = y\}$, justifying the notation above. This subgroup always turns out to have a natural quotient which is isomorphic to a generalized Levi subgroup of the analogous Chevalley group defined over the residue field. In general, many important structural properties translate directly into the geometric language of the building, and vice-versa; thus the building makes it much easier to reason about and visualize the structure of G. The building was invented by Bruhat and Tits in [BT72] the 1970's, but its power was only exploited to a limited extent until the mid-1990's, when Moy and Prasad defined certain filtration subgroups $G_{x,r}$ and $\mathfrak{g}_{x,r}$ for $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$. Using this new structure, Moy and Prasad were able to prove, among other things, the results already mentioned, which we present in Chapter 5. Since then, an intensive study has been made of the building and its applications to all things related to *p*-adic Chevalley groups.

Roadmap. In Section 1.1, we will present Chevalley's construction of $Sp_4(k)$; if the reader is not familiar with Chevalley groups, this should be a sufficient introduction.

In Chapter 2, we present the basic unit of the Bruhat-Tits building: the affine apartment. Since much of the "affine" structure of G (that is, the structure of a p-adic Chevalley group G which depends on the fact that it is defined over a p-adic field) is analogous to the "spherical" structure of any Chevalley group (that is, the structure which does not depend on the field k), we also give an introduction to the spherical apartment of an arbitrary Chevalley group G, and show how the spherical apartment gives rise to much of the standard Chevalley group structure theory of G. Since the spherical structure theory may be more familiar to the reader, Section 2.1 will hopefully be helpful in understanding Section 2.2.

If the Bruhat-Tits building is made by gluing together many affine apartments, parahoric subgroups comprise the glue. It is these subgroups which make up the structure theory used to build the building, and most of the structure that the building parameterizes is realized in terms of parahorics. We therefore devote all of Chapter 3 to parahoric subgroups. Parahoric subgroups also have the extremely important property that they have a quotient which is isomorphic to a generalized Levi of a Chevalley group defined over the residue field; this is discussed in Section 3.2. Parahoric subgroups play a role in the affine structure theory of *G* analogous to the role parabolics play in the spherical structure theory of G; some of the results which solidify this analogy are given in Section 3.3.

With the knowledge about parahorics developed in Chapter 3, we define the Bruhat-Tits building in Chapter 4. There is an analogous spherical building associated with any Chevalley group (formed by gluing together many spherical apartments), but, unlike in Chapter 2, we do not present that construction. We give the full example of the building of $SL_2(k)$ in Section 4.2.

Chapter 5 is devoted to Moy and Prasad's classification of irreducible super-cuspidal representations of depth zero using the Bruhat-Tits building; in particular, we show that all such representations can be obtained from *cuspidal* representations of Chevalley groups over the finite field. It is very useful to understand this relationship between finite group representation theory and *p*-adic representation theory — for one, the representation theory of finite Chevalley groups is well understood. In Section 5.1, we define the notion of the depth of a representation; in Section 5.2, we present the classification; and in Section 5.3, we show how Section 5.2 is used to find all depth-zero irreducible super-cuspidal representations of $SL_2(k)$. We make good use of Section 4.2 in Section 5.3.

Acknowledgments. It is a pleasure to thank my advisor, Stephen DeBacker, without whose time, patience, and advice, none of this would have been possible. I am also indebted to Martin Weissman for his help and support.

1.1. Chevalley group example: Sp_4

The constructive nature of Chevalley groups obliges us to define much notation, which is perhaps easier to absorb if presented in a concrete example. In addition, one who is not familiar with the general construction of Chevalley groups may find this example and the one in Appendix A helpful. We therefore present the Chevalley-Steinberg construction of the group $Sp_4(k)$, where k is an arbitrary field. All of the notation in this section can be defined in the same way for any Chevalley group; after this section, we will no longer assume that we are working with Sp_4 .

The Chevalley Data. The basic data needed to construct $\operatorname{Sp}_4(k)$ is the Dynkin diagram of type C_2 , which shows two simple roots, a short one and a long one, at a 135° angle. From this data, we can construct the (abstract) root system Φ^c , which is given in Figure 1.1, along with its co-root system (note that the short and long roots are switched). In this section we label the simple roots α and β and the simple root system $\Delta^c = \{\alpha, \beta\}$; the other positive roots are given in the figure. A complex simple Lie algebra which gives rise to this root diagram will be of the form $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}} = \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbf{C}} \bigoplus_{\gamma \in \Phi^c} (\mathfrak{g}_{\gamma})_{\mathbf{C}}$, where $(\mathfrak{g}_{\gamma})_{\mathbf{C}}$ is the one-dimensional root space associated with the root γ and $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbf{C}}$ is the two-dimensional Cartan subalgebra. There are elements $X_{\pm\gamma} \in (\mathfrak{g}_{\pm\gamma})_{\mathbf{C}}$ and $Z_{\gamma} \in \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbf{C}}$ such that $(X_{\gamma}, X_{-\gamma}, Z_{\gamma})$ is an \mathfrak{sl}_2 triple, with the elements Z_{γ} scaled such that for every root δ ,

$$[Z_{\gamma}, X_{\delta}] = 2(\delta, \gamma) / (\gamma, \gamma) \cdot X_{\delta}, \tag{1.1}$$

which is always an integer multiple since Φ^c is a root system.



Figure 1.1: The root system and co-root system of type C_2 . This co-root system is usually drawn rotated clockwise 45° from this drawing; in this representation, the Euclidean space containing the root system and its dual containing the co-root system are identified via the inner product.

We can realize $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}}$ as the space of 4×4 matrices which preserve the skew form $M = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & I_2 \\ -I_2 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$. One can show [FH91, p.239] that $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}}$ is the space of block matrices $\begin{bmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{bmatrix}$ such that B and C are symmetric and A and D are negative transposes of each other. Therefore

a basis for $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}}$ is

One can check that the requirements (1.1) are satisfied, so this is indeed a simple Lie algebra with the correct Dynkin diagram. It is important that the integer span

$$\mathfrak{g} := \left(\bigoplus_{\gamma \in \Phi^c} \mathbf{Z} \cdot X_{\gamma} \right) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\delta \in \Delta^c} \mathbf{Z} \cdot H_{\delta} \right)$$

of the basis elements is stable under the bracket, so that we have in fact chosen a *Chevalley* **basis** for $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}}$. This is the first important step in constructing a Chevalley group; Chevalley showed that any complex semisimple Lie algebra has such a basis.

We will use the following notation for our abstract root system and our Chevalley data:

- $\mathfrak{g}~$ is our integer Lie algebra, which comes from the complex semisimple Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}}$ and a Chevalley basis.
- Φ^c is the (abstract) root system of g.
- $L^c = |\Phi^c|$ is the number of roots.
- $(\Phi^c)^{\pm}$ is some choice of positive and negative roots; in our case, $(\Phi^c)^{+} = \{\alpha, \beta, \alpha + \beta, 2\alpha + \beta\}.$
 - Δ^c is the set of simple roots with respect to $(\Phi^c)^+$; in our case, $\Delta^c = \{\alpha, \beta\}$.
 - $\mathfrak{g}_{\gamma} = \mathbf{Z} \cdot X_{\gamma}$ is the (integer) root space in \mathfrak{g} of the root $\gamma \in \Phi^c$.
 - \mathfrak{h} is the (integer) Cartan subalgebra. In our case, $\mathfrak{h} = \mathbf{Z} \cdot Z_{\alpha} \oplus \mathbf{Z} \cdot Z_{\beta}$.
 - $\ell^c = |\Delta^c|$ is the rank of \mathfrak{g} .
 - E is the Euclidean space containing the abstract root system Φ^c .
 - E^* is the linear dual of E. (In general, if X is a vector space, then X^* denotes its linear dual.)
 - (\cdot, \cdot) is the inner product on *E* and on *E*^{*}.
 - $\Lambda_B^c \subset E$ is the **root lattice**, i.e., the lattice spanned by Φ^c .
- $\langle \gamma, \delta \rangle = 2(\gamma, \delta)/(\delta, \delta)$ is always an integer for $\gamma, \delta \in \Phi^c$ (by the definition of a root system).
- $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is also used to denote the canonical pairing of E with E^* (sorry, there are only so many kinds of brackets). For $\alpha \in E$ and $x \in E^*$ we will often write $\alpha(x)$ for $\langle x, \alpha \rangle$.
- $\check{\Phi}^c \ \subset E^* \text{ is the system of co-roots.}$
- $\check{\gamma} \in E^*$ is the co-root corresponding to $\gamma \in \Phi^c$, defined by the equation $\langle \check{\gamma}, \delta \rangle = \langle \gamma, \delta \rangle$ for all $\delta \in \Phi^c$.

 $\check{\Lambda}_R^c \subset E^*$ is the **co-root lattice**, that is, the lattice generated by $\check{\Phi}^c$. (In general, if $X \subset \Lambda_R^c$ is a subset of the root lattice, then $\check{X} \subset \check{\Lambda}_R$ is the corresponding subset of the co-root lattice.)

Our Chevalley basis is

$$\{X_{\gamma}, Z_{\delta} : \gamma \in \Phi^c, \delta \in \Delta^c\}$$

where each X_{γ} spans the root space \mathfrak{g}_{γ} , and the Z_{δ} span the Cartan subalgebra \mathfrak{h} . All of the above Chevalley data (except the specific choice of simple and positive roots) will be *fixed* throughout this paper (again, we will not assume that our Chevalley group is $Sp_4(k)$ after this section).

Before moving on, we must make a note about root systems: if one starts with a complex semisimple Lie algebra, one uses the root space decomposition and the Killing form to realize the root system as a subset of a real subspace of $h^*_{\mathbf{C}}$. We can recover that realization: let $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbf{R}}$ be the real span of the elements $\{Z_{\gamma} : \gamma \in \Delta^c \text{ (or } \gamma \in \Phi^c)\}$. For each $\delta \in \Phi^c$, Equation (1.1) allows us to define a linear map $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbf{R}} \to \mathbf{R}$, also denoted by δ , by the formula

$$\delta(Z_{\gamma}) \cdot X_{\delta} = [Z_{\gamma}, X_{\delta}] = \langle \delta, \gamma \rangle \cdot X_{\delta}$$
(1.3)

for $\gamma \in \Delta^c$; the above formula then holds for any $\gamma \in \Phi^c$. So for instance, one calculates that $\alpha(\operatorname{diag}(a, b, -a, -b)) = a - b$ and $\beta(\operatorname{diag}(a, b, -a, -b)) = 2b$. In a dual manner, any co-root $\check{\gamma}$ defines a linear map $\mathbf{R} \to \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbf{R}}$ simply by $\check{\gamma}(r) = r \cdot Z_{\gamma}$; we then recover $\delta \circ \check{\gamma} = \langle \delta, \gamma \rangle$. Extending linearly, we can identify E with $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbf{R}}^*$ and E^* with $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbf{R}}$ in a natural way. That said, after this section we will never use any realization of the root system Φ^c ; rather, we will regard it as a separate object which interacts with our groups.

The Chevalley Group. The strategy is to obtain $\text{Sp}_4(k)$ by formally exponentiating the above Lie algebra. One can obtain all of the isogeny forms of a Lie group via Steinberg's method, so we need one more piece of data in order to construct the simply-connected form Sp_4 . In general, we will assume that all of our Chevalley groups are simply-connected (see Appendix A). Using our identification of $\mathfrak{h}^*_{\mathbf{R}}$ with E, we can define the weight lattice $\Lambda^c_W \supset \Lambda^c_R$ to be the set of all $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*_{\mathbf{R}}$ such that $\lambda(Z_{\gamma}) \in \mathbf{Z}$ for all $\gamma \in \Delta^c$. One can show that the lattice generated by the weights of any representation of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}}$ whose weight lattice (i.e., the lattice generated by the weights of $V^{\mathbf{C}}$) is all of Λ^c_W (the particular choice of representation ends up being irrelevant) — this is the property that will allow us to generate the simply-connected form.¹

The next step is to choose a full-rank lattice V in $V^{\mathbf{C}}$ which is invariant under the set

$$\{X_{\gamma}^n/n! : n \in \mathbf{N}, \ \gamma \in \Phi^c\},\tag{1.4}$$

where we are thinking of $X_{\gamma}^n/n!$ as a member of $\operatorname{End}(V^{\mathbb{C}})$. One can show [Ste68] that such a lattice exists, and that the choice of the lattice is ultimately unimportant. Set V^k to be the vector space $V \otimes k$; note that each $X_{\gamma}^n/n!$ acts on V^k in a natural way. Since the representation $V^{\mathbb{C}}$ has a finite number of weights, there is some n for each γ such that $X_{\gamma}^n \in \operatorname{End}(V^k)$ is zero. Therefore for $t \in k$ and $\gamma \in \Phi^c$,

$$\exp(tX_{\gamma}) = 1 + tX_{\gamma} + \frac{(tX_{\gamma})^2}{2!} + \frac{(tX_{\gamma})^3}{3!} + \dots \in \mathrm{GL}(V^k)$$

¹E.g., if we had chosen $V^{\mathbf{C}}$ to be the adjoint representation, whose weight lattice is simply the root lattice, then we would generate the adjoint form.

is a well-defined element, with inverse $\exp(-tX_{\gamma})$. Define the *Chevalley group* G^c to be the group generated by $\{\exp(tX_{\gamma}) : t \in k, \gamma \in \Phi^c\}$.

In our case, the weight lattice of the standard representation of $\text{Sp}_4(\mathbf{C})$ is all of Λ_W^c . Indeed, one sees that $\Lambda_W^c = \mathbf{Z}(\alpha/2) \oplus \mathbf{Z}\beta$, and that the weight corresponding to the weight space spanned by (1, 0, 0, 0) is $\alpha/2$. We have $X_{\gamma}^2 = 0$ for all $\gamma \in \Phi^c$, so $\mathbf{Z}^4 \subset \mathbf{C}^4$ is a good choice for a full-rank sublattice. We then have $V^k = k^4$, and X_{γ} acts on V^k via the matrices (1.2). Since $\exp(tX_{\gamma}) = 1 + tX_{\gamma}$, we have

$$\exp(tX_{\alpha}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & t & \\ 1 & \\ & -t & 1 \end{bmatrix} \qquad \exp(tX_{-\alpha}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \\ & 1 & -t \\ & 1 & \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\exp(tX_{\beta}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & \\ 1 & 0 & t \\ & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \qquad \exp(tX_{-\beta}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \\ 0 & t & 1 \end{bmatrix} \qquad (1.5)$$
$$\exp(tX_{\alpha+\beta}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & t & \\ 1 & 0 & t & \\ & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \qquad \exp(tX_{-\alpha-\beta}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \\ 0 & t & 1 & \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

which are elements of $GL(V^k)$.

We will use the following notation for the objects defined above:

- *V* is some lattice contained in a faithful complex representation $V^{\mathbf{C}}$ of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}}$ which is invariant under the set (1.4). We will require that our Chevalley groups be *simply-connected* (see Appendix A), so the lattice of weights of the representation $V^{\mathbf{C}}$ must be the weight lattice.
- V_{μ} is the (integer) weight space of V corresponding to the weight μ . In our case, the weight spaces are generated by the coordinate vectors; for instance,

$$\operatorname{diag}(a, b, -a, -b) \cdot (1, 0, 0, 0) = a \cdot (1, 0, 0, 0),$$

so the space $V_{\mu} = (\mathbf{Z}, 0, 0, 0)$ corresponds to the weight $\mu : \operatorname{diag}(a, b, -a, -b) \mapsto a$.

- v_{μ} generates the weight space V_{μ} , so the v_{μ} generate V as an integer lattice. In our case, the v_{μ} are the unit coordinate vectors.
- $V^k = V \otimes_{\mathbf{Z}} k$, which is k^4 in our case.

$$x_{\gamma}(t) = \exp(tX_{\gamma})$$
 for $t \in k$. Note that $x_{\gamma}(t+u) = x_{\gamma}(t)x_{\gamma}(u)$ for $u \in k$.

- $\mathfrak{X}_{\gamma} = \mathfrak{X}_{\gamma}(k)$ is the root subgroup $\{x_{\gamma}(t) : t \in k\} \cong k^+$.
- G^c is the full Chevalley group, defined as the subgroup of $GL(V^k)$ generated by the \mathfrak{X}_{γ} for $\gamma \in \Phi^c$.

The Cartan subgroup. Since the elements $Z_{\gamma} \in \mathfrak{h}$ do not necessarily have finite order as elements of $\operatorname{End}(V^k)$, we cannot exponentiate them directly. However, the relation $Z_{\gamma} = [X_{\gamma}, X_{-\gamma}]$ gives us a clue as to how to define the Cartan subgroup. Define $w_{\gamma}(t) = x_{\gamma}(t)x_{-\gamma}(-t^{-1})x_{\gamma}(t)$ for $t \in k^{\times}$ and $\gamma \in \Phi^c$, so for instance,

$$w_{\alpha}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & t \\ -t^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \\ -t & 0 \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } w_{\beta}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & s \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -s^{-1} & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Let $h_{\gamma}(t) = w_{\gamma}(t)w_{\gamma}(1)^{-1}$, so, in our case, we have

$$h_{\alpha}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} t & t^{-1} & t \\ & t^{-1} & t \end{bmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad h_{\beta}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & s & t \\ & t & s \\ & t^{-1} & s \end{bmatrix}.$$

A list of relations satisfied by the $w_{\gamma}(t)$ and $h_{\gamma}(t)$ can be found in [Ste68, pp. 27–30]. Define the **Cartan subgroup** T of G^c to be the subgroup generated by $\{h_{\gamma}(t) : \gamma \in \Phi^c, t \in k^{\times}\}$. This subgroup has many useful properties (cf. [Ste68, Lemma 28]); we point out that T is abelian, and each h_{γ} defines a homomorphism $k^{\times} \to T$. It is also true that T is generated by $h_{\gamma}(k^{\times}), \gamma \in \Delta^c$, so in our case,

$$T = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} {}^t & & \\ & t^{-1}s & \\ & t^{-1} & \\ & s^{-1}t \end{bmatrix} \ : \ s,t \in k^{\times} \right\} = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} {}^t & s & \\ & t^{-1} & \\ & s^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \ : \ s,t \in k^{\times} \right\}$$

which is the set of all diagonal elements preserving our skew form M. It is very important to note that any element of T has a *unique* expression of the form $h_{\alpha}(s)h_{\beta}(t)$, so that $T \cong (k^{\times})^2$. This property is equivalent to the fact that we exponentiated the simply-connected form, as proved in [Ste68] (recall that over **C**, isogeny forms are obtained from the simplyconnected form by quotienting by subgroups of the center of G^c , which must live in T).

In summary, we have defined:

$$w_{\gamma}(t) = x_{\gamma}(t)x_{-\gamma}(-t^{-1})x_{\gamma}(t)$$
 for $t \in k^{\times}$.

$$h_{\gamma}(t) = w_{\gamma}(t)w_{\gamma}(1)^{-1}$$
 for $t \in k^{\times}$.

T is the Cartan subalgebra, or distinguished maximal torus, which is generated by the $h_{\gamma}(t)$. By [Ste68, Lemma 28], simply-connectedness implies that any element of T can be written uniquely as

$$h_{\gamma_1}(t_1)\cdots h_{\gamma_n}(t_n)$$

for $\gamma_i \in \Delta^c$, so that $T \cong (k^{\times})^{\ell^c}$. Note that we are *fixing* the torus T throughout this paper.

Generalized Levi subgroups. Now that we have defined the basic objects associated with the Chevalley group G^c , we can begin to understand the generalized Levi subgroups G, which comprise the more general class of groups with which we will be concerned.

- **Definition 1.3.** Let $\Phi \subset \Phi^c$ be a subset which is also a root system (we do not require that Φ spans E), and such that if $\gamma, \delta \in \Phi$ and $\gamma + \delta \in \Phi^c$, then $\gamma + \delta \in \Phi$. We call such a Φ a *closed sub-root system*.
- **Remark 1.4.** One can obtain all closed sub-root systems of Φ^c by deleting vertices from an extended Dynkin diagram see [BDS49].

Let G be the subgroup of G^c generated by T and the \mathfrak{X}_{γ} for $\gamma \in \Phi$. We call G the **(standard)** generalized Levi subgroup associated with the closed sub-root system Φ ; conjugates of G are generalized Levi subgroups. In this paper, unless otherwise specified, all generalized Levi subgroups will contain our fixed torus T — that is, they will correspond as above to some closed sub-root system $\Phi \subset \Phi^c$. For a full treatment of generalized Levi subgroups, see [BDS49].

For example, let $\Phi = \{\pm \beta, \pm (2\alpha + \beta)\}$. This is a closed sub-root system, which is of type $A_1 \times A_1$ because β and $2\alpha + \beta$ are orthogonal. Exponentiating the root spaces, we find

$$G = \begin{bmatrix} * & * \\ * & * \\ * & * \end{bmatrix}.$$

Although G is a generalized Levi subgroup, it is *not* a Levi subgroup — that is, we cannot choose a system of simple roots for Φ which extend to a set of simple roots for Φ^c (more on this in the next subsection). The group G' generated by $\mathfrak{X}_{\pm\beta}$ and $\mathfrak{X}_{\pm(2\alpha+\beta)}$ (but not T) is a Chevalley group in its own right; it is one of the isogeny forms of $SO_4(k)$. The group G' need not be simply-connected; in particular, it is not necessarily the case that any element of the Cartan subalgebra T' of G' can be written uniquely as

$$h_{\alpha_1}(t_1)\cdots h_{\alpha_n}(t_n)$$

for $\alpha_i \in \Delta$ (see Appendix A). In other words, T' is not necessarily a torus. In our case, however, we have T' = T by coincidence, and G' happens to be the simply-connected form $\operatorname{Spin}_4(k) \cong \operatorname{SL}_2(k) \times \operatorname{SL}_2(k)$. In general, we have G = TG' — note that T normalizes G' because it acts diagonally on all of the root spaces.

Since generalized Levi subgroups behave so much like full Chevalley groups, some of the notation in place for G^c can also be defined for G. One should also regard most of this notation as fixed:

- $\Phi \subset \Phi^c$ is a closed sub-root system.
- $L = |\Phi|.$
- Φ^{\pm} is some choice of positive and negative roots (we will not necessarily assume that $\Phi^{\pm} \subset (\Phi^c)^{\pm}$).
- $E_{\Phi} \subset E$ is the subspace of E spanned by the root system Φ .
- E_{Φ}^* is the dual of E_{Φ} , which can be identified with the subspace of E^* spanned by Φ .
- $\Lambda_R \subset E_{\Phi}$ is the lattice generated by Φ .
- Δ is a set of simple roots for Φ . Note that Δ may not be contained in any Δ^c in our case, we can take $\Delta = \{\beta, 2\alpha + \beta\}$, which is not a simple root system for Φ^c .
- $\ell = |\Delta|.$
- *G* is the generalized Levi subgroup of G^c associated with Φ . Note that the rank of *G* is still ℓ^c because *G* contains all of *T*.

Since we do not use an "intrinsic" definition of a generalized Levi subgroup of a Chevalley group, we must always work in an ambient larger group. For clarity, then, whenever we define an object for a generalized Levi subgroup, the same symbol with a superscript c will denote the same object in the maximal generalized Levi subgroup, i.e., all of G^c . So for instance, we have Φ and Δ defined for G, whereas Φ^c and Δ^c are the maximal versions of Φ and Δ associated with G^c . Also, if $\Phi_0 \subset \Phi$ is a smaller closed sub-root system, then we will regard the generalized Levi subgroup $G_0 \subset G$ associated with Φ_0 as a generalized Levi subgroup of G as well as of G^c .

Parabolic subgroups. The basic structure theory of Chevalley groups is not very difficult. It revolves around parabolic subgroups. Let $\Theta \subset \Delta$ and let Φ_{Θ} be the set of integer linear combinations of elements of Θ which are also roots in Φ . Then Φ_{Θ} is a closed sub-root system of Φ^c , so there is a corresponding generalized Levi subgroup M_{Θ} — generalized Levis which arise in this way are called *standard Levi subgroups*, and conjugates of the M_{Θ} are *Levi subgroups*. Let P_{Θ} be the subgroup of G generated by T and the root subgroups \mathfrak{X}_{γ} for $\gamma \in \Phi_{\Theta} \cup \Phi^+$ — that is,

$$P_{\Theta} = \langle T, \mathfrak{X}_{\gamma} : \gamma \in \Phi_{\Theta} \cup \Phi^+ \rangle.$$

Then P_{Θ} is a **standard parabolic subgroup** associated with the subset Θ of Δ ; conjugates of P_{Θ} are called **parabolic subgroups**.² If $\Theta = \emptyset$, i.e., $M_{\Theta} = T$, then $B = P_{\emptyset}$ is the minimal standard parabolic subgroup, called the **(standard) Borel subgroup**. One can show that the subgroups P_{Θ} for $\Theta \subset \Delta$ are the only subgroups of G containing B. If we set $U_{\Theta} = \langle \mathfrak{X}_{\gamma} : \gamma \in \Phi^+ \setminus \Phi_{\Theta} \rangle$, then U_{Θ} is normal in $P_{\Theta}, U_{\Theta} \cap M_{\Theta}$ is trivial, and $P_{\Theta} = M_{\Theta}U_{\Theta}$ as a semidirect product. This decomposition is called a **Levi decomposition** of P_{Θ} . Note that $P_{\Theta}/U_{\Theta} \cong M_{\Theta}$. If we set

$$\overline{P}_{\Theta} = \langle T, \ \mathfrak{X}_{\gamma} \ : \ \gamma \in \Phi_{\Theta} \cup \Phi^{-} \rangle \qquad \overline{U}_{\Theta} = \langle \mathfrak{X}_{\gamma} \ : \ \gamma \in \Phi^{-} \setminus \Phi_{\Theta} \rangle$$

then \overline{P}_{Θ} is a (not standard) parabolic subgroup with Levi decomposition $\overline{P}_{\Theta} = M_{\Theta}\overline{U}_{\Theta}$ such that $\overline{P}_{\Theta} \cap P_{\Theta} = M_{\Theta}$. We call \overline{P}_{Θ} the **opposite parabolic** of P_{Θ} with respect to M_{Θ} .

In our example of Sp₄, the only subsets of $\Delta^c = \{\alpha, \beta\}$ are $\emptyset, \{\alpha\}, \{\beta\}$, and Δ^c . Referring to the root space equations (1.5), we see that

$M_{\emptyset} = \begin{bmatrix} * & & \\ & * & \\ & & * \end{bmatrix}$	$P_{\emptyset} = \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * & * \\ & * & * & * \\ & & * & *$	$U_{\emptyset} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & * & * & * \\ & 1 & * & * \\ & & & 1 \\ & & * & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\overline{P}_{\emptyset} = \begin{bmatrix} * & & \\ * & * & * \\ * & * & * \end{bmatrix}$	$\overline{U}_{\emptyset} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & & \\ * & 1 & & \\ * & * & 1 & * \\ * & * & & 1 \end{bmatrix}$
$M_{\alpha} = \begin{bmatrix} * & * & \\ * & * & \\ & * & * \\ & * & * \end{bmatrix}$	$P_{\alpha} = \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * & * \\ * & * & * & * \\ & * & *$	$U_{\alpha} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & * & * \\ & 1 & * & * \\ & & & 1 \\ & & & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\overline{P}_{\alpha} = \begin{bmatrix} * & * & \\ * & * & \\ * & * & * & * \\ * & * &$	$\overline{U}_{\alpha} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & & \\ 1 & & \\ * & * & 1 \\ * & * & 1 \end{bmatrix}$
$M_{\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} * & & \\ & * & * \\ & & * & * \end{bmatrix}$	$P_{\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * & * \\ & * & * & * \\ & * & * &$	$U_{\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & * & * & * \\ & 1 & * & \\ & & 1 & \\ & & * & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\overline{P}_{\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} * & * \\ * * & * \\ * * & * \\ * & * \end{bmatrix}$	$\overline{U}_{\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & & \\ * & 1 & \\ * & * & 1 & \\ * & & 1 \end{bmatrix}$
$M_{\Delta^c} = \operatorname{Sp}_4(k)$	$P_{\Delta^c} = \operatorname{Sp}_4(k)$	$U_{\Delta^c} = \{1\}$	$\overline{P}_{\Delta^c} = \operatorname{Sp}_4(k)$	$\overline{U}_{\Delta^c} = \{1\}$

where we write $M_{\alpha} = M_{\{\alpha\}}$, etc.

For another example of parabolic subgroups, see Example 2.14.

More about root systems. Much of our work will be done in terms of root systems, so we have some more to say about how Φ interacts with our group G. For every root γ (resp. co-root $\check{\gamma}$), we have defined a linear map $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbf{R}} \to \mathbf{R}$ (resp. $\mathbf{R} \to \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbf{R}}$). Not surprisingly, we can find "exponential" versions of these maps, obtaining homomorphisms $T \to k^{\times}$ (resp. $k^{\times} \to T$). Everything that follows is completely analogous to the discussion starting on page 9.

For $\gamma, \delta \in \Phi$, [Ste68, p.30, (R8)] tells us that

$$h_{\gamma}(t)x_{\delta}(s)h_{\gamma}(t)^{-1} = x_{\delta}(t^{\langle \delta, \gamma \rangle}s);$$
(1.6)

compare this with (1.3) on page 9. Proceeding analogously, since G^c is simply-connected, we may define a homomorphism $\delta: T \to k^{\times}$ by

$$\delta(h_{\gamma}(t)) = t^{\langle \delta, \gamma \rangle}$$

for $\delta, \gamma \in \Delta^c$; the above equation is then true for all $\gamma, \delta \in \Phi^c$. Let $X^*(T)$ be the group of homomorphisms $T \to k^{\times}$ generated by the roots $\gamma \in \Phi^c$;³ we have defined things in such a way that we have a natural surjective homomorphism from Λ_B^c onto $X^*(T)$.⁴ Also, any

²Again, unless otherwise specified, all Levis, generalized Levis, and parabolics are assumed to contain T — this means that the Levis and generalized Levis are standard, but the parabolics are only standard with respect to some choice of simple roots.

³This notation is nonstandard. In an algebraic group setting, $X^*(T)$ is defined to be the group of algebraic characters of T; this is not a natural definition from the standpoint of Chevalley groups.

⁴This homomorphism is not injective if the field k is finite; therefore in the Chevalley group context, we can not realize our root system as a subset of $X^*(T) \otimes \mathbf{R}$ as is standard.

co-root $\check{\gamma}$ defines a homomorphism $k^{\times} \to T$ given by h_{γ} ; we then have $\delta \circ \check{\gamma}(t) = t^{\langle \delta, \gamma \rangle}$. Let $X_*(T)$ be the group of homomorphisms $k^{\times} \to T$ generated by the $\check{\gamma}$ for $\gamma \in \Phi^c$, so, as before, we have a surjective homomorphism from the co-root lattice $\check{\Lambda}^c_B$ onto $X_*(T)$.

In the example of $\text{Sp}_4(k)$, we have calculated that the root α corresponds to the map $\mathfrak{h}^*_{\mathbf{R}} \to \mathbf{R}$ given by $\alpha(\text{diag}(a, b, -a, -b)) = a-b$; the same calculation gives that our "exponentiated" realization is $\alpha(\text{diag}(a, b, a^{-1}, b^{-1})) = ab^{-1}$, as expected. Similarly, $\beta(\text{diag}(a, b, -a, -b)) = 2b$ so $\beta(\text{diag}(a, b, a^{-1}, b^{-1})) = b^2$.

To reiterate, we have defined:

- $X^*(T)$ is the group of homomorphisms from T to k^{\times} generated by the roots. If $\lambda \in \Lambda_R^c$, then we will also write λ for its image in $X^*(T)$; that is, we will regard λ as a homomorphism $T \to k^{\times}$ when it suits us.
- $X_*(T)$ is the group of homomorphisms $k^{\times} \to T$ generated by the co-roots. If $\check{\lambda} \in \check{\Lambda}_R^c$, then we will again write $\check{\lambda}$ for its image in $X_*(T)$.

We never explicitly refer to the groups $X_*(T)$ and $X^*(T)$, but we will consistently identify co-roots and roots with their images in $X_*(T)$ and $X^*(T)$, respectively. This is also a good place to define:

- $\Lambda_C \subset \Lambda_R^c$ is the set of all $\lambda \in \Lambda_R^c$ with $\langle \lambda, \gamma \rangle = 0$ for all $\gamma \in \Phi$. In other words, $\Lambda_C = \Lambda_R \cap E_{\Phi}^{\perp}$.
- $C \subset T$ is the *split center* of G, which we define to be the subgroup of T generated by the $\check{\lambda}(t)$ for $t \in k^{\times}$ and $\lambda \in \Lambda_C$. The relations in [Ste68, pp. 27–30] show that C is contained in the center of G.

The Weyl group. Let W be the **Weyl group** associated with Φ , that is, the group of isometries of E (or of E^*) generated by the reflections over the hyperplanes orthogonal to the roots in Φ (resp. co-roots in $\check{\Phi}$). Let N be the subgroup of G generated by T and the $w_{\gamma}(t)$ for $\gamma \in \Phi$ and $t \in k^{\times}$. One can show [Ste68, Exercise, p.36] that T is normal in N, and that N is the full normalizer in G of T if k has more than three elements. It is a basic fact that the map $N \to W$ which sends $w_{\gamma}(t)$ to the reflection over the hyperplane orthogonal to γ (or $\check{\gamma}$) induces an isomorphism of N/T with W.

If $G = \text{Sp}_4(k)$, we find that coset representatives for N^c/T are the determinant-1 permutation matrices corresponding to the permutations

1, (13), (24), (1234), (1432), (12)(34), (13)(24), (14)(23)

which we recognize as the dihedral group D_4 of symmetries of the square. The roots for Sp_4 lie on a square in E (see Figure 1.1), and we readily see that the isomorphism of N^c/T with W^c is the same as realizing W^c as the symmetries of that square. If $G = \text{Spin}_4(k) \subset \text{Sp}_4(k)$ as above, then $N/T \cong \{1, (13), (24), (13)(24)\}$ is the Klein four group.

We define the following objects relating to the Weyl group:

- N is the subgroup of G generated by T and the $w_{\gamma}(t)$ for $\gamma \in \Phi$. If the field in question has more than three elements, then $N = N_G(T)$ by [Ste68, Exercise, p.36].
- $W \cong N/T$ is the Weyl group of G, realized as a group of isometries of E or E^* .
- r_{γ} is the reflection in E (resp. E^*) over the hyperplane orthogonal to γ (resp. $\check{\gamma}$). In E, we have

$$r_{\gamma}(x) = x - \langle x, \gamma \rangle \gamma \tag{1.7}$$

and in E^* ,

$$r_{\gamma}(x^*) = x^* - \langle x^*, \gamma \rangle \check{\gamma}.$$
(1.8)

The group N acts on E and E^* via the identification $N/T \cong W$, with $w_{\gamma}(t)$ acting by r_{γ} and T acting trivially.

 H_{γ} is the hyperplane in E^* fixed by r_{γ} , which is also the set of all $\lambda \in E^*$ such that $\langle \lambda, \gamma \rangle = 0$, or alternatively, the hyperplane orthogonal to $\check{\gamma}$. Note that $H_{\gamma} = H_{-\gamma}$.

p-adic fields. Everything we have done so far holds when k is an arbitrary field, but after all, this thesis is about p-adic Chevalley groups, so from now on we fix the following notation:

- $k\;$ is a fixed non-Archimedean local field of characteristic zero, or equivalently, k is a finite extension of a $p\text{-adic field.}^5$
- $\omega : k^{\times} \to \mathbf{Z}$ is a nontrivial discrete valuation, such that $\omega(k^{\times}) = \mathbf{Z}$.
- R is the ring of integers of k.
- ϖ is a uniformizing element.
- $\wp = \varpi R$ is the prime ideal of R.
- $f = R/\wp$ is the residue field.
- $q = |\mathbf{f}|.$

We will encounter generalized Levi subgroups of our fixed simply-connected Chevalley group defined over the field k and its residue field f, so we need to define one last bit of notation. The objects associated with Chevalley groups over k will be written in the standard italic computer modern math type as above, and objects associated with Chevalley groups over f will be written in a Serif font. So, for instance, over k we have the groups G, T, N, and $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(k)$, and the elements $x_{\alpha}(t), w_{\beta}(s)$; over f, the analogous objects will be denoted G, T, N, $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(f), \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(t)$, and $\mathfrak{w}_{\beta}(s)$. The objects that depend only on the Chevalley data and not the field, like g, Φ , and everything else relating to the root system (including W) will not be written differently when we are thinking about them in relation to the finite field or to k.

Remark 1.5. As mentioned before, everything that we will do in this paper works in the more general context of connected reductive algebraic groups defined over non-Archimedean local fields. It is more difficult to incorporate this added generality — when we work with Chevalley groups, we have a canonical choice of maximal torus (i.e., the Cartan subgroup), but in the algebraic group context, we do not necessarily even have such a torus. For the more general treatment, see Bruhat and Tits [BT84].

2. The spherical and affine apartments

Much of the structure of a generalized Levi subgroup G of a p-adic Chevalley group can be represented geometrically via its affine apartment, denoted $\mathcal{A}(G)$. This structure exists because of the fact that our non-Archimedean local field k possesses a nontrivial discrete valuation. Some of the structure of G, however, arises from the fact that G is a Chevalley group, without respect to which field G is defined over; namely, we can find a Cartan subgroup, a Borel, parabolics, etc. These subgroups are related to the spherical apartment of the Chevalley group G, which is defined independently of the field k.

2.1. The spherical apartment

⁵Everything that we will do also works in the positive characteristic case, but for simplicity we assume that k is a finite extension of a p-adic field.

Since the affine apartment locally looks like a spherical apartment, we will need to understand the latter as well as the former. Also, many of the results for the affine apartment are completely analogous to those for the spherical apartment, so it is important to review them. In this section, f can be replaced with any field, but we will almost always be concerned with the spherical apartment of groups over the residue field. Again we emphasize that the definition and properties of the spherical apartment are completely determined by the Chevalley data and not the field.

Definition 2.1. The *(standard) spherical apartment* of G is the Euclidean space $A_s = A_s(G) = E^*$; that is, A_s is the Euclidean space containing the (abstract) co-root system of G^c .

This definition of A_s is the same for every generalized Chevalley group of G^c containing T. In a sense, though, there is more structure to A_s than that of a Euclidean space; that is, we would like to distinguish between $A_s(G)$ and $A_s(G')$ if G and G' are two different generalized Levi subgroups of G^c containing T.

Definition 2.2. The root system Φ gives rise to the hyperplanes $H_{\alpha} \subset A_s$ for $\alpha \in \Phi$. We say that these hyperplanes are **hyperplanes** of $A_s(G)$, and that the collection of such hyperplanes is the **hyperplane structure** of $A_s(G)$.

Therefore whereas $\mathcal{A}_s(\mathsf{G})$ and $\mathcal{A}_s(\mathsf{G}')$ may be the same as Euclidean spaces, they will have different hyperplane structures if $\mathsf{G} \neq \mathsf{G}'$. In other words, if $\alpha \in \Phi^c \setminus \Phi$, then we do not consider H_α to be a hyperplane of $\mathcal{A}_s(\mathsf{G})$. We will not define a "hyperplane structure" any more carefully than this, as its purpose is more intuitive than mathematical.

The Weyl group W of G is usually realized as a group of isometries of the Euclidean space E_{Φ}^* spanned by the co-root system $\check{\Phi}$. This turns out not to be the most natural object to use for our purposes, because the dimension of E_{Φ}^* may be smaller than the rank of G. However, all of the geometric information about \mathcal{A}_s , most importantly the hyperplane structure, is carried by E_{Φ}^* , so we define:

Definition 2.3. The *reduced apartment* $\mathcal{A}_s^{red}(G) \subset \mathcal{A}_s(G)$ of G is the vector space E_{Φ}^* . Let $\pi_G : \mathcal{A}_s \to \mathcal{A}_s^{red}$ be the orthogonal projection map.

Thus

$$\mathcal{A}_s = \mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{red}} \oplus (E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}.$$

Since $\alpha(x) = \alpha(\pi_{\mathsf{G}}(x))$ for $\alpha \in \Phi$, all hyperplanes H_{α} for $\alpha \in \Phi$ are parallel to $(E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$, in the sense that $H_{\alpha} = \pi_{\mathsf{G}}(H_{\alpha}) \times (E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$. Therefore the Weyl group acts trivially on $(E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$ in the above decomposition. In other words, $\mathcal{A}_s^{\text{red}}$ really does contain all of the relevant geometric information, and the factor of $(E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$ is (for the moment) completely redundant.

- **Remark 2.4.** Proposition B.4 shows that $\check{\Lambda}_C$ spans $(E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$ that is, the decomposition $E^* = E_{\Phi}^* \oplus (E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$ is carried by the co-root lattice $\check{\Lambda}_R^c$.
- **Definition 2.5.** Since there is a linear action of $W \cong N/T$ on A_s , we have a natural action of N on A_s , with $w_{\alpha}(t)$ acting by r_{α} and T acting trivially. We will denote this action by $n \cdot x$, for $n \in N$ and $x \in A_s$.

Recall that if G has root system Φ with simple roots Δ , then the Weyl group is generated by

the r_{α} for $\alpha \in \Delta$, i.e., W is generated by flips over the H_{α} for $\alpha \in \Delta$ [Car89, Prop. 2.1.8(ii)].

Definition 2.6. A Weyl chamber $D \subset A_s$ is a connected component of $A_s \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha \in \Phi} H_\alpha$. The fundamental Weyl chamber with respect to Δ is the Weyl chamber D such that $\alpha(x) > 0$ for every $x \in D$ and all simple roots α .

Following [Car89, Chapter 2], one can show that:

- **Proposition 2.7.** (i) A Weyl chamber D uniquely determines a set of simple roots Δ with respect to which D is the fundamental Weyl chamber, and vice-versa. The simple roots are the roots α such that H_{α} borders D and such that $\alpha(x) > 0$ for $x \in D$. Therefore W is generated by reflections over the hyperplanes bordering D.
 - (ii) If $D, D' \subset A_s$ are two Weyl chambers, then there is a unique element w of W such that $w \cdot D = D'$.

Therefore the number of Weyl chambers is the size of the Weyl group. A system of positive roots gives rise to a Borel subgroup B generated by T and $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(f)$ for $\alpha \in \Phi^+$, so Proposition 2.7 tells us that the minimal parabolic subgroups containing T correspond to Weyl chambers D. One of the most important facts (for our purposes) about the Borel subgroups is the following:

Theorem 2.8 ([Car89, Prop. 8.2.1]**).** Let $S = \{r_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Delta\}$ be the simple reflections that generate W. The data (B, N, W, S) form a BN-pair, in the sense of [Tit62].⁶

A large amount of structure theory follows.

Corollary 2.9 (Spherical Bruhat decomposition; [Car89, Prop. 8.2.2]). G = BNB.

Notation 2.10. For Θ any subset of Δ , let W_{Θ} be the subgroup of W generated by the r_{α} for $\alpha \in \Theta$, let N_{Θ} be the lift in N of W_{Θ} , and let $P_{\Theta} = BN_{\Theta}B$.

One should compare the above definition to the (equivalent) definition of P_{Θ} given in Section 1.1. Note that $B = P_{\emptyset}$. The existence of a *BN*-pair gives:

- **Corollary 2.11 (**[Car89, Theorem 8.3.4]). The sets P_{Θ} are the subgroups of G containing B. If $\Theta' \subset \Delta$, then $P_{\Theta} = P_{\Theta'}$ if and only if $\Theta = \Theta'$, and $P_{\Theta} \cap P_{\Theta'} = P_{\Theta \cap \Theta'}$.
- **Definition 2.12.** Let $x \in A_s$, and let $W_x^s = \operatorname{stab}_W(x)$. One can show [Car89, §2.6] that if D is a Weyl chamber whose closure contains x and Δ is the set of simple roots associated with D, then there is a subset Θ of Δ such that W_x^s is generated by the reflections r_α for $\alpha \in \Theta$. Let $\mathsf{P}_x = \mathsf{P}_\Theta$ (cf. Corollary 2.11).

Note that $P_x = G$ if and only if $\pi_G(x) = 0$. The definition of P_x has a more geometric interpretation.

⁶Carter actually only proves this fact for the adjoint form of a Chevalley group, but the proof holds for any Chevalley group. The theorem is true for a generalized Levi subgroup G as well because G = TG', where G' is a Chevalley group.

Proposition 2.13 ([Car89, Prop. 8.5.1]). We can write P_x as

$$\mathsf{P}_x = \langle \mathsf{T}, \ \mathfrak{X}_\alpha(\mathsf{f}) \ : \ \alpha \in \Phi, \ \alpha(x) \ge 0 \rangle.$$
(2.1)

A Levi subgroup M_x of P_x is

$$\mathsf{M}_x = \langle \mathsf{T}, \ \mathfrak{X}_\alpha(\mathsf{f}) \ : \ \alpha \in \Phi, \ \alpha(x) = 0 \rangle.$$
(2.2)

Thus the definition of P_x does not depend on the choice of D. In this way, we can associate a parabolic subgroup to any point in A_s ; note that every parabolic subgroup containing T arises in this way. Note also that $P_x = P_{\pi_G(x)}$. One should keep in mind that the subgroup P_x really depends only on the hyperplanes containing x, and not on the specific choice of the point x — that is, P_x actually depends on the local hyperplane structure around x.

Example 2.14. The group $G = SL_3(f)$ has two simple roots α and β of the same length, with an angle of 120° between them, so the same is true for the co-roots. Therefore the spherical apartment is given in Figure 2.1. The Levi subgroup with root system $\{\pm \alpha\}$ (which is isomorphic to $GL_2(f)$) has the same apartment, but the hyperplanes H_β and $H_{\alpha+\beta}$ do not appear. Thus we see that $\mathcal{A}_s(GL_2(f)) = \mathcal{A}_s(SL_2(f)) \times \mathbf{R}$ — note that $\mathcal{A}_s^{red}(GL_2(f))$ is spanned by $\check{\alpha}$.⁷

Assume the root spaces in $SL_3(f)$ are as follows:

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(\mathsf{f}) &= \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \mathsf{f} \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \qquad \mathfrak{X}_{\beta}(\mathsf{f}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \mathsf{f} \\ 1 & \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix} \qquad \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha+\beta}(\mathsf{f}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \mathsf{f} \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \\ \mathfrak{X}_{-\alpha}(\mathsf{f}) &= \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} & 1 \end{bmatrix} \qquad \mathfrak{X}_{-\beta}(\mathsf{f}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \mathsf{f} \\ 1 & \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix} \qquad \mathfrak{X}_{-\alpha-\beta}(\mathsf{f}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} & 1 \end{bmatrix}. \end{split}$$

With our choice of simple roots, D labels the fundamental Weyl chamber in Figure 2.1, so if $z \in D$, then $P_z = P_{\emptyset}$ is a Borel subgroup, i.e.,

$$\mathsf{P}_z = \mathsf{P}_{\emptyset} = \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * \\ & * & * \\ & & * \end{bmatrix}$$

is the set of all upper-triangular matrices in $SL_3(f)$. Since $x \in H_\alpha$ and $y \in H_\beta$, we have

$$\mathsf{P}_x = \mathsf{P}_\alpha = \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * \\ * & * & * \\ * & * \end{bmatrix}$$
 and $\mathsf{P}_y = \mathsf{P}_\beta = \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * \\ * & * & * \\ * & * & * \end{bmatrix}$.

If x' is in the same connected component of $H_{\alpha} \setminus \{0\}$ as x, then $\mathsf{P}_{x'} = \mathsf{P}_x$. Of course, $\mathsf{P}_0 = \mathsf{P}_{\Delta} = \mathsf{G}$ (where 0 is the origin) by the spherical Bruhat decomposition (Corollary 2.9).

Example 2.15. As we know from Section 1.1, the Chevalley group Sp_4 has a short root α and a long root β at a 135° angle — see Figure 1.1. Therefore the spherical apartment $\mathcal{A}_s(Sp_4(f))$ is given in Figure 2.2. If G denotes the generalized Levi subgroup of $Sp_4(f)$ with root system $\{\pm\beta, \pm(2\alpha + \beta)\}$ (cf. Section 1.1), then $\mathcal{A}_s(G)$ looks the same, except missing the diagonal hyperplanes.

Assume that the root spaces are as in Section 1.1. With our choice of simple roots, D is a fundamental Weyl chamber, so if $z \in D$, then the corresponding Borel subgroup is



Figure 2.1: The spherical apartment of $SL_3(f)$.



Figure 2.2: The spherical apartment of $\mathrm{Sp}_4(\mathsf{f}).$

(i.e., all elements of $\text{Sp}_4(f)$ with nonzero entries as indicated). If $x \in H_{\alpha}$ and $y \in H_{\beta}$ are as indicated, we have

One should refer back to Section 1.1, where we have already found these parabolics.

2.2. The affine apartment

The crucial structure that we will use in order to define the affine apartment is the nontrivial discrete valuation on k. In short, the valuation allows us to define an action of N on the apartment consisting of translations as well as reflections. Since translations are *affine* maps, we need to think of the apartment differently:

Definition 2.16. The *standard affine apartment*, or *apartment*, of the group *G* is the affine space under the vector space $A_s = E^*$, and is denoted A = A(G).

When we say that A is the affine space under A_s , we simply mean that:

- \mathcal{A} is set-theoretically the same as \mathcal{A}_s .
- The natural automorphisms of A are affine isometries that is, the maps A → A generated by the linear isometries and the translations.
- If x, y are two **points** in A, then the difference x y is a vector in A_s .
- If $x \in A$ and $v \in A_s$, then the sum x + v is another point in A.

A general affine space has no origin, or distinguished point, and it is possible to treat \mathcal{A} in such a manner; see [BT72]. We will not take this approach: we allow the origin $0 \in \mathcal{A}$ to remain distinguished, so to every point $p \in \mathcal{A}$ there is naturally associated the vector p - 0. (We will often simply write p for p - 0.) Thus, with our choice of origin, we are in fact identifying \mathcal{A} with the vector space \mathcal{A}_s .

As in the spherical case, the hyperplane structure of \mathcal{A} will play an important conceptual role.

Definition 2.17. Given any $\alpha \in \Phi$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, our choice of origin allows us to define an affine functional $\alpha + n : \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$(\alpha + n)(x) = \alpha(x - 0) + n.$$

Let $H_{\alpha+n}$ be the codimension one hyperplane killed by $\alpha + n$, and let $r_{\alpha+n}$ be the reflection over $H_{\alpha+n}$. Note that $H_{\alpha+n} = H_{-\alpha-n}$. Define the **hyperplane structure** of $\mathcal{A}(G)$ to be the set of hyperplanes $H_{\alpha+n}$ with $\alpha \in \Phi$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Note again that $\mathcal{A}(G) = \mathcal{A}(G')$ for any two generalized Levi subgroups G, G' of G^c , but that the hyperplane structure of $\mathcal{A}(G)$ may be different from that of $\mathcal{A}(G')$.

Example 2.18. We again use the example of $G = SL_3(k)$. Let the notation be as in Example 2.14. Since $\gamma(\check{\gamma}) = 2$ for any root γ , the affine apartment of SL_3 is given in Figure 2.3.

⁷In general, $\mathcal{A}_s(G) \cong \mathcal{A}_s(G^{der}) \times \mathcal{A}_s(Z)$, where G^{der} is the derived group of G and Z is the center of G. Note that $\mathrm{SL}_2(f)$ is the derived group of $\mathrm{GL}_2(f)$ and that the center of $\mathrm{GL}_2(f)$ is isomorphic to $\mathrm{GL}_1(f)$, whose apartment is **R**.



Figure 2.3: The affine apartment of $SL_3(k)$.

It is useful to have an explicit formula for r_{α} :

Definition 2.19. Any co-root $\check{\alpha} \in \check{\Phi}^c$ gives rise to a translation T_{α} on \mathcal{A} , given by

$$T_{\alpha}(x) = x + \check{\alpha}.$$

One can check that $r_{\alpha+n}$ is given by the formula

$$r_{\alpha+n}(x) = (T_{\alpha})^{-n} \circ r_{\alpha}(x-0) = (x - \langle x, \alpha \rangle \check{\alpha}) - n\check{\alpha}.$$
(2.3)

It is important to note that when we think of the apartment $\mathcal{A}(G)$, we do not consider the hyperplanes H_{α} for $\alpha \in \Phi^c \setminus \Phi$, as mentioned above (so the hyperplane structure of $\mathcal{A}(G^c)$ may not be the same as that of $\mathcal{A}(G)$), but that we do consider translations T_{α} for all $\alpha \in \Phi^c$. See Example 2.29.

Like the spherical apartment, the affine apartment has a natural decomposition.

- **Definition 2.20.** Let the *reduced (affine) apartment* $\mathcal{A}^{red} = \mathcal{A}^{red}(G)$ of G be the affine space under $\mathcal{A}^{red}_s(G) = E^*_{\Phi}$, and let $\pi_G : \mathcal{A}(G) \to \mathcal{A}^{red}(G)$ be the orthogonal projection map.
- **Remark 2.21.** If the Chevalley group G' with root system Φ is also a simply-connected Chevalley group, then the reduced apartment $\mathcal{A}^{red}(G)$ can be identified with the apartment $\mathcal{A}(G')$, with the same hyperplane structure.

Note that, as before, each $H_{\alpha+n}$ for $\alpha \in \Phi$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ is parallel to $(E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$, so all geometric information about \mathcal{A} is carried by \mathcal{A}^{red} . Also, as in Remark 2.4, the lattice $\check{\Lambda}_C$ spans $(E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$.

The action of N on the apartment \mathcal{A} will now be given by affine transformations, as opposed to linear transformations. This action is a bit more difficult to define. We will start by defining the action in the case that $G = G^c$ (so that $E_{\Phi^c}^* = E^*$), and then proceed as in the spherical case, first defining an affine analog \widetilde{W}^c of the Weyl group with a natural action on $\mathcal{A}^c = \mathcal{A}(G^c)$, and then showing that \widetilde{W}^c is a quotient of N^c , thus obtaining an action of N^c on \mathcal{A}^c .

First we define the affine version of the Weyl group. We can do this for any generalized Levi $G \subset G^c$ containing T.

Definition 2.22. The *affine Weyl group* \widetilde{W} is the group of affine transformations of \mathcal{A} generated by the reflections $r_{\alpha+n}$ for $\alpha \in \Phi$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Note that this is completely analogous to the (spherical) Weyl group W, which is generated by the reflections r_{α} . The spherical Weyl group is also generated by the reflections over the hyperplanes bordering a Weyl chamber; there is an analogous result for the affine Weyl group, which we will prove in Proposition 3.32. Note also that if G' is a generalized Levi of G, then its affine Weyl group \widetilde{W}' is a subgroup of \widetilde{W} . In order to realize \widetilde{W}^c as a quotient of N^c , we need to define the relevant subgroup:

Definition 2.23. Define

$$T(R) = \langle h_{\alpha}(t) : t \in R^{\times}, \ \alpha \in \Delta^c \rangle \cong (R^{\times})^{\ell^c}.$$

This is the maximal compact subgroup of T.

Proposition 2.24. The group N^c is the normalizer in G^c of T(R). **Proof.**

If $w_{\beta}(u) \in N^c$ and $h_{\alpha}(t) \in T(R)$ for $\alpha \in \Delta^c$, then [Ste68, Lemma 20] gives

$$w_{\beta}(u)h_{\alpha}(t)w_{\beta}(u)^{-1} = h_{\beta}(u)h_{r_{\beta}(\alpha)}(t)h_{\beta}(u)^{-1} = h_{r_{\beta}(\alpha)}(t).$$

If $r_{\beta}(\alpha) = a_1\alpha_1 + \cdots + a_m\alpha_m$ is an expression of $r_{\beta}(\alpha)$ as an integer linear combination of simple roots, then

$$h_{r_{\beta}(\alpha)}(t) = h_{\alpha_1}(t^{a_1}) \cdots h_{\alpha_m}(t^{a_m}) \in T(R).$$

Since the generators of N^c normalize T(R), we have that T(R) is normal in N^c .

In order to prove the converse, we cheat and assume that there is some $t \in T(R)$ such that the centralizer in G of t is T (this is just the statement that there is some regular semisimple element in T(R), which is a standard fact from the theory of linear algebraic groups). If $g \in G$ is such that $gtg^{-1} \in T(R)$, then $gtg^{-1} \in T$, so $t \in g^{-1}Tg$. Thus $g^{-1}Tg$ centralizes t, so $g^{-1}Tg = T$, and therefore $g \in N$.

We will shortly identify \widetilde{W}^c with $N^c/T(R)$, thus defining the action of N^c on \mathcal{A}^c . (It is not in general true that $\widetilde{W} = N/T(R)$, but only that $\widetilde{W} \subset N/T(R)$; more on this later.) In the following proposition, the group \mathbf{Z}^{ℓ^c} is the group of translations, so this proposition is

analogous to the fact that the group of isometries of Euclidean space is a semidirect product of the orthogonal group and the group of translations.

Lemma 2.25. The groups \widetilde{W}^c and $N^c/T(R)$ are both isomorphic to a semidirect product of \mathbb{Z}^{ℓ^c} with W^c . Furthermore, the map $N^c \to \widetilde{W}^c$ that takes $w_{\alpha}(1) \mapsto r_{\alpha}$ and $h_{\alpha}(t) \mapsto (T_{\alpha})^{-\omega(t)}$ induces an isomorphism of $N^c/T(R)$ with \widetilde{W}^c .

Proof.

First we show that $\widetilde{W}^c = W^c \ltimes \mathbb{Z}^{\ell^c}$. Let $\Lambda \triangleleft \widetilde{W}^c$ be the subgroup of translations, and note that W^c is the subgroup of \widetilde{W}^c generated by the $r_{\alpha+0}$. The intersection $W^c \cap \Lambda$ is trivial, and $\widetilde{W}^c = \Lambda \cdot W^c$ by (2.3). Thus $\widetilde{W}^c = W^c \ltimes \Lambda$; we would like to show that $\Lambda \cong \mathbb{Z}^{\ell^c}$. We note that for each $\alpha \in \Delta^c$, we have $T_\alpha = r_{\alpha-1}r_\alpha \in \Lambda$, so Λ contains $\Lambda' = \langle T_\alpha : \alpha \in \Delta^c \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z}^{\ell^c}$. Furthermore, it is easy to see that the lattice generated by $\{\check{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Delta^c\}$ is stabilized by \widetilde{W}^c , so Λ can only take the origin to points in that lattice; thus $\Lambda' = \Lambda$. It is useful to write down the interaction between translations and reflections:

$$r_{\alpha}T_{\beta}r_{\alpha}^{-1}(x) = x + r_{\alpha}(\dot{\beta}) = T_{r_{\alpha}\beta}(x)$$
(2.4)

because $r_{\alpha}(\check{\beta}) = (r_{\alpha}\beta)^{\vee}$.

Now we show that $N^c/T(R) = W^c \ltimes \mathbf{Z}^{\ell^c}$. First note that $T/T(R) \triangleleft N^c/T(R)$ is a normal subgroup isomorphic to \mathbf{Z}^{ℓ^c} . Let

$$N^{c}(R) = \langle w_{\alpha}(t) : t \in R^{\times}, \ \alpha \in \Delta^{c} \rangle \supset T(R).$$

We claim that $W^c \cong N^c(R)/T(R) \subset N^c/T(R)$. The map $n \cdot T(R) \mapsto n \cdot T$ from $N^c(R)/T(R)$ to $W^c = N^c/T$ is well-defined and surjective because the $w_{\alpha}(1)$ generate the Weyl group. We would like to show that the map is injective, i.e., that $T \cap N^c(R) = T(R)$. This is true because the subgroup of T that preserves the Chevalley lattice $V \otimes R$ is exactly T(R), and $N^c(R)$ preserves $V \otimes R$, so $T \cap N^c(R) \subset T(R)$; the other inclusion is clear. Noting that $N^c(R)/T(R) \cap T/T(R) = (N^c(R) \cap T)/T(R) = \{1\}$ and that $N^c/T(R) = (T/T(R)) \cdot (N^c(R)/T(R))$ because the elements $w_{\alpha}(1)$ are coset representatives of $T \setminus N^c$, we have $\widetilde{W}^c = \mathbf{Z}^{\ell^c} \ltimes W^c$ as well.

The action of $N^c(R)/T(R)$ on T/T(R) is given by [Ste68, Lemma 20]:

$$w_{\alpha}(1)h_{\beta}(t)w_{\alpha}(1)^{-1} = h_{r_{\alpha}\beta}(t)$$

which is compatible with the action (2.4); therefore the map that sends $w_{\alpha}(1) \mapsto r_{\alpha}$ (both generators of W^c) and $h_{\alpha}(t) \mapsto (T_{\alpha})^{-\omega(t)}$ (both generators of \mathbf{Z}^{ℓ^c}) is a well-defined isomorphism.

In other words, the valuation on k gives us a notion of the "size" of an element of T, which we can use to define a translation. This in turn allows us to define an action of N on A.

- **Definition 2.26.** Let N^c act on \mathcal{A}^c by setting $n \cdot x = w \cdot x$, where $w \in \widetilde{W}^c$ is the image of n under the projection $N^c \twoheadrightarrow N^c/T(R) = \widetilde{W}^c$. Define the action of N on \mathcal{A} to be the action of N^c restricted to N.
- **Corollary 2.27 (to Lemma 2.25).** (i) If $w_{\alpha}(t) = h_{\alpha}(t)w_{\alpha}(1)$ is a generator of N, then it acts by $(T_{\alpha})^{\omega(t)}r_{\alpha} = r_{\alpha-\omega(t)}$.

(ii) If $n \in N$ with $n \cdot x = x$ for every $x \in A$, then $n \in T(R)$. That is, $\bigcap_{x \in A} \operatorname{stab}_N(x) = T(R)$.

There are some important things to note about the action of N on A.

- The linear part of the action of any element of N is in the Weyl group W.
- If (E^{*}_Φ)[⊥] ≠ {0} then it is no longer true that N acts trivially on (E^{*}_Φ)[⊥] (so this information is no longer redundant) if λ ∈ Λ_C and t ∈ k[×], then λ(t) ∈ T will act as a translation in (E^{*}_Φ)[⊥]. (Since Λ_C spans E[⊥]_Φ, there is always some element of T which will act nontrivially on (E^{*}_Φ)[⊥].)
- However, it is still true that W
 ^W acts trivially on (E^{*}_Φ)[⊥].
- Therefore, \widetilde{W} may be a proper subgroup of N/T(R).
- **Example 2.28.** The group $G = \operatorname{SL}_2(k)$ has one root α , so the affine apartment of SL_2 is one-dimensional and the "hyperplanes" $H_{\alpha+n}$ are just points. See Figure 2.4. Suppose that we choose the simple root α such that $\alpha(\begin{bmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & a^{-1} \end{bmatrix}) = a^2$, so $\check{\alpha}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} t & 0\\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{bmatrix}$ and $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(k) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & k\\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$. Then $h_{\alpha}(\varpi^n) = \begin{bmatrix} \varpi^n & 0\\ 0 & \varpi^{-n} \end{bmatrix}$ is a translation to the right by $n \cdot \check{\alpha}$; that is, $h_{\alpha}(\varpi^n)$ takes 0 to $H_{\alpha-2n}$. We also have $w_{\alpha}(1) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ which is a flip over $H_{\alpha+0}$, so $h_{\alpha}(\varpi^n)w_{\alpha}(1) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\pi^n & 0\\ -\varpi^{-n} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ is a flip over $H_{\alpha-n}$. Note that the action of N stabilizes the lattice $\mathbf{Z} \cdot \check{\alpha}$ for instance, there is no $n \in N$ such that $nH_{\alpha+0} = H_{\alpha+1}$.



Figure 2.4: The affine apartment of $SL_2(k)$.

Example 2.29. Let $G \subset SL_3(k)$ be the Levi subgroup with root system $\Phi = \{\pm \alpha\}$ (cf. Example 2.18), so we have

$$G \cong \operatorname{GL}_2(k) = \begin{bmatrix} * & * \\ * & * \\ & * \end{bmatrix} \subset \operatorname{SL}_3(k).$$

Here E_{Φ}^* is spanned by $\check{\alpha}$; see Figure 2.5. Note the (conceptual) absence of the hyperplanes $H_{\pm\beta+n}$ and $H_{\pm\alpha\pm\beta+n}$ in the apartment of $\operatorname{GL}_2(k)$. We have

$$h_{\alpha}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} t & t^{-1} \\ & t \end{bmatrix}$$
 and $h_{\beta}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & s \\ & s^{-1} \end{bmatrix}$,

SO

$$h_{\alpha}(t)h_{\beta}(t)^2 = \begin{bmatrix} t & t \\ & t^{-2} \end{bmatrix} \in C.$$

This corresponds to the fact that $\check{\alpha} + 2\check{\beta}$ is orthogonal to $\mathcal{A}^{\text{red}}(\text{GL}_2(k))$, as in Figure 2.5. Therefore $h_{\alpha}(t)h_{\beta}(t)^2$ acts as a translation in the $(E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$ direction — note that $(E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$ is generated by $\check{\alpha} + 2\check{\beta}$.

In this case, \widetilde{W} is generated by the reflections over the $H_{\alpha+n}$, which is a subgroup of \widetilde{W}^c which fixes $(E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$.



Figure 2.5: The apartment of $GL_2(k) \subset SL_3(k)$. Compare this with Figure 2.3.

Before finishing this section, we spend some time investigating the hyperplane structure of the apartment \mathcal{A} . The fact that \mathcal{A} is cut out by hyperplanes makes it look like a simplicial complex (although in general it is not one) whose structure is preserved by the action of N. This result follows from the following lemma, whose proof follows from the facts that each map $r_{\beta} : \mathcal{A}_s \to \mathcal{A}_s$ is an isometry, and that $\langle \hat{\beta}, \alpha \rangle \in \mathbf{Z}$ for all roots α and β .

Lemma 2.30. Let $\alpha \in \Phi$, and let $x \in A$ be any point. Then

- if $\beta \in \Phi$, then $\langle x, \alpha \rangle \in \mathbf{Z}$ if and only if $\langle r_{\beta+0}x, r_{\beta}\alpha \rangle \in \mathbf{Z}$ and
- if $\beta \in \Phi^c$, then $\langle x, \alpha \rangle \in \mathbf{Z}$ if and only if $\langle T_\beta x, \alpha \rangle \in \mathbf{Z}$.

Now we can define the "simplicial decomposition" of \mathcal{A} and show that N preserves this structure.

Definition 2.31. For $x \in A$, let

$$\Phi_x = \{ \alpha \in \Phi : \ \alpha(x) \in \mathbf{Z} \}$$
(2.5)

and

$$\mathcal{H}_n = \{ x \in \mathcal{A} : |\Phi_x| = n \}.$$

Define a *facet* or *n*-*facet* to be a connected component of \mathcal{H}_n .⁸ If *F* is such a facet, then $F = \pi_G(F) \times (E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$ (see Figure 2.5); therefore it is much more natural to speak

⁸Since the dimension of a facet is not determined by the number of hyperplanes that facet is contained in, it is inconvenient to label facets by their dimension.

about geometric properties of $\pi_G(F)$ than of F. Thus we define the *dimension* of a facet F to be the dimension of $\pi_G(F)$ (as a manifold). Since \mathcal{H}_0 consists of elements that are not contained in any hyperplane and $\mathcal{H}_{2\ell}$ contains elements in the intersection of ℓ hyperplanes, one would expect that the dimension of an 2n-facet would be $\ell - n$. We define a 0-facet to be a **maximal facet** and a L-facet to be a **special facet** (where $L = |\Phi|$). More generally, if $\pi_G(F) = \{v\}$ is one point, or equivalently, $\overline{F} = F$, then we say that F is a **minimal facet**, and any point in F is a **vertex**; if F is a special facet, we call the points in F **special vertices** (note that all special facets are minimal).

It may be helpful at this point to refer back to Example 2.29 (where all vertices are special), and to glance at Example 2.34.

First note that $\mathcal{A} = \prod_{n=0}^{L} \mathcal{H}_n$, so the facet structure is somewhat like a simplicial decomposition. Note also that a 2ℓ -facet can be a minimal facet without being a special facet; this can happen because the roots that assume integer values at a point may not contain a set of simple roots (consider the vertex v in Figure 2.6). Lemma 2.30 immediately implies that:

Corollary 2.32 (to Lemma 2.30). The action of N preserves each \mathcal{H}_n . In particular, N preserves the hyperplane structure of \mathcal{A} .

In Chapter 3, we will associate a subgroup G_x of G to any point $x \in A$, in analogy to Section 2.1. At this point, we may associate a generalized Levi subgroup M(x) of G to a point $x \in A$, as follows.

Definition 2.33. Define M(x) to be the generalized Levi subgroup of G containing T with root system Φ_x .

Lemma 2.30 easily implies that Φ_x is a closed sub-root system of Φ , so the above definition makes sense. Note that x is a special vertex of $\mathcal{A}(M(x))$.

Example 2.34. Consider the group $G = \text{Sp}_4(k)$; let the notation be as in Example 2.15. The facet structure of $\text{Sp}_4(k)$ is especially interesting because there are two types of vertices. We have $0 \in \mathcal{H}_8$, so 0 is special (note that there are eight roots), but the vertex v in Figure 2.6 is only in \mathcal{H}_4 because $\Phi_v = \{\pm \beta, \pm (2\alpha + \beta)\}$. This corresponds to the fact that $M(v) \cong \text{SL}_2(k) \times \text{SL}_2(k) = \text{Spin}_4(k)$ is a generalized Levi subgroup of $\text{Sp}_4(k)$, but is not an actual Levi subgroup (cf. Section 1.1). All one-dimensional facets are in \mathcal{H}_2 ; for instance, if x is in the facet F' in the figure, then $\Phi_x = \{\pm \alpha\}$ and $M(x) = \text{GL}_2(k)$. The maximal facets are the regions which look like F; if $x \in F$, then M(x) = T.

3. Parahoric subgroups

Parahoric subgroups are the affine analogs of parabolic subgroups. They are associated with points in the apartment (and later the building) of G, in analogy to Section 2.1. As mentioned before, the building is constructed by gluing affine apartments together; the parahoric subgroups are the glue. They are therefore very important to the building, so we devote this entire chapter to them.

To give a preliminary idea of what parahoric subgroups are, let us consider the case



Figure 2.6: The affine apartment of $Sp_4(k)$, with facet structure and co-roots of positive roots.

 $G = SL_3(k)$. Some standard parahoric subgroups of G are

$$G_x = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ R & R & R \\ R & R & R \end{bmatrix} \qquad G_y = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ R & R & R \\ \wp & \wp & R \end{bmatrix} \qquad G_z = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \\ \wp & \wp & R \end{bmatrix}$$

(where all sets of matrices are implicitly intersected with $SL_3(k)$). The above matrix groups, and parahoric subgroups in general, have the following important properties:

- (i) They are compact and open with respect to the induced topology on G as a group of p-adic matrices. This is because R and \wp are compact and open. This property is important to the representation theory of G; see Chapter 5.
- (ii) Parahoric subgroups have a natural quotient which is isomorphic to a generalized Levi subgroup of G^c , which is the Chevalley group defined over the residue field by the same Chevalley data as G^c . To wit:

$$\begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ R & R & R \\ R & R & R \end{bmatrix} / \begin{bmatrix} 1+\varphi & \varphi & \varphi \\ \varphi & 1+\varphi & \varphi \\ \varphi & \varphi & 1+\varphi \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} f & f & f \\ f & f & f \\ f & f & f \end{bmatrix} \cong \operatorname{SL}_3(f)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ R & R & R \\ \varphi & \varphi & R \end{bmatrix} / \begin{bmatrix} 1+\varphi & \varphi & R \\ \varphi & 1+\varphi & R \\ \varphi & \varphi & 1+\varphi \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} f & f \\ f & f \\ f & f \end{bmatrix} \cong \operatorname{GL}_2(f)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ \varphi & R & R \\ \varphi & \varphi & R \end{bmatrix} / \begin{bmatrix} 1+\varphi & R & R \\ \varphi & 1+\varphi & R \\ \varphi & \varphi & 1+\varphi \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} f \\ f \\ f \end{bmatrix} \cong \operatorname{GL}_1(f) \times \operatorname{GL}_1(f) \times \operatorname{GL}_1(f).$$

(iii) A minimal parahoric and the subgroup N form a generalized BN-pair. The BN-pair machinery can thus be used to reveal some of the structure theory of G. For instance,

 G_z above is a minimal parahoric, and $N \cap G_z = T(R)$, so $N/(N \cap G_z) = N/T(R) \cong W$ (this is in general true only when $G = G^c$ however). This is analogous to the theorem that $N/(N \cap B) = N/T \cong W$, where B is a minimal parabolic.

The sections in this chapter roughly correspond to the entries in the list above.

3.1. Definition and basic properties

Without further ado, we define the parahoric subgroups.

Definition 3.1. Let Ψ be the subset of affine functionals on \mathcal{A} given by

$$\Psi = \{ \alpha + n : \alpha \in \Phi, n \in \mathbf{Z} \};$$

we call Ψ the set of *affine roots*. For $\psi = \alpha + n \in \Psi$, write

$$\mathfrak{X}_{\psi} = \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(\wp^n) = \{ x_{\alpha}(t) : t \in \wp^n \}.$$

For $x \in \mathcal{A}$, define the groups

$$G_x = \langle T(R), \ \mathfrak{X}_{\psi} : \ \psi \in \Psi, \ \psi(x) \ge 0 \rangle$$

$$G_x^+ = \langle T(1+\wp), \ \mathfrak{X}_{\psi} : \ \psi \in \Psi, \ \psi(x) > 0 \rangle$$

where

$$T(1+\wp) = \langle h_{\alpha}(t) : \alpha \in \Delta_0, t \in 1+\wp \rangle \subset T(R)$$

is defined as before.⁹ Written more explicitly, we have

$$G_x = \langle T(R), \ \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(\wp^{-\lfloor \alpha(x) \rfloor}) : \ \alpha \in \Phi \rangle$$

$$G_x^+ = \langle T(1+\wp), \ \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(\wp^{1-\lceil \alpha(x) \rceil}) : \ \alpha \in \Phi \rangle.$$
(3.1)

The subgroups G_x are called **parahoric subgroups**, and the subgroup G_x^+ is the **prounipotent radical** of G_x .¹⁰ A minimal G_x (i.e., $x \in \mathcal{H}_0$) is called an **Iwahori subgroup**, and if x is a vertex, then G_x is a **maximal parahoric** (we will see later that, in this case, G_x really is not contained in any larger parahoric). Note that G_x and G_x^+ only depend on the facet that contains x, since they change exactly when some $\alpha(x)$ is an integer; therefore if F is a facet, we will often write G_F and G_F^+ . Note that $G_{\pi_G(x)} = G_x$ and $G_{\pi_G(x)}^+ = G_x^+$.

We should note that the G in G_x symbolizes the group G, so that if M is another generalized Levi subgroup, then its associated parahorics will be denoted M_x , etc.

Parahoric subgroups are the affine analogs of parabolic subgroups, and Iwahori subgroups are the affine analogs of Borels. It will become clear later (cf. Theorem 3.34) exactly how and why these behave like parabolics and Borels.

⁹The definitions of G_x and G_x^+ depend on the choice of Chevalley basis. One can show that a different choice of Chevalley basis is equivalent to choosing a $y \in \mathcal{A}_s$ such that $\alpha(y) \in \mathbb{Z}$ for all $\alpha \in \Phi$. With this choice of Chevalley basis, the parahoric subgroups G'_x are given by G_{x+y} . This is another reason that \mathcal{A} is naturally an affine space.

¹⁰The subgroup G_x^+ is the minimal normal subgroup of G_x with the property that G_x/G_x^+ is the group of f points of a connected reductive group defined over f.

Example 3.2. Consider $G = SL_3(k)$ again (see Example 2.18), and take the root spaces to be as in Example 2.14. We will use the example of $SL_3(k)$ throughout this chapter. The minimal parahorics in a neighborhood of 0 are given in Figure 3.1 — of course, all sets of matrices are implicitly intersected with $SL_3(k)$ (and will always be so unless otherwise mentioned). Note how the generating subgroups correspond roughly to matrix entries. The only generators of a parahoric that are different for its pro-unipotent radical are the torus and the root subgroups \mathfrak{X}_{α} where $\alpha(x) \in \mathbb{Z}$. For a minimal parahoric, there are no roots that satisfy this property, so no off-diagonal matrix entries change: for instance, if y is as in the figure, then the parahoric at y and its pro-unipotent radical are given by

$$G_{y} = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \\ \wp & \wp & R \end{bmatrix} \qquad \qquad G_{y}^{+} = \begin{bmatrix} 1+\wp & R & R \\ \wp & 1+\wp & R \\ \wp & \wp & 1+\wp \end{bmatrix}$$

On the other hand, 0 is a special vertex, so every matrix entry will change; the parahoric of the point 0 and its pro-unipotent radical are therefore

$$G_0 = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ R & R & R \\ R & R & R \end{bmatrix} \qquad G_0^+ = \begin{bmatrix} 1+\varphi & \varphi & \varphi \\ \varphi & 1+\varphi & \varphi \\ \varphi & \varphi & 1+\varphi \end{bmatrix}.$$

The point x in Figure 3.1 has $\Phi_x = \{\pm \beta\}$, so its parahoric and pro-unipotent radical are

$$G_x = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \end{bmatrix} \qquad \qquad G_x^+ = \begin{bmatrix} 1+\wp & R & R \\ \wp & 1+\wp & \wp \\ \wp & \wp & 1+\wp \end{bmatrix}.$$

We will now present the basic properties of these groups. We shall not go into the lowlevel machinery used to prove these results, so we refer the reader to [BT72] for the details. The presentation given there is very good.

Definition 3.3. We define the topology on G to be that induced by the natural topology on the k-vector space $\text{End}(V^k)$ — in other words, the induced topology as a subset of matrices with entries in k.

By explicitly determining the possible matrix entries for the groups G_x and G_x^+ , one finds that:

Proposition 3.4. Each group G_x and G_x^+ is compact, open, and closed.

Using the Chevalley commutator relations, one can show that:

Proposition 3.5. Each G_x^+ is normal in G_x .

If $n \in N$, then it is easy to show that $n\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(\wp^m)n^{-1} = \mathfrak{X}_{n \cdot \alpha}(\wp^m)$. This immediately implies that:

Proposition 3.6. If $n \in N$, then $nG_x n^{-1} = G_{n \cdot x}$ and $nG_x^+ n^{-1} = G_{n \cdot x}^+$.

The following fact can easily be proved using information about the action of $x_{\alpha}(t)$ and $h_{\beta}(t)$ on V^k .



Figure 3.1: Some minimal parahoric subgroups of $SL_3(k)$.

Proposition 3.7. For $x \in A$, define lattices $V_x, V_x^+ \subset V^k$ by

$$V_x = \bigoplus_{\mu} V_{\mu} \otimes_{\mathbf{Z}} \wp^{-\lfloor \mu(x) \rfloor}$$
$$V_x^+ = \bigoplus_{\mu} V_{\mu} \otimes_{\mathbf{Z}} \wp^{1-\lfloor \mu(x) \rfloor}$$

where these are to be interpreted as tensor products of additive abelian groups. The groups G_x (and G_x^+) preserve V_x and V_x^+ . If x is a special vertex, then G_x^+ fixes V_x/V_x^+ .

It turns out that if x is a special vertex, then G_x is the largest subgroup that preserves V_x .

Proposition 3.8. We have $G_x \cap T = T(R)$ for any $x \in A$.

Proof.

By definition, $T(R) \subset G_x \cap T$. Conversely, we know that G_x preserves the lattice V_x , so since T(R) is the largest subgroup of T that has this property, we must have the opposite inclusion. (Cf. the proofs of Lemma 2.25 and Theorem 3.17.)

Proposition 3.9. The intersection $\bigcap_{x \in \mathcal{A}} G_x = T(R)$.

Proof.

We will only provide a sketch, as this result should be intuitively obvious from the definitions. It suffices to prove the result in the full Chevalley group. The strategy is to show that $P = \bigcap_x G_x$ acts diagonally on the root spaces V_{μ} , so that P is contained in the centralizer in G^c of T, which is T itself (cf. Proposition B.3). Indeed, consider how a $p \in P$ acts on V_{μ} : p takes a generator v_{μ} to some multiple of v_{μ} plus a sum of other root spaces. Moving in any direction orthogonal to μ , one finds from Proposition 3.7 that the components of $p \cdot v_{\mu}$ that are not in the V_{μ} root space must be arbitrarily small. Therefore P acts diagonally.

Parahoric subgroups have very nice (but not surprising) intersection properties and decompositions. We refer the reader to [IM65] for the proofs in some specific cases and to [BT72] for proofs in much greater generality.

- **Proposition 3.10.** (i) Let $M \subset G$ be a generalized Levi subgroup, and let $x \in A$. Then $G_x \cap M \supset M_x$ and $G_x^+ \cap M = G_x^+ \cap M_x = M_x^+$.
 - (ii) Let P be a standard parabolic subgroup with Levi decomposition MU. Let Θ be the root system of M, so that P is generated by T and the root subgroups X_α for α ∈ Φ⁺ ∪ Θ. Then

$$U \cap G_x = \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^+ \setminus \Theta} \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(\wp^{-\lfloor \alpha(x) \rfloor})$$
$$U \cap G_x^+ = \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^+ \setminus \Theta} \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(\wp^{1-\lceil \alpha(x) \rceil})$$

where the product is taken in any fixed order, and the expression is unique with respect to that order.

Remark 3.11. Recall [Ste68, Lemmas 17 and 18] that in the notation of Proposition 3.10(ii),

$$U = \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^+ \setminus \Theta} \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \tag{3.2}$$

with uniqueness of expression, where the product is taken in any fixed order.

- **Proposition 3.12.** Let *P* be a standard parabolic subgroup with Levi decomposition MU and opposite parabolic $\overline{P} = M\overline{U}$.
 - (i) For any $x \in A$, the product map

$$(\overline{u}, m, u) \mapsto \overline{u}mu : (G_x^+ \cap \overline{U}) \times (G_x^+ \cap M) \times (G_x^+ \cap U) \xrightarrow{\sim} G_x^+$$

is a bijection. The product can be taken in any order.

(ii) Let Φ_M be the root system of M. If $x \in A$ with $\Phi_x \subset \Phi_M$, then we have a decomposition

$$G_x = (G_x \cap \overline{U})(G_x \cap M)(G_x \cap U).$$

(iii) Suppose that P is a minimal parabolic. Then

$$G_x = (G_x \cap N)(G_x \cap U)(G_x \cap \overline{U}) = (G_x \cap N)(G_x \cap \overline{U})(G_x \cap U)$$
$$= (G_x \cap U)(G_x \cap \overline{U})(G_x \cap N) = (G_x \cap \overline{U})(G_x \cap U)(G_x \cap N).$$

Proposition 3.12(i) says that each G_x^+ has an **Iwahori decomposition** with respect to any P = MU. Proposition 3.12(iii) can be seen as a kind of Jordan decomposition: any element of G_x can be written as $nu\overline{u}$, where n is semisimple, u and \overline{u} are unipotent, and all three are contained in G_x .

Example 3.13. To illustrate Propositions 3.10 and 3.12, we give the example of $G = SL_3(k)$. Let the notation be as in Example 3.2. Let $M \subset SL_3(k)$ be a Levi subgroup isomorphic to $GL_2(k)$, and let P = MU be the standard parabolic subgroup containing M; we will take

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * \\ * & * & * \end{bmatrix} \quad U = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & * & * \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \quad P = \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * \\ * & * & * \\ * & * & * \end{bmatrix}.$$

For the point x in Figure 3.1, Proposition 3.10(i) tells us that

$$M \cap G_x = M \cap \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ R & R \end{bmatrix} = M_x$$
$$M \cap G_x^+ = M \cap \begin{bmatrix} 1+\wp & R & R \\ \wp & 1+\wp & \wp \\ \wp & \wp & 1+\wp \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1+\wp & 1+\wp & \wp \\ 1+\wp & \wp & 1+\wp \\ \wp & 1+\wp \end{bmatrix} = M_x^+.$$

Proposition 3.10(ii) affirms the unsurprising fact that

$$U \cap G_x = U \cap G_x^+ = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & R & R \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & R \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & R \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

The parabolic $\overline{P} = M\overline{U}$ opposite to P with respect to M, and its unipotent radical \overline{U} , are given by

$$\overline{P} = \begin{bmatrix} * \\ * & * \\ * & * \end{bmatrix} \qquad \overline{U} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ * & 1 \\ * & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The Iwahori decomposition (Proposition 3.12(i)) of G_x^+ with respect to P = MU is:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1+\wp & R & R\\ \wp & 1+\wp & \wp\\ \wp & \wp & 1+\wp \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ \wp & 1\\ \wp & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1+\wp & \\ 1+\wp & \wp\\ \wp & 1+\wp \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & R & R\\ 1\\ & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

where the product can be taken in any order. In this case, the analogous decomposition (Proposition 3.12(ii)) holds for G_x as well:

$$\begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ \wp & 1 \\ \wp & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} R \\ R & R \\ R & R \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & R & R \\ 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

This last decomposition works because $\Phi_x = \{\pm \beta\}$, which is the root system for M. It is *not* true that

$$\begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \\ \wp & R & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} R & R \\ \wp & R \\ R \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & R \\ 1 & R \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

For any nonempty $\Omega \subset A$, we can define subgroups G_{Ω} which generalize parahoric subgroups.

Definition 3.14. Let $\Omega \subset A$ be any nonempty region. Define

$$G_{\Omega} = \langle T(R), \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(\wp^{-\lfloor \inf_{x \in \Omega} \alpha(x) \rfloor}) : \alpha \in \Phi \rangle.$$
We will use the following facts about the groups G_{Ω} :

Proposition 3.15. (i) $G_{\Omega} = \bigcap_{x \in \Omega} G_x$. (ii) Proposition 3.12(iii) holds for any G_{Ω} .

3.2. Passage to the residue field

The goal of this section is to demonstrate that for any x in the apartment, G_x/G_x^+ is a generalized Levi of a Chevalley group over the residue field f, and that the hyperplane structure of the spherical apartment of G_x/G_x^+ is the same as the local hyperplane structure of \mathcal{A} at x. This allows us to use the theory of Chevalley groups over a finite field to analyze G. With this in mind, we put:

Notation 3.16.

$$\mathsf{G}_x = G_x / G_x^+.$$

Again, the G in G_x is associated with the symbol G, so if M is another generalized Levi subgroup of G^c , then we put $M_x = M_x/M_x^+$.

Theorem 3.17. Suppose that $x \in A$. Then G_x is isomorphic to the generalized Levi of G with root system Φ_x — in particular, if x is a special vertex of A(G), then $G_x = G$. The generators $x_{\alpha}(t), h_{\beta}(s) \in G_x$ ($\alpha \in \Phi_x, \beta \in \Delta, t \in \wp^{-\alpha(x)}, s \in R^{\times}$) correspond to the generators $x_{\alpha}(t), h_{\beta}(s) \in G$ ($t \in f = \wp^{-\alpha(x)}/\wp^{1-\alpha(x)}, s \in f^{\times} = R^{\times}/(1+\wp)$) under this isomorphism.

Proof.

Suppose first that x is a special vertex. By Proposition 3.7, there is a natural homomorphism $\pi : G_x/G_x^+ \to \operatorname{GL}(V_x/V_x^+) = \operatorname{GL}(V^{\mathsf{f}})$. Writing out the definitions, we find that image of this homomorphism is generated by $\pi(x_\alpha(t)) = \mathsf{x}_\alpha(t)$ for $\alpha \in \Phi$ and $\pi(h_\beta(s)) = \mathsf{h}_\beta(\mathsf{s})$ for $\beta \in \Delta^c$, where t is the image of t in the residue field f, which is identified with $\wp^{-\alpha(x)}/\wp^{1-\alpha(x)}$ via our uniformizer ϖ , and and s is the image of s in $R^{\times}/(1+\wp) = \mathsf{f}^{\times}$. Therefore im $\pi = \mathsf{G}$. It remains to show that π is injective, so that $G_x/G_x^+ = \mathsf{G}_x$ is G .

Define a map $i : G \to G_x$ by $i(x_\alpha(t)) = x_\alpha(t)$ and $i(h_\alpha(s)) = h_\alpha(s)$, where $t \in \wp^{-\alpha(x)}$ (resp. $s \in R^{\times}$) is any lift of t (resp. s), as before. Note that this map is well-defined on the generators because if $t \in \wp^{1-\alpha(x)}$, then $x_\alpha(t) \in G_x^+$, so $x_\alpha(t+u) = x_\alpha(t)x_\alpha(u) = x_\alpha(u)$ in G_x ; similarly for $h_\alpha(s)$. In order to show that *i* indeed extends to a homomorphism, we must show that all relations in G are satisfied in G_x as well. This is not so hard in our case — we have a list of relations in [Ste68, Corollary 3]. These are a defining set of relations for G as well as G, so they must hold in both groups, at least formally; for instance,

$$i(\mathsf{x}_{\alpha}(\mathsf{t}+\mathsf{u})) = x_{\alpha}(t+u) = x_{\alpha}(t)x_{\alpha}(u) = i(\mathsf{x}_{\alpha}(\mathsf{t})\mathsf{x}_{\alpha}(\mathsf{u})).$$

The other relations are satisfied similarly. Therefore *i* extends to a homomorphism, which must be surjective; thus we have a two-sided inverse of π , so π is an isomorphism.

Now suppose that $x \in A$ is any point, and let M = M(x) as in Definition 2.33, so x projects onto a special vertex of M. We therefore want to show that $G_x \cong M_x/M_x^+$.

By checking generators, we find $M_x \subset G_x$; inclusion composed with projection gives a map $M_x \to G_x/G_x^+$ whose kernel is

$$M_x \cap G_x^+ = (M \cap G_x) \cap G_x^+ = M \cap G_x^+ = M_x^+$$

by Proposition 3.10. The generators for G_x have lifts in M_x , so this homomorphism is surjective; therefore we have $M_x/M_x^+ \cong G_x/G_x^+$ as required.

Corollary 3.18. If $x \in A$ and M = M(x), then inclusion $M_x = M \cap G_x \hookrightarrow G_x$ gives a natural isomorphism $G_x = M_x$.

Now we can begin to see how $A_s(G_y)$ looks like a neighborhood of y in A:

Remark 3.19. For $y \in A$, the hyperplanes containing y are exactly the hyperplanes in the spherical apartment of G_y , so that, locally, the hyperplane structure of A at y is the same as that of $A_s(G_y)$, if we think of y as the origin. In other words, we have an identification of $A_s(G_y)$ with A such that for any $x \in A$, if $\alpha(x) = \alpha(y) \in \mathbb{Z}$ (i.e., x and y are both contained in $H_{\alpha-\alpha(y)}$), then x is identified with a point in $H_{\alpha} \subset A_s(G_y)$. We will often be sloppy and think of any $x \in A$ as an element of $A_s(G_y)$; this is acceptable because identifying $x \in A$ with $x_0 \in A_s(G_y)$, we have $\Phi_x = \{\alpha \in \Phi : \alpha(x_0) = 0\}$ when x is in a small enough neighborhood of y.

Example 3.20. Let the notation be as in Example 3.2. Theorem 3.17 tells us that

$$G_0/G_0^+ = \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix} \qquad G_x/G_x^+ = \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix} \qquad G_y/G_y^+ = \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix}$$

as one would expect. The local hyperplane structure of A at the point x in Figure 3.1 consists only of the hyperplane $H_{\beta+0}$ in a two-dimensional space; compare this with the hyperplane structure of $A_s(G_x)$, which is a two-dimensional vector space with one hyperplane H_β . See Figure 3.2.

The identification above will be made much stronger in Theorem 3.28. Before proceeding along that line, we first prove a proposition relating parabolics over f with parahorics.

Remark 3.21. If x is in some facet $F \subset A$ and y is in the closure of F, then we can see from (3.1) that $G_x \subset G_y$ and $G_x^+ \supset G_y^+$ because $\Phi_x \subset \Phi_y$. In fact, one can show the converse, i.e., that $G_x \subset G_y$ implies that y is in the closure of the facet containing x, which justifies calling the parahorics corresponding to vertices maximal. (Cf. the proof of Proposition 4.22(iii).)

The above remarks motivate the following result:

- **Proposition 3.22.** Let x be in some facet $F \subset A$ and y in the closure \overline{F} ; suppose that x is identified with $x_0 \in A_s(G_y)$ as in Remark 3.19. Then G_x/G_y^+ is isomorphic to the parabolic subgroup P_{x_0} of G_y defined in Proposition 2.13. Furthermore, the image of G_x^+ under this isomorphism is the unipotent radical of P_{x_0} , so G_x is isomorphic to a standard Levi of G_y .
- **Remark 3.23.** It is not true that G_x can always be naturally identified with a standard Levi subgroup of G this is only the case when the closure of the facet containing x contains a special vertex. Consider the vertex v in Example 2.34, Figure 2.6.



Figure 3.2: The affine apartment of $SL_3(k)$, as compared to the spherical apartment of G_x , which is isomorphic to $GL_2(f)$.

Proof of Proposition 3.22.

Inclusion of G_x into G_y composed with projection onto G_y/G_y^+ gives a map $i: G_x \to G_y/G_y^+$ whose kernel is $G_x \cap G_y^+ = G_y^+$. We would like to show that $\mathsf{P}_x := G_x/G_y^+ \subset G_y/G_y^+ = \mathsf{G}_y$ is a parabolic subgroup. We lose nothing by assuming that y is a special vertex because we can replace G with M(y).

Let

$$\Theta = \{ \alpha \in \Phi_y : \alpha(y) \le \alpha(x) \}.$$

The group G_x/G_y^+ is generated by the root spaces of roots α such that $\lfloor \alpha(x) \rfloor = \lceil \alpha(y) \rceil$, i.e., G_x/G_y^+ is generated by the root spaces Θ . Comparing this with (2.1) and thinking of y as the origin, we see that P_x is the parabolic subgroup of G_y corresponding to x, as claimed.

By definition, the group G_x^+/G_y^+ will be generated by all roots α with $\alpha(y) < \alpha(x)$, which are exactly the roots α in Θ such that $-\alpha \notin \Theta$. Therefore G_x^+/G_y^+ is the unipotent radical of P_x . By the third isomorphism theorem, then, $\mathsf{G}_x = (G_x/G_y^+)/(G_x^+/G_y^+)$ is isomorphic to a standard Levi of G_y .

Corollary 3.24. If $x, y \in A$ are any points, then $G_x \cap G_y$ projects onto a parabolic in both G_x and G_y . The unipotent radicals are the images of $G_x \cap G_y^+$ and $G_x^+ \cap G_y$, respectively.

Proof.

If we move along the line in \mathcal{A} from x to y and apply Proposition 3.22 every time we enter a new facet, the result follows.

Example 3.25. Let the notation be as in Example 3.2. By Proposition 3.22, G_y and G_y^+

project onto G_0 and G_x as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} G_y/G_0^+ &= \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix} \\ G_y/G_x^+ &= \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{aligned} G_y^+/G_x^+ &= \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{1} & \mathsf{1} & \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{1} & \mathsf{1} \\ \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix} \end{aligned}$$

so G_y projects onto the standard Borel and G_y^+ projects onto its unipotent radical. We also have

$$G_x/G_0^+ = \begin{bmatrix} f & f & f \\ f & f & f \\ f & f & f \end{bmatrix} \qquad \qquad G_x^+/G_0^+ = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & f & f \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Identifying a neighborhood of 0 in A with the spherical apartment of $SL_3(f)$, the point x in our example can be identified with the point y in Example 2.14, which explains why G_x/G_0^+ here is the same as P_y there.

In the rest of this section, we will show that not only does $A_s(G_x)$ have the same hyperplane structure as A does in a neighborhood of x, but that the actions of N and $N \subset G$ correspond.

Notation 3.26. Define $N_x \subset G_x$ to be the subgroup generated by T and the $w_\alpha(t)$ for $\alpha \in \Phi_x$ (so $N_x = N_{G_x}(T)$ if |f| > 3). Put $W_x = N_x/T$, the Weyl group of G_x , realized as a group of isometries of $\mathcal{A}_s(G_x)$. Let N_x be the group $N \cap G_x$.

Lemma 3.27. The image of N_x in G_x is $N_x \subset G_x$.

Proof.

We will assume that |f| > 3; we cheat and refer to standard facts from the theory of linear algebraic groups for the other two cases. By [Ste68, Exercise, p.36] we know that $N_{G_x}(T) = N_x$. If $n \in N_x$, then n normalizes T(R), so the image of n in G_x certainly normalizes T; therefore the image of N_x is contained in N_x . Conversely, if $w_\alpha(t) \in N_x$, then if $t \in \wp^{-\alpha(x)}$ is any lift of $t \in f$, then $w_\alpha(t) \in N_x$ is a lift of $w_\alpha(t)$, so the image of N_x is all of N_x .

Recall from Remark 3.19 the identification of A in a neighborhood of y with $A_s(G_y)$.

Theorem 3.28. For any $x \in A$, the group N_x fixes x, and the action of N_x on A is generated by reflections over the hyperplanes containing x. Identifying A with $A_s(G_x)$, the action of $n \in N_x$ on A is the same as the action of its image $n \in N_x$ on $A_s(G_x)$.

Proof.

Let $n \in N_x$. First we show that any two lifts of n in N_x act on \mathcal{A} in the same way, i.e., that $N \cap G_x^+$ acts trivially on \mathcal{A} . Indeed, let $n \in N \cap G_x^+$. Since G_x^+ has an Iwahori decomposition (Proposition 3.12(i)) with respect to a Borel subgroup B with Levi decomposition TU, we can write $n = tu\overline{u}$ with $t \in T, u \in U$, and $\overline{u} \in \overline{U}$. By Corollary B.2, $nt^{-1} \in N \cap (U\overline{U}) = \{1\}$ so $n = t \in T \cap G_x^+$. Thinking of T as a generalized Levi subgroup of G, we have $T(1 + \wp) = T_x^+ = T \cap G_x^+$, so $n \in T(R)$ acts trivially on \mathcal{A} .

Let $n = w_{\alpha}(t) \in N_x$ be a generator. If t is a lift of $t \in f \cong \wp^{-\alpha(x)}/\wp^{1-\alpha(x)}$ in $\wp^{-\alpha(x)}$ (cf. the proof of Theorem 3.17), then $n = w_{\alpha}(t)$ is a lift of n. Since the valuation $\omega(t) = -\alpha(x)$, Corollary 2.27(i) tells us that $w_{\alpha}(t)$ acts as $r_{\alpha-\alpha(x)}$. Therefore any lift of a generator of N_x fixes x, so N_x fixes x as well. This also proves the last claim. The above theorem tells us that there is a natural surjective homomorphism of N_x into W_x given by the action of N_x on $\mathcal{A}_s(\mathsf{G}_x)$, and that this is compatible with the projection of N_x onto N_x :

Corollary 3.29. The group $N_x/T(R)$ is isomorphic to W_x . This isomorphism can be obtained either by projection of N_x onto N_x , or by the action of N_x on $\mathcal{A}_s(G_x)$.

In a sense, then, we have an "N_x-isomorphism" of the spherical apartment of G_x with a neighborhood of x in A for any $x \in A$, which preserves hyperplane structure.

Corollary 3.30. For any $x \in A$, we have $\operatorname{stab}_N(x) = N_x$.

Proof.

We have $N = N_G(T) = G \cap N_{G^c}(T) = G \cap N^c$ and $\operatorname{stab}_N(x) = G \cap \operatorname{stab}_{N^c}(x)$, so it suffices to prove the claim when $G = G^c$. Theorem 3.28 gives $N_x^c \subset \operatorname{stab}_{N^c}(x)$.

Let $F \subset \mathcal{A}^c$ be a maximal facet such that $x \in \overline{F}$, and let $n \in \operatorname{stab}_N(x)$, so $F' := n \cdot F$ is also a maximal facet containing x in its closure. Since W_x acts transitively on the Weyl chambers in $\mathcal{A}_s(\mathsf{G}_x)$, which correspond to the maximal facets in \mathcal{A} containing xin their closure, we can find an $n' \in N_x^c$ such that $n' \cdot F = n \cdot F$, i.e., $n^{-1}n' \cdot F = F$. We will show in Proposition 3.32(ii) that if $w \in \widetilde{W}^c$ and $w \cdot F = F$, then w = 1, so since $N^c/T(R) = \widetilde{W}^c$, we must have $n^{-1}n' \in T(R)$, so $n \in T(R) \cdot N_x = N_x$.

Example 3.31. Let us continue with the example of $G = SL_3(k)$ (see Examples 3.2 and 3.25). Since $G_0 = SL_3(R)$, we can see immediately that we can find representatives for the determinant-one permutation matrices in G_0 , so N_0 really does project onto N_0 . A neighborhood of the origin in the spherical apartment of $SL_3(f)$ looks like a neighborhood of 0 in \mathcal{A} (cf. Example 2.14). By Corollary 2.27(i), the element $w_{\alpha}(1) \in G_0$, for instance, acts as a reflection over $H_{\alpha+0} = H_{\alpha}$, as expected.

At the point x, we have $G_x = GL_2(f) \subset SL_3(f)$ (cf. Example 2.29). The element $w_\beta(1) \in G_x$ acts as a reflection over $H_{\beta+0} = H_\beta$, which is the only nontrivial reflection in $\mathcal{A}_s(G_x)$.

Lastly, at the point y we have $G_y = T$, which has trivial Weyl group; this corresponds to the fact that there are no hyperplanes intersecting y.

3.3. Structure theory

The first goal of this section is to find an *affine* BN-pair contained in G, where "B" is a minimal parahoric (instead of parabolic) subgroup. In order to do so, we first need to know what the "simple" reflections are that generate the affine Weyl group. Proposition 3.32(iii) (resp. 3.32(i,ii)) is the analog of Proposition 2.7(i) (resp. 2.7(ii)).

Let *F* be any maximal facet in A.

Proposition 3.32. (i) All maximal facets are conjugate to F under W.

- (ii) If w(F) = F, then w = 1 in \widetilde{W} .
- (iii) The affine Weyl group W of G is generated by the reflections over the hyperplanes bordering F.

Proof.

We will assume for convenience that $0 \in \overline{F}$, and that Φ spans E^* , so that vertices really are points — we can do this because \widetilde{W} fixes $(E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$. Throughout this proof, one should refer to Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3: An illustration of Proposition 3.32 via the example of $\text{Sp}_4(k)$. The dark triangle is our chosen maximal facet *F*, and the shaded region is the neighborhood N(0) of 0. The dots indicate the special vertices at which all roots take integer values; this lattice is invariant under \widetilde{W} . The arrows indicate the reflections which generate \widetilde{W} .

- (i) Suppose that there were some facet F' not conjugate to F under W. We may assume that F' shares a hyperplane with a facet F'' which is conjugate to F under W see Figure 3.3. The reflection over that hyperplane takes F'' to F', so F' cannot exist.
- (ii) Let \mathcal{O} be the orbit of the origin under \widetilde{W} . It is easy to see that $\alpha(x)$ is even for every root α and every $x \in \mathcal{O}$ in other words, the lattice of points x such that $\alpha(x)$ is even for every α is invariant under \widetilde{W} . Every special vertex other than 0 contained in \overline{F} has $\alpha(x)$ odd for some α , so if w(F) = F, we must have w(0) = 0. Therefore w can be thought of as an element of the spherical Weyl group of G, so using Proposition 2.7(ii), we can conclude that w = 1.
- (iii) Let \widetilde{W}' be the subgroup of \widetilde{W} generated by the reflections over the hyperplanes bordering F. It suffices to show that the orbit \mathcal{C} of F under \widetilde{W}' contains all maximal facets. Reflections over the hyperplanes bordering a Weyl chamber D generate the Weyl group, and by Proposition 2.7(ii), the action of the Weyl group on such chambers is transitive, so \mathcal{C} contains all maximal facets whose closure contains 0. Call this set the **neighborhood** N(0) of the special vertex 0, and define N(x) for

any $x \in \mathcal{A}$ in the same way. Since we can reflect over all hyperplanes bordering F, \mathcal{C} must contain all neighborhoods bordering N(0) (i.e., all neighborhoods sharing a hyperplane with N(0)). Given any neighborhood N(x) of a special vertex x, there is a sequence of neighborhoods N_0, N_1, \ldots, N_n , each bordering the next, such that $N_0 = N(x)$ and $N_n = N(0)$ (consider the line from x to 0 in \mathcal{A}). Since all maximal facets contain a special vertex in their closure, \mathcal{C} contains all maximal facets.

Remark 3.33. It is not hard to show (cf. [IM65, Prop. 1.2]) that there is a maximal facet F in \mathcal{A}^c such that the hyperplanes bordering F are

 $\{H_{\alpha+0}, H_{1-\gamma} : \alpha \in \Delta, \gamma \text{ is the highest root of a simple component of } \mathfrak{g}\}.$

In particular, if G^c comes from a simple Lie algebra, then there is only one other hyperplane bordering F.

The proof of this next theorem, which states that G^c has an affine BN-pair, is quite long and is very similar in spirit to the proof that all Chevalley groups contain a (spherical) BNpair — that is, it is mostly Coxeter group theory and root space decompositions. A proof can be found in [IM65]. It is true that any generalized Levi of G^c has a generalized BN-pair (see [Iwa66]), but we will not state that version of the theorem. Recall (Definition 3.1) that an Iwahori subgroup is a minimal parahoric subgroup, that is, a parahoric subgroup G_F corresponding to a maximal facet F.

Theorem 3.34. Let $F \subset A$ be a maximal facet, let \mathcal{I} be the Iwahori subgroup G_F^c , and let S be the set of generators given in Proposition 3.32(iii). Then the data $(\mathcal{I}, N^c, \widetilde{W}^c, S)$ form a BN-pair, or Tits system, in the sense of [Tit62].

Note that this theorem justifies calling the subgroups G_x parahoric subgroups, and explains in what sense parahoric (resp. Iwahori) subgroups correspond to parabolic (resp. Borel) subgroups. The existence of a BN-pair implies several corollaries, all of which are completely analogous to the spherical case and can be found in [Car89]. The following is the analog of Corollary 2.11:

Corollary 3.35. Let *F* be a maximal facet and let $x \in \overline{F}$. Then $G_x^c = G_F^c N_x^c G_F^c$.

Also, for any generalized Levi subgroup G, we have:

Theorem 3.36 (Affine Bruhat Decomposition). If G_x and G_y are any two parahoric subgroups, then $G = G_x N G_y$.

Proof.

Theorem 3.34 tells us that $G = G_F N G_F$ when F is any maximal facet and $G = G^c$; the same is also true when G has a generalized BN-pair, so we can drop the latter condition (cf. [Iwa66]). Let F (resp. F') be a maximal facet such that $x \in \overline{F}$ (resp. $y \in \overline{F'}$), and let $w \in \widetilde{W}$ be the element that takes F to F'. Let $n \in N$ be a lift of w, so that $nG_F n^{-1} = G_{F'}$. Since $G_F \subset G_x$ and $G_{F'} \subset G_y$, we have

$$G = G_F N G_F \cdot n^{-1} = G_F N (n G_F n^{-1}) = G_F N G_{F'} \subset G_x N G_y$$

Example 3.37. We return to our example of $G = SL_3(k)$; see Examples 3.2, 3.25, and 3.31. Consider the point x in Figure 3.1. The group N_x is

$$\left(\left[\begin{smallmatrix} 1 & & \\ & 1 & \\ & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot T(R) \right) \cup \left(\left[\begin{smallmatrix} 1 & & \\ & -1 & \\ & -1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot T(R) \right)$$

so it is not surprising that

$$G_x = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \\ \wp & \wp & R \end{bmatrix} \cdot N_x \cdot \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ \wp & R & R \\ \wp & \wp & R \end{bmatrix}.$$

This is completely analogous to the fact that

$$G_x/G_x^+ = \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \mathsf{N}_x \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} \, \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix}.$$

All of this is due to the fact that x lies on $H_{\alpha+0}$ (resp. H_{α}), which borders a maximal facet (resp. Weyl chamber).

We will use the rest of this section to establish an important technical result used in the building, as well as present some very clever reasoning about structure theory. First we need some new notation.

Notation 3.38. The following notation will be used for the rest of this section.

Let $\Omega \subset \mathcal{A}$ be a nonempty set, and set $N_{\Omega} = N \cap G_{\Omega}$. If $D \subset \mathcal{A}_s$ is a Weyl chamber, we write the corresponding Borel subgroup B_D and unipotent radical U_D . If -D is the opposite Weyl chamber, then the Borel subgroup B_{-D} is opposite to B_D (with respect to T). Set $U_{\Omega \pm D} = U_{\pm D} \cap G_{\Omega}$, or in the case that $\Omega = \{x\}$, write $U_{x\pm D} = U_{\{x\}\pm D}$.

Lemma 3.39 ([BT72]). For any $x \in A$ we have $N \cap (G_{\Omega} \cdot G_x) = N_{\Omega} \cdot N_x$.

Proof.

We may assume that $x \notin \Omega$ (otherwise $G_{\Omega} \subset G_x$ and $N_{\Omega} \subset N_x$; cf. Proposition 3.15(i)). Fix $y \in \Omega$, and find a Weyl chamber D such that x is in $y + \overline{D}$. By Proposition 3.12(iii), we have $U_{\Omega+D} \subset U_{y+D} \subset U_{x+D}$; note that $U_{x-D}, U_{\Omega-D} \subset U_{D}^-$ and $U_{x+D} \subset U_{D}^+$. Proposition 3.15(ii) therefore gives

$$G_{\Omega} \cdot G_{x} = N_{\Omega} U_{\Omega-D} U_{\Omega+D} U_{x+D} U_{x-D} N_{x}$$

$$= N_{\Omega} U_{\Omega-D} U_{x+D} U_{x-D} N_{x}$$

$$= N_{\Omega} U_{\Omega-D} U_{x-D} U_{x+D} N_{x}$$

$$\subset N_{\Omega} U_{D}^{-} U_{D}^{+} N_{x}.$$

If $n \in N \cap (G_{\Omega} \cdot G_x)$, the above decomposition tells us that there are $n_{\Omega} \in N_{\Omega}, u_{\pm} \in U_D^{\pm}$, and $n_x \in N_x$ such that $n = n_{\Omega}u_-u_+n_x$. By Corollary B.2, this is true if and only if $n_{\Omega}^{-1}nn_x^{-1} = u_-u_+ = 1$, because the left-hand side is in N and the right-hand side is in $U_D^-U_D^+$. Therefore $n = n_{\Omega}n_x \in N_{\Omega} \cdot N_x$, as required.

The following result will imply a fundamental property of the building (Proposition 4.10). The beautiful proof is due to Bruhat and Tits.

Theorem 3.40 ([BT72, Prop. 7.4.8]). $\bigcap_{x \in \Omega} (G_x \cdot N) = G_\Omega \cdot N \text{ and } \bigcap_{x \in \Omega} (N \cdot G_x) = N \cdot G_\Omega.$

Proof.

The second statement follows from the first by taking inverses. First we will inductively prove the theorem for all finite subsets Ω of \mathcal{A} . The case $\Omega = \{y\}$ is trivial. Suppose that $\Omega = \Omega_0 \cup \{y\}$ where the theorem is true for the finite subset $\Omega_0 \subset \mathcal{A}$. Let

$$g \in (G_y \cdot N) \cap \bigcap_{x \in \Omega_0} (G_x \cdot N) = (G_y \cdot N) \cap (G_{\Omega_0} \cdot N)$$

so there exist $n_0, n_y \in N$ such that $gn_0 \in G_{\Omega_0}$ and $gn_y \in G_y$. Therefore $n_0^{-1}n_y \in N \cap (G_{\Omega_0}G_y)$, so by Corollary 3.39, there exist $n'_0 \in N_{\Omega_0}$ and $n'_y \in N_y$ such that $n_0^{-1}n_y = n'_0(n'_y)^{-1}$, i.e., $n_0n'_0 = n_yn'_y$. Let n be this common value, so we have $gn = gn_0n'_0 \in G_{\Omega_0} \cdot N_{\Omega_0} = G_{\Omega_0}$, and similarly, $gn \in G_y$. Therefore $g \in (G_{\Omega_0} \cap G_y) \cdot N = G_\Omega \cdot N$, so by induction, the theorem is true for all finite Ω .

Now we move on to the general case. Since \mathcal{A} contains countably many facets, we may assume that $\Omega = \{x_0, x_1, \ldots\}$ is countable. Set $\Omega_k = \{x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_k\}$, so by the above, the theorem is true for each Ω_k . Therefore if $g \in (\bigcap_{x \in \Omega} G_x \cdot N)$, we can find an $n_m \in N$ for each m such that $gn_m \in G_{\Omega_m} \subset G_{x_0}$, i.e., each $n_m^{-1}n_0 \in N \cap G_{x_0} = N_{x_0}$. By Proposition 3.8, the natural homomorphism $N_{x_0}/T(R) \hookrightarrow N/T = W$ is injective, so the group $N_{x_0}/T(R)$ is finite. Therefore there must be an infinite set $\{m_0, m_1, m_2, \ldots\}$ for which there exist $t_i \in T(R)$ with $t_i = (n_{m_0}^{-1}n_0)(n_{m_i}^{-1}n_0)^{-1} = n_{m_0}^{-1}n_{m_i}$. Therefore $gn_{m_0} = (gn_{m_i})t_i^{-1} \in G_{\Omega_{m_i}} \cdot T(R) = G_{\Omega_{m_i}}$, i.e.,

$$g \in \left(\bigcap_{i=0}^{\infty} G_{\Omega_{m_i}}\right) \cdot N = G_{\Omega} \cdot N$$

because $\bigcup_{i=0}^{\infty} \Omega_{m_i} = \Omega$.

4. The Bruhat-Tits building

The weakness of the theory of the affine apartment and its parahoric subgroups is that it is tied to the choice of the torus T. We would like to understand the representation theory of G by induction from compact open subgroups, and we want to determine these subgroups *up to conjugacy*. From our perspective, then, the building is a way to view the affine structure of G without being restricted to using only one torus.

Remark 4.1. We are only concerned with the Bruhat-Tits building, which represents the affine structure of G; however, one can analogously define a *spherical* building of G which parameterizes much of the spherical structure of G, up to conjugacy. Indeed, for any point x in the affine building, the spherical building of G_x is isomorphic to a neighborhood of x in the affine building, in the same sense as in Section 3.2.

4.1. Definition and basic properties

We are now in a position to define the full building and prove some of its basic properties. We give the full example of $SL_2(k)$ in Section 4.2. Almost all of this material is based on [BT72] and [BT84].

Definition 4.2. Put the following equivalence relation on $G \times \mathcal{A}$: $(g, x) \sim (h, y)$ if there exists an $n \in N$ such that nx = y and $g^{-1}hn \in G_x$. Define the Bruhat-Tits building of G to be $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{B}(G) = G \times \mathcal{A} / \sim$, and write [g, x] for the equivalence class of (g, x). Define an action of G on \mathcal{B} by $g \cdot [h, x] = [gh, x]$.

The relation $nG_x n^{-1} = G_{n \cdot x}$ for $n \in N$ implies that \sim is indeed an equivalence relation, and it is immediate that the action is well-defined. Perhaps the most basic fact about the building is that the apartment remains intact. This fact is an immediate consequence of Theorem 3.28:

Proposition 4.3. The map $x \mapsto [g, x]$ from $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is an injection for any $g \in G$.

In this section we will implicitly identify \mathcal{A} with its image $1 \times \mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{B}$. Note that the action of N on the building is compatible with its action on the apartment, i.e., if $n \in N$, then n[1, x] = [1, nx]. Note also that since [g, x] = g[1, x], the orbit of the apartment \mathcal{A} under G is all of $\mathcal{B}(G)$.

Notation 4.4. In this section, letters like x, y, \ldots will denote both elements of $\mathcal{A}(G)$ and elements of $\mathcal{B}(G)$; we will always specify which. Note that if $x \in \mathcal{A}$ and $g \in G$, then $g \cdot x = [g, x]$ which is not necessarily in \mathcal{A} .

Our next task is to define G_x for any $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$. In order to do this, we first need two lemmas.

Lemma 4.5. For $x \in A$, we have $G_x = \operatorname{stab}_G(x)$.

Proof.

It is immediate from the definitions that G_x fixes x. If g[1, x] = [g, x] = [1, x], then, by definition, there is some $n \in N$ such that nx = x and $g^{-1}n \in G_x$, so $g \in \operatorname{stab}_N(x) \cdot G_x$, which is $N_x \cdot G_x = G_x$ by Corollary 3.30.

Lemma 4.6. If $g \in G$, $x \in A$, and $gx \in A$, then $gG_xg^{-1} = G_{gx}$.

Proof.

By definition, we have an $n \in N$ such that nx = gx, i.e., $n^{-1}gx = x$, so by Lemma 4.5, $n^{-1}g \in G_x$, so $(n^{-1}g)G_x(n^{-1}g)^{-1} = G_x$, i.e.,

$$gG_xg^{-1} = nG_xn^{-1} = G_{nx} = G_{gx}.$$

Now we can define G_x for any $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$.

Definition 4.7. If $g \in G$ and $x \in A$, then we define $G_{g \cdot x} := gG_xg^{-1}$ and $G_{g \cdot x}^+ := gG_x^+g^{-1}$.

The above two lemmas imply that if $x \in A$ and gx = hx, then $G_{gx} = G_{hx}$, and if $gx \in A$, then the above definition of G_{gx} agrees with the one given previously. Note also that we have defined G_y for any $y \in \mathcal{B}(G)$.

Remark 4.8. Note that Lemma 4.5 holds true for any $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$. Also, any $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$ is conjugate to a $y \in \mathcal{A}$, so that $G_x/G_x^+ \cong G_y/G_y^+ = \mathsf{G}_y$; in particular, Theorem 3.17,

Proposition 3.22, and Corollary 3.24 hold, in a sense. However, all of these isomorphisms are dependent on the element g such that gx = y; in other words, the isomorphism $G_x/G_x^+ \cong \mathsf{G}_y$ is only defined up to an inner (by Lemma 4.5) automorphism.

From the definitions it is easy to see that:

Lemma 4.9. The element $[g, x] \in A$ if and only if $g \in N \cdot G_x$.

The following proposition is an important sanity check. It says that G acts on \mathcal{A} by affine isometries, when this makes sense.

Proposition 4.10. For all $g \in G$, there is an $n \in N$ such that gx = nx for all $x \in \mathcal{A} \cap g^{-1}\mathcal{A}$.

Proof.

Set $\Omega = \mathcal{A} \cap g^{-1}\mathcal{A}$. By Lemma 4.9, we have $g^{-1} \in \bigcap_{x \in \Omega} (G_x \cdot N)$, which is $G_\Omega \cdot N$ by Theorem 3.40. Thus there is an $n \in N$ such that $g^{-1}n \in G_x$ for every $x \in \Omega$. By definition, then, gx = nx for every $x \in \Omega$.

Corollary 4.11. If $gA \subset A$ or $gA \supset A$, then gA = A.

The above corollary allows us to define arbitrary apartments. Recall [Hum75, §21.3, Cor. A] that all maximal tori are conjugate in *G*.

Definition 4.12. If ${}^{g}T = gTg^{-1} \subset G$ is any maximal torus then, we define the *apartment* $\mathcal{A}({}^{g}T) = \mathcal{A}(G, {}^{g}T)$ associated with ${}^{g}T$ to be $g \cdot \mathcal{A}$.

Since any apartment is conjugate to the standard apartment A, then, we may treat any apartment as the standard apartment. In order to make sense of the above definition, we need a proposition.

Proposition 4.13. We have $g \cdot A = h \cdot A$ if and only if ${}^{g}T = {}^{h}T$. Equivalently, $\operatorname{stab}_{G}(A) = N$.

Proof.

We will prove the second (equivalent) statement. As remarked before, $N \subset \operatorname{stab}_G(\mathcal{A})$, so we need only show that if $g\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}$, then $g \in N = N_G(T(R))$. By Proposition 4.10, there exists an $n \in N$ such that gx = nx for every $x \in \mathcal{A}$. Therefore gn^{-1} fixes \mathcal{A} , so by Lemma 4.5, gn^{-1} normalizes every G_x . Therefore gn^{-1} normalizes $\bigcap_{x \in \mathcal{A}} G_x = T(R)$, so $gn^{-1} \in N$ and $g \in N$.

Thus we have more or less defined the apartment of ${}^{g}T$ to be the standard apartment of gGg^{-1} , and defined the parahorics corresponding to the apartment $g \cdot A$ to be the conjugates of the standard parahorics G_x ($x \in A$) under g. The building has allowed us to do this in such a way that it does matter which element g we choose to obtain ${}^{g}T$. One can define the apartment and associated parahorics for an arbitrary torus without the building, but it is difficult to do so in a consistent manner.

Note that if $[g, x] \in \mathcal{B}$ is any point, then $[g, x] \in g \cdot \mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}({}^{g}T)$, so the union of all apartments is the whole building — in other words, the building is many apartments glued

together. In fact, a stronger result is true:

Corollary 4.14 (to Bruhat Decomposition). For any two elements of $\mathcal{B}(G)$, there is an apartment \mathcal{A}' containing both of them.

Proof.

Suppose that x' = [g, x] and y' = [h, y] are any two elements of \mathcal{B} . By Bruhat Decomposition (Theorem 3.36), we know that $g^{-1}h = p_xnp_y$ for $p_x \in G_x$, $p_y \in G_y$, and $n \in N$. Set $a = gp_x$, so $g^{-1}a = p_x \in G_x$ and $h^{-1}an = h^{-1}gp_xn = p_y \in G_y$. Thus $a^{-1}g \in N \cdot G_x$ and $a^{-1}h \in N \cdot G_y$, so by Lemma 4.9, $a^{-1}x', a^{-1}y' \in \mathcal{A}$ so $x', y' \in a \cdot \mathcal{A}$.

Corollary 4.14 allows us to make the following important observation:

Proposition 4.15. If $M \subset G$ is a generalized Levi subgroup, then $\mathcal{B}(M) \subset \mathcal{B}(G)$ canonically.

Proof.

We know that the standard apartments $\mathcal{A}(M)$ and $\mathcal{A}(G)$ agree, which gives an inclusion $i: M \times \mathcal{A}(M) \hookrightarrow G \times \mathcal{A}(G)$.¹¹ We must show that this inclusion is compatible with the equivalence relations, i.e., if $g, h \in M$ and $x, y \in \mathcal{A}$, then $(g, x) \sim_M (h, y)$ in M if and only if $(g, x) \sim_G (h, y)$ in G. If $(g, x) \sim_M (h, y)$, then there is an $n \in N_M(T) \subset N_G(T)$ such that nx = y and $g^{-1}hn \in M_x \subset G_x$; thus $(g, x) \sim_G (h, y)$. Therefore i descends to a well-defined map $\overline{i}: \mathcal{B}(M) \to \mathcal{B}(G)$. We claim that \overline{i} is injective.

Let $x, y \in \mathcal{B}(M)$ be arbitrary, and suppose that $\overline{i}(x) = \overline{i}(y)$. By Corollary 4.14, we can choose an apartment $\mathcal{A}' \subset \mathcal{B}(M)$ containing x and y. Proposition 4.3 tells us that $\overline{i}|\mathcal{A}'$ is an injection, so we have x = y, as required.

Having defined arbitrary apartments, we would also like to define arbitrary facets:

Definition 4.16. A subset $F \subset \mathcal{B}(G)$ is a **facet** if $F = g \cdot F'$ where $F' \subset \mathcal{A}$ is a facet and $g \in G$.

By Proposition 4.10, the facets contained in A are the same facets we defined before. It follows immediately from Proposition 3.32(i) that:

Proposition 4.17. The action of G on the set of maximal facets in $\mathcal{B}(G)$ is transitive.

We will also make use of the following fact:

Proposition 4.18. If $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$ is arbitrary, then there are only finitely many facets $F \subset \mathcal{B}(G)$ such that $x \in \overline{F}$. In other words, $\mathcal{B}(G)$ is locally finite.

Proof.

By Proposition 4.15, we may assume that $G = G^c$. Let $\mathcal{F}(x)$ be the set of facets whose closure contains x. If y is a vertex contained in the closure of the facet containing x, then $\mathcal{F}(y) \supset \mathcal{F}(x)$, so it suffices to prove the proposition for vertices. Assume without loss of generality that x is a vertex in the standard apartment \mathcal{A} , and let $F \in \mathcal{F}(x)$. By definition, there is some facet $F' \subset \mathcal{A}$ and some $g \in G$ such that gF' = F. By Proposition 4.10, we can find an $n \in N$ such that $nF' \in \mathcal{F}(x)$, so as in the proof of

¹¹Technically, this inclusion is non-canonical, but its image is canonical.

Proposition 3.32(ii), we may assume that g fixes x, i.e., $g \in G_x$. Therefore the orbit of F in $\mathcal{F}(x)$ corresponds to the quotient space $G_x/\operatorname{stab}_G(F)$, so it suffices to prove that the latter is finite, because $\mathcal{F}(x) \cap \mathcal{A}$ is finite. But $\operatorname{stab}_G(F) = G_F \subset G_x$, which is the inverse image in G_x of a parabolic subgroup P_F of G_x , so $G_x/\mathsf{G}_F = \mathsf{G}_x/\mathsf{P}_F$, which is finite. In other words, the facets conjugate to F in $\mathcal{F}(x)$ are in one-to-one correspondence with the parabolic subgroups conjugate to P_F in G_x .

The building comes equipped with a natural metric. In order to define this metric, we need a lemma:

Lemma 4.19. Let $x, y \in \mathcal{B}(G)$, and let \mathcal{A}_1 be an apartment containing x and y. Any apartment \mathcal{A}_2 containing x and y also contains the line segment $\overline{xy} \subset \mathcal{A}_1$, and the length of this line in \mathcal{A}_1 (that is, the norm of the vector x - y) is the same as that in \mathcal{A}_2 .

Proof.

Assume without loss of generality that $\mathcal{A}_1 = \mathcal{A}$ is the standard apartment, and that $\mathcal{A}_2 = g \cdot \mathcal{A}$ for some $g \in G$. By Lemma 4.9, we have $g \in (N \cdot G_x) \cap (N \cdot G_y)$, which is $N \cdot (G_x \cap G_y)$ by Theorem 3.40. But $G_x \cap G_y = \bigcap_{z \in \overline{xy}} G_z$, so

$$g \in N \cdot \bigcap_{z \in \overline{xy}} G_z = \bigcap_{z \in \overline{xy}} (N \cdot G_z),$$

or equivalently, $\overline{xy} \subset A_2$. The invariance of the length is immediate from Proposition 4.10.

Lemma 4.19 allows us to make the following definition:

Definition 4.20. We define a metric d on $\mathcal{B}(G)$ as follows. Let $x, y \in \mathcal{B}(G)$, choose an apartment \mathcal{A}' containing x and y, and let g be an element such that $g\mathcal{A}' = \mathcal{A}$. Define d(x, y) to be the norm of the vector $gx - gy \in \mathcal{A}_s$, and give $\mathcal{B}(G)$ the metric topology.

By Proposition 4.10, d(x, y) is well-defined and *G*-invariant. One can prove [BT72] that the triangle inequality is satisfied, so *d* indeed defines a metric. (This proof is harder and not vital to us, so we omit it.) Proposition 4.18 easily shows that:

Corollary 4.21. For any positive $r \in \mathbf{R}$ and $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$, the closed *r*-ball around *x* is compact, and therefore intersects only finitely many facets.

Lastly, we prove a result that we will use later.

- **Proposition 4.22.** Suppose that $X \subset \mathcal{B}(G)$ is any minimal facet (i.e., $\pi_G(X)$ is one point). Then
 - (i) If $y \in \mathcal{B}(G)$ and $G_y \cap G_X$ surjects onto G_X , then $y \in X$.
 - (ii) $N_G(G_X) = \operatorname{stab}_G(X) = \operatorname{stab}_N(X) \cdot G_X = C \cdot G_X.$

Proof.

Keep in mind that $G_y = G_z$ for any $y, z \in X$, and that $\operatorname{stab}_G(X)$ does not necessarily fix every $y \in X$.

(i) Suppose that $G_y \cap G_X$ surjects onto G_X . Choose an apartment \mathcal{A} containing X and y. We claim that $y \in X$. If not, consider the line from any vertex x in X to y in \mathcal{A} . Since G_X is a maximal parahoric, we see that at any $z \notin X$ on this line, we have $G_X \cap G_z$ projecting onto a proper parabolic subgroup of G_X , so

$$G_y \cap G_X = \bigcap_{z \in \overline{xy}} G_z$$

will also project onto a proper parabolic of G_X , a contradiction. Therefore $y \in X$.

(ii) We will prove that

$$N_G(G_X) \subset \operatorname{stab}_G(X) \subset \operatorname{stab}_N(X) \cdot G_X \subset C \cdot G_X \subset N_G(G_X).$$

 $(N_G(G_X) \subset \operatorname{stab}_G(X))$: If $g \in N_G(G_X)$, then $G_X = gG_Xg^{-1} = G_{gX}$, so $G_X \cap G_{gX}$ surjects onto G_X , whence gX = X and $g \in \operatorname{stab}_G(X)$.

 $(\operatorname{stab}_G(X) \subset \operatorname{stab}_N(X) \cdot G_X)$: If $g \in \operatorname{stab}_G(X)$, then Proposition 4.10 tells us that there is an $n \in N$ such that gy = ny for all $y \in X$, so $n \in \operatorname{stab}_N(X)$. But $g^{-1}n$ fixes every $y \in X$, so $g^{-1}n \in G_X$, i.e., $g \in \operatorname{stab}_N(X) \cdot G_X$.

 $(\operatorname{stab}_N(X) \cdot G_X \subset C \cdot G_X)$: Let $n \in \operatorname{stab}_N(X)$, and suppose $\pi_G(X) = \{x_0\}$. Since n stabilizes $X = \{x_0\} \times (E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$, n must act as a translation in $(E_{\Phi}^*)^{\perp}$. By definition, then, there is a $\lambda \in \Lambda_C$ such that n is translation by $c := \lambda(\varpi) \in C$. Thus $n^{-1}c$ fixes every point in X, i.e., $n^{-1}c \in G_X$. Therefore $n \in C \cdot G_X$.

$$(C \cdot G_X \subset N_G(G_X))$$
: Clear.

4.2. Example: the building of
$$SL_2(k)$$

As an illustration, we analyze the full building of $G = SL_2(k)$. It turns out that \mathcal{B} is the infinite tree¹² whose vertices all have order $q + 1 = |\mathsf{f}| + 1$ — that is, \mathcal{B} is the homogeneous tree of degree q + 1. The apartments are all of the lines (i.e., infinite reduced paths) in this graph. See Figure 4.1. We will use the notation in Example 2.28.

We start by defining the graph structure of \mathcal{B} .

Definition 4.23. Let the set of vertices be the 2-facets (i.e., the special vertices) and let the edges be the 0-facets, in the sense of Definitions 4.16 and 2.31. (Note that "vertices" and "special vertices" are the same thing.) If *F* is an edge, then the endpoints of *F* are $\overline{F} \setminus F$.

By Lemma 4.19, the graph structure is well-defined. Corollary 4.14 tells us that \mathcal{B} is a connected graph.

Definition 4.24. If $x, y \in \mathcal{B}$ are vertices, then a *(reduced) path* from x to y is a finite sequence F_1, \ldots, F_n of edges such that (i) $x \in \overline{F_i} \iff i = 1$ and $y \in \overline{F_i} \iff i = n$, (ii) each $\overline{F_i} \cap \overline{F_{i+1}}$ consists of only one vertex, and (iii) $\overline{F_i} \cap \overline{F_j} = \emptyset$ if $i \neq j \pm 1$. In other words, the path does not cross itself or double back. A *line* in \mathcal{B} is an infinite sequence of edges $\ldots, F_{-1}, F_0, F_1, \ldots$ satisfying (ii) and (iii) above; i.e., a line is an infinite path.

¹²In fact, all Bruhat-Tits buildings are contractible.



Figure 4.1: The building of $SL_2(\mathbf{Q}_2)$.

Note that if x and y are contained in an apartment \mathcal{A} , then there is exactly one path in \mathcal{A} connecting x and y (namely, the interval $[x, y] \subset \mathcal{A} \cong \mathbf{R}$). Our next goal is to show that \mathcal{B} is a tree. We know from Lemma 4.19 that if x and y are vertices both contained in two apartments \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' , then the line segment \overline{xy} in \mathcal{A} is also contained in \mathcal{A}' , so that there is only one path contained in an apartment that connects x and y. It therefore suffices to show that any path between x and y is contained in some apartment.

Lemma 4.25. If ..., F_{-1} , F_0 , F_1 , ... is a line in \mathcal{B} , then there is an apartment \mathcal{A} containing each F_i (so $\mathcal{A} = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \overline{F_i}$). In particular, if $x, y \in \mathcal{B}$ are vertices and F_1, \ldots, F_n is a path connecting x and y, then there is some apartment containing x, y, and each F_i .

Proof.

We prove the second statement first. We will proceed by induction on n. The base case is clear. Assume that F_1, \ldots, F_{n-1} are contained in the standard apartment A, and assume for simplicity that $\overline{F_{n-1}} \cap \overline{F_n} = \{0\} \subset A$, and that $\alpha(y) < 0$ for every $y \in F_i$ with i < n. Let F be the edge in A adjoining 0 that is not F_{n-1} . See Figure 4.2. It suffices to find a $g \in G$ such that $g \in G_{F_i}$ (so that $gF_i = F_i$) for every i < n, and such that $gF = F_n$, because then our path is contained in gA.

Let $\Omega = \{x \in \mathcal{A} : \alpha(x) \leq 0\}$, so that $G_{\Omega} \subset G_{F_i}$ for i < n. (We will find $g \in G_{\Omega}$.) We see that

$$G_{\Omega} = \bigcap_{m \ge 0} \begin{bmatrix} R & \wp^m \\ \wp^{-m} & R \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} R^{\times} & 0 \\ R & R^{\times} \end{bmatrix}.$$

From Proposition 4.17, we can find an $h \in G$ such that $hF = F_n$, and Proposition 4.10



Figure 4.2: The setup in Lemma 4.25.

tells us that h0 = 0 because there is no element of n that sends $H_{\alpha-1}$ to $0 = H_{\alpha+0}$ (cf. Example 2.28). Lemma 4.5 tells us that $h \in G_0$, so we can write $h = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \begin{bmatrix} R & R \\ R & R \end{bmatrix}$. We will find a $g \in G_\Omega$ such that $h^{-1}g \in G_F$, i.e., $gF = hF = F_n$.

Note that $G_F = \begin{bmatrix} R & R \\ \wp & R \end{bmatrix}$. If $a \in \wp$, then $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} h = \begin{bmatrix} c & d \\ -a & -b \end{bmatrix} \in G_F$, so $h \in N \cdot G_F$ and $hF \subset \mathcal{A}$, so hF = F or $hF = F_{n-1}$ (since h fixes 0). In the first case, we are done, and we are assuming the second case cannot happen. Therefore we may assume that $a \notin \wp$. Let y be an element of R such that $ya = c \mod \wp$, and let $g = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ y & 1 \end{bmatrix} \in G_{\Omega}$. Then we have

$$h^{-1}g = \begin{bmatrix} d & -b \\ -c & a \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ y & 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} d-by & -b \\ -c+ay & a \end{bmatrix} \in G_F$$

so we are done.

Now for the first statement. Let $\ldots, F_{-1}, F_0, F_1, \ldots$ be any path, and number the maximal facets in the standard apartment \mathcal{A} in order as $\ldots, F'_{-1}, F'_0, F'_1, \ldots$ Let

$$\Omega_n = \bigcup_{-n \le i \le n} \overline{F}_i$$
 and $\Omega'_n = \bigcup_{-n \le i \le n} \overline{F}'_i$.

By the above, we know that for each n we can find a h_n with $h_nF'_i = F_i$ for each $-n \leq i \leq n$ (we may have to renumber the F'_i in order to do this, because not all vertices are conjugate). The set of $h \in G$ with this property is thus $K_n := h_n G_{\Omega'_n}$. We have that $K_n \subset K_m$ when $n \geq m$, so $K_0 \supset K_1 \supset K_2 \supset \cdots$ is an infinite decreasing sequence of nonempty closed sets contained in K_0 . If the intersection $K = \bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} K_n$ were empty, then $\{K_0 \setminus K_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ would form an open cover of K_0 . Since $K_0 = h_0 G_{F'_0}$ is compact, this cover would have a finite subcover, which would imply that some $K_n = \emptyset$, a contradiction. Therefore $K \neq \emptyset$, so if $h \in K$, then $hF'_i = F_i$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$. Therefore our line is contained in $h \cdot A$.

Now we know that \mathcal{B} is a tree whose lines are the apartments. It remains to find the order of the vertices.

Lemma 4.26. The order of any vertex in \mathcal{B} is $|\mathsf{f}| + 1 = q + 1$.

Proof.

Let $x \in \mathcal{B}$ be a vertex, and assume for simplicity that x is the origin in the standard apartment \mathcal{A} . Let F be the edge adjoining x such that $\alpha(y) > 0$ for $y \in F$, as in the proof of Lemma 4.25. Note that $G_x = \begin{bmatrix} R & R \\ R & R \end{bmatrix}$ and $G_F = \begin{bmatrix} R & R \\ \wp & R \end{bmatrix} \subset G_x$. The edges adjoining x correspond to the cosets G_x/G_F , as follows: if gF adjoins x, then as in the proof of Lemma 4.25, gx = x, so $g \in G_x$; also, gF = hF iff $g^{-1}hF = F$ iff $g^{-1}h \in G_F$. Therefore it suffices to find coset representatives of G_x/G_F .¹³

We claim that $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ and $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ t & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ for $t \in R/\wp$ are such coset representatives. Let $g = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in G_x$ be arbitrary. If $a \in \wp$, then $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} c & d \\ -a & -b \end{bmatrix} \in G_F$. If $a \notin \wp$, then let $t \in R$ be an element such that $ta = c \mod \wp$, so that $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} c & d \\ -a & -b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in G_F$. An easy calculation shows that none of our coset representatives is equivalent mod G_F , so we are done.

In summary, we have:

Theorem 4.27. The building $\mathcal{B}(SL_2(k))$ is the infinite tree whose vertices all have order $q + 1 = |\mathsf{f}| + 1$. The apartments are the lines in this graph, which are therefore in one-to-one correspondence with the conjugates of *T*.

5. An application of the building to representation theory

The Bruhat-Tits building offers us a more detailed understanding of the structure theory of our groups, and gives us a convenient way to visualize that structure. This in turn enables us to think in new ways about anything relating to our groups; in particular, about *p*-adic representation theory. Moy and Prasad found one of the first important applications of the theory of the building to the representation theory of *p*-adic Chevalley groups. They defined a notion of the depth of an irreducible admissible complex representations of *G* via Bruhat-Tits theory. In this chapter, we present this classification, along with the full example of SL_2 in Section 5.3.

For an alternate approach, see Morris [Mor99], who has proved the same result using Hecke algebras.

5.1. The depth of a representation

We have been stating that our goal is to find super-cuspidal representations of G by inducing from compact open subgroups. Moy and Prasad's theory of unrefined minimal K-types is one attempt at determining from which representations we should be inducing. In summary, the depth of a representation of G is how "deep" we must look into a filtration of the subgroups G_x before we find nontrivial fixed vectors. Most of the material presented in this section is for context; we will only be interested in depth-zero representations.

First we must define the Moy-Prasad filtration of the parahoric subgroups.

Definition 5.1. In the notation of Definition 3.1, for any nonnegative real number r and any $x \in A$, we define

$$G_{x,r} = \langle T(1 + \wp^{\lceil r \rceil}), \ \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(\wp^{-\lfloor \alpha(x) - r \rfloor}) : \ \alpha \in \Phi \rangle \subset G_x.$$
$$G_{x,r^+} = \langle T(1 + \wp^{\lfloor r \rfloor + 1}), \ \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}(\wp^{1 - \lceil \alpha(x) - r \rceil}) : \ \alpha \in \Phi \rangle \subset G_{x,r}.$$

¹³Note that $G_x/G_F \cong G/B$, where B is the image of G_F in G, and is thus a Borel subgroup. Thus Lemma 4.26 really follows from the fact that G/B is isomorphic as an algebraic variety to the projective space $\mathbf{P}^1(f)$. (In general, a parabolic subgroup of an algebraic group G of the type that we are considering is a subgroup P such that the quotient G/P is projective.)

Example 5.2. Consider $G = SL_2(k)$, with root space $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & k \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ (cf. Example 2.28). Some of the filtration subgroups $G_{x,r}$ are given in Figure 5.1. Note that in general, the group $G_{x,r}$ does not depend only on the facet containing x; rather, the group changes when one crosses a line at which $r \pm \alpha(x)$ is an integer. Also note that $G_{x,r^+} = G_{x,r+\epsilon}$, where ϵ is very small. As for the groups $G_{x,r}$ with (x,r) on the lines: at the points (x,r), (y,s), and (z,t) in the Figure, we have

$$G_{x,r} = \begin{bmatrix} 1+\wp & \wp^2 \\ R & 1+\wp \end{bmatrix} \qquad G_{y,s} = \begin{bmatrix} 1+\wp & \wp \\ \wp^2 & 1+\wp \end{bmatrix} \qquad G_{z,t} = \begin{bmatrix} 1+\wp^2 & \wp^2 \\ \wp^2 & 1+\wp^2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Note that if (x, r) is on a line, then $G_{x,r} = G_{x,r-\epsilon}$, where ϵ is very small.



Figure 5.1: Some Moy-Prasad filtration subgroups for $SL_2(k)$. The affine apartment for $SL_2(k)$ is the bottom line in the figure.

Remark 5.3. There are several things to note about Definition 5.1:

- $G_{x,r} \subset G_{x,s}$ when r > s.
- $G_{x,0} = G_x$ and $G_{x,0^+} = G_x^+$.
- For any $g \in G$, one can put $G_{g \cdot x,r} = gG_{x,r}g^{-1}$ and $G_{g \cdot x,r^+} = gG_{x,r^+}g^{-1}$, thus defining these objects for all $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$.
- One can show that G_{x,r^+} is always normal in $G_{x,r}$, and that the quotient is always finite, and is abelian if r > 0.
- For any $x \in \mathcal{B}$ and $r \ge 0$, there is an $\epsilon \ge 0$ such that $G_{x,r^+} = G_{x,r+\epsilon}$.

- It is relatively easy to see that for any $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$, the $G_{x,r}$ form a neighborhood basis of the identity in G consisting of compact open subgroups.
- The obvious analog of Proposition 3.10(ii) holds for any $G_{x,r}$; Propositions 3.10(i) and 3.12(i) hold upon replacing G_x^+ with $G_{x,r}$ if r > 0.

The subgroups $G_{x,r}$ are called the **Moy-Prasad filtration subgroups**. The minimal r such that a representation has nontrivial $G_{x,r+}$ -fixed vectors turns out to be an important property of the representation:

Theorem 5.4 ([MP94, Theorem 5.2]). If (π, V) is any smooth representation of G, then there is a nonnegative rational number $r = \varrho(\pi)$ with the property that r is the minimal number such that $V^{G_{x,r^+}}$ is nonzero for some $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$.

With the above theorem in mind, we can define:

Definition 5.5. The *depth* of an admissible irreducible representation π of *G* is the number $r = \rho(\pi)$.

Therefore, a depth-zero irreducible super-cuspidal representation is an irreducible supercuspidal representation (π, V) of G such that $V^{G_x^+} \neq \{0\}$ for some $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$ (see Definition 1.1).

Definition 5.6. A *depth-zero minimal* K-*type* is a pair (G_x, τ) , where $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$ and τ is a cuspidal representation (cf. Definition 1.2) of the finite group G_x , inflated to G_x .

It turns out that any depth-zero irreducible super-cuspidal representation (π, V) with G_x^+ fixed vectors contains a depth-zero minimal K-type on restriction to $V^{G_x^+}$. This a somewhat surprising relation between the notion of a super-cuspidal representation of G and a cuspidal representation of G. The relation goes the other way too: we will show that all depthzero irreducible super-cuspidal representations (π, V) of G can be obtained by inducing a depth-zero minimal K-type from a vertex x.

5.2. The main result

We will classify all depth-zero irreducible super-cuspidal representations (π, V) of G in two steps. First we will show that if $V^{G_x^+}$ is nonzero, then x is a vertex, i.e., G_x is a maximal parahoric. Second, we will show that if (G_x, τ) is a depth-zero minimal K-type and x is a vertex, then the irreducible super-cuspidal representations which contain τ on restriction to G_x (which are thus necessarily depth-zero since the space of G_x^+ -fixed vectors is nonzero) are exactly those representations obtained by induction from an irreducible representation of $N_G(G_x)$ that contains τ on restriction to G_x .

The first step is as follows. Let G_x be a nonmaximal parahoric subgroup of G (i.e., x is not a vertex), and choose an apartment $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}(G, T)$ containing x. Let M(x) be the generalized Levi subgroup associated with x and T, and let $M \subset G$ be a proper Levi subgroup containing M(x) (we can find one of these by Lemma B.5). Let P be a (proper) parabolic subgroup with Levi decomposition P = MU, and assume that P is standard; let $\overline{P} = M\overline{U}$ be the opposite parabolic with respect to M.

During the proof of the following theorem, we will keep this specific example in mind:

suppose $G = SL_3(k)$, with the notation as in Example 2.14. Suppose that x is as in Figure 5.2, so that $M = M(x) \cong GL_2(k)$, as in Example 2.29. Thus we have

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} * & * \\ * & * \end{bmatrix} \quad P = \begin{bmatrix} * & * & * \\ * & * & * \\ * & * \end{bmatrix} \quad U = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & * \\ 1 & * \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \quad \overline{P} = \begin{bmatrix} * & * \\ * & * \\ * & * & * \end{bmatrix} \quad \overline{U} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ * & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$



Figure 5.2: The setup in the proof of Theorem 5.7.

Theorem 5.7 ([MP96, Prop. 6.7]). Let (π, V) be an irreducible admissible representation of *G*. Then the natural projection map

$$J: V^{G_x^+} \to V_U^{M_x^-}$$

onto the Jacquet module is an isomorphism.

Proof.

Since G_x^+ has an Iwahori factorization with respect to P = MU and since $M_x^+ = M \cap G_x^+$, Jacquet's Lemma [Cas, Theorem 3.3.3] tells us that J is a well-defined surjective map.

If $v \in V^{G_x^+}$ is nonzero, then the goal is to prove that $v \notin V(U)$. By [BZ76, Lemma 2.33], $v \in V(U)$ if and only if $\int_K \pi(x)v \, dx = 0$ for some compact open subgroup $K \subset U$. We observe that if $K_1 \subset K_2$ are both compact open subgroups of U and $\int_{K_1} \pi(x)v \, dx = 0$ then

$$\int_{K_2} \pi(x) v \, dx = \sum_{\overline{g} \in K_2/K_1} \int_{gK_1} \pi(x) v \, dx = \sum_{\overline{g} \in K_2/K_1} \pi(g) \int_{K_1} \pi(x) v \, dx = 0$$

where the (finite) sum runs over some set of coset representatives for K_2/K_1 . Therefore if $K_1 \subset K_2 \subset \cdots$ are compact open subgroups of U such that $\bigcup_n K_n = U$, it suffices to show that $\int_{K_n} \pi(x) v \, dx \neq 0$ for all n.

We will find such K_n using the building. Intuitively, what we will do is the following: if we move away from x on a path x(t) in a direction orthogonal to the reduced apartment of M, then the U part of $G_{x(t)}$ will grow larger — that is, the compact open subgroup $U \cap G_{x(t)}$ will eventually contain every element of U. Then we will only have to show that

$$\int_{U \cap G_{x(t)}} \pi(x) v \, dx \neq 0 \tag{5.1}$$

for all t. We will prove that the integral (5.1) is never zero by contradiction: we will suppose that there were some smallest t for which it is zero, then we will use a fact about the representation theory of finite groups of Lie type to show that, in fact, (5.1) is nonzero for slightly larger t.

Our first task is to define the path x(t). In our example of $SL_3(k)$, choose a $\lambda \in \mathcal{A}(SL_3(k))$ orthogonal to $\mathcal{A}^{red}(M)$, such that $\beta(\lambda) > 0$, as indicated in Figure 5.2. Let $x(t) = x + t\lambda$. Since $\lambda \perp \alpha$, the only generators of $G_{x(t)}$ that will change with t are those corresponding to the roots $\pm \beta, \pm (\alpha + \beta)$, so each $G_{x(t)} \cap M = M_x$. At the point x, we have

$$G_x = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ R & R & R \\ \wp & \wp & R \end{bmatrix} \qquad M_x = \begin{bmatrix} R & R \\ R & R \\ R & R \end{bmatrix}.$$

At times t_1 and t_2 in the figure, we have

$$G_{x(t_1)} = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & \varphi^{-1} \\ R & R & \varphi^{-1} \\ \varphi & \varphi & R \end{bmatrix} \qquad G_{x(t_2)} = \begin{bmatrix} R & R & \varphi^{-2} \\ R & R & \varphi^{-2} \\ \varphi^2 & \varphi^2 & R \end{bmatrix}$$

so that

$$G_{x(t_1)} \cap U = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \wp^{-1} \\ 1 & \wp^{-1} \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \qquad G_{x(t_2)} \cap U = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \wp^{-2} \\ 1 & \wp^{-2} \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

In general, we will have

$$G_{x(t)} \cap U = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \wp^{-m} \\ 1 & \wp^{-m} \\ & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

with $m \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$, so that $\bigcup_{t \to \infty} G_{x(t)} \cap U = U$.

It is not hard to find such a path x(t) in the general case. Let Φ_M be the root system of M; we know that $\check{\Phi}_M$ does not span $\mathcal{A}_s^{\text{red}}$ by Lemma B.5. Fix a $\lambda \in \mathcal{A}_s^{\text{red}}$ such that $\langle \alpha, \lambda \rangle = 0$ for every $\alpha \in \Phi_M$ — i.e., λ is orthogonal to $\mathcal{A}_s^{\text{red}}(M) \subsetneq \mathcal{A}_s^{\text{red}}$ — and such that $\langle \alpha, \lambda \rangle > 0$ for every $\alpha \in \Phi^+ \setminus \Phi_M$. Note that $\Phi^+ \setminus \Phi_M$ consist of the roots whose root spaces generate U. Consider the ray $x(t) = x + t\lambda$ for $t \ge 0$, starting at xand traveling in the λ direction in \mathcal{A} . It is important to note that for any nonnegative $t \in \mathbf{R}$, the set $\Phi_{x(t)}$ will contain Φ_x because $\langle \alpha, x(t) \rangle$ does not change for $\alpha \in \Phi_x$. Since $\langle \alpha, x(t) \rangle$ changes linearly with t for $\alpha \notin \Phi_x$, we will have $\Phi_{x(t)} = \Phi_x$ for all t except for a discrete set $t = t_1, t_2, \ldots$ with $t_i \to \infty$. These are the t at which x(t) crosses a hyperplane. Confer Figure 5.2.

Set $U_{x(t)} = U \cap G_{x(t)}$ and $\overline{U}_{x(t)} = \overline{U} \cap G_{x(t)}$. Proposition 3.10(ii) tells us that if $s \ge t$, then

$$U_{x(s)} \supset U_{x(t)}$$
 and $\overline{U}_{x(s)} \subset \overline{U}_{x(t)}$.

Since every element of U has a unique expression of the form (3.2), it is easy to see that, as in the case of $SL_3(k)$, U is the union of the nested compact open subgroups

 $U_{x(t)}$. Note that our Haar measure on U can thus be taken to be bi-invariant (cf. [BZ76, Prop. 1.19(b)]).

Checking root systems and using Proposition 3.10(ii), we find that G_x^+ has an Iwahori decomposition (Proposition 3.12(i)) into

$$G_x^+ = U_{x(0)} M_x^+ \overline{U}_{x(0)}$$

Since v is fixed under G_x^+ , then, we have $\int_{U_{x(0)}} \pi(x) v \, dx \neq 0$. Now suppose that there were some t > 0 such that

$$\int_{U_{x(t)}} \pi(x) v \, dx = 0. \tag{5.2}$$

One can check that $U_{x(t)}$ does not change on the regions $0 \le t < t_1$ and $t_i \le t < t_{i+1}$ for $i \ge 1$. Therefore there is a minimal t — call it s — such that (5.2) holds, and this s is one of the distinguished times t_i .

Let y = x(s), $U_y = U_{x(s)}$, and $\overline{U}_y = \overline{U}_{x(s)}$. Let $G_{y^-} = G_{x(t)}$ for t slightly less than s (so that the facet containing x(t) contains y in its closure), let $G_{y^+} = G_{x(t)}$ for t slightly greater than s, and define $U_{y^-}, U_{y^+}, \overline{U}_{y^-}$, and \overline{U}_{y^+} similarly. In our example, if $s = t_1$, then

$$\begin{split} G_{y} &= \begin{bmatrix} R & R & \varphi^{-1} \\ R & R & \varphi^{-1} \\ \varphi & \varphi & R \end{bmatrix} \qquad \qquad G_{y}^{+} &= \begin{bmatrix} 1+\varphi & \varphi & R \\ \varphi & 1+\varphi & R \\ \varphi^{2} & \varphi^{2} & 1+\varphi \end{bmatrix} \\ G_{y^{-}} &= \begin{bmatrix} R & R & R \\ R & R & R \\ \varphi & \varphi & R \end{bmatrix} \qquad \qquad G_{y^{+}}^{+} &= \begin{bmatrix} 1+\varphi & \varphi & R \\ \varphi & 1+\varphi & R \\ \varphi & \varphi & 1+\varphi \end{bmatrix} \\ G_{y^{+}} &= \begin{bmatrix} R & R & \varphi^{-1} \\ R & R & \varphi^{-1} \\ \varphi^{2} & \varphi^{2} & R \end{bmatrix} \qquad \qquad G_{y^{+}}^{+} &= \begin{bmatrix} 1+\varphi & \varphi & \varphi^{-1} \\ \varphi & 1+\varphi & \varphi^{-1} \\ \varphi^{2} & \varphi^{2} & 1+\varphi \end{bmatrix}$$

As the example makes clear, we see that as before, we have Iwahori decompositions

$$G_{y^-}^+ = U_{y^-} M_x^+ \overline{U}_{y^-}$$
 and $G_{y^+}^+ = U_{y^+} M_x^+ \overline{U}_{y^+}.$

Also, by Proposition 3.22, the image of G_{y^-} in $G_y = G_y/G_y^+$ is a parabolic subgroup $\overline{\mathsf{P}}_y$, and the image of G_{y^+} in G_y is the opposite parabolic P_y . In addition, $G_{y^-}^+$ is the inverse image in G_y of the unipotent radical $\overline{\mathsf{U}}_y$ of $\overline{\mathsf{P}}_y$, and $G_{y^+}^+$ is the inverse image on G_y of the inipotent radical U_y of P_y . In our example,

$$\overline{\mathsf{P}}_{y} = G_{y^{-}}/G_{y}^{+} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix} \qquad \overline{\mathsf{U}}_{y} = G_{y^{-}}^{+}/G_{y}^{+} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\mathsf{P}_{y} = G_{y^{+}}/G_{y}^{+} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} \\ \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} & \mathsf{f} \end{bmatrix} \qquad \mathsf{U}_{y} = G_{y^{+}}^{+}/G_{y}^{+} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \mathsf{f} \\ 1 & 1 & \mathsf{f} \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} .$$

Set

$$w := \int_{G_{y^-}^+} \pi(x) v \, dx.$$

Since $\overline{U}_{y^-} \subset \overline{U}_{x(0)} \subset G_x^+$, we have that v is fixed by $M_x^+ \overline{U}_{y^-}$, so

$$w = \int_{U_{y^{-}}M_{x}^{+}\overline{U}_{y^{-}}} \pi(x)v \, dx = \text{meas}(M_{x}^{+}\overline{U}_{y^{-}}) \int_{U_{y^{-}}} \pi(x)v \, dx \neq 0$$

since *s* is the minimal *t* for which the integral (5.2) is zero. Let (τ, W) be the natural (finite-dimensional) representation of G_y obtained by restricting π to $V^{G_y^+}$ and passing to the quotient $G_y = G_y/G_y^+$. Since *w* is fixed by $G_{y^-}^+$, we have that $w \in W^{\overline{U}_y}$. There is a result about the representation theory of finite groups of Lie type, proved in [HL94] (but cf. [MP96, Prop. 6.1(2)]), which says that integration of $\tau(x)v$ over U_y defines an isomorphism of $W^{\overline{U}_y}$ with W^{U_y} . Therefore, since $w \neq 0$, we have

$$\begin{split} 0 &\neq \int_{U_y} \tau(\mathbf{x}) w \, d\mathbf{x} \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{G_{y^+}^+} \pi(x) w \, dx \qquad (\mathrm{since} \ G_{y^+}^+ \ \mathrm{projects} \ \mathrm{onto} \ \mathsf{U}_y) \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} M_x^+ \overline{U}_{y^+} \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} \pi(x) w \, dx \qquad (\mathrm{since} \ G_{y^-}^+ \supset M_x^+ \overline{U}_{y^+} \ \mathrm{fixes} \ w) \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} \int_{U_{y^-}} \pi(xy) v \, dy \, dx \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^-}} \int_{U_{y^+}} \pi(xy) v \, dx \, dy \qquad (\mathrm{by \ Fubini's \ theorem)} \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} \pi(x) v \, dx \qquad (\mathrm{since} \ U_{y^-} \subset U_{y^+} \ \mathrm{and \ our \ Haar} \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} \pi(x) v \, dx \qquad (\mathrm{since} \ U_{y^-} \subset U_{y^+} \ \mathrm{and \ our \ Haar} \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} \pi(x) v \, dx \qquad (\mathrm{since} \ U_{y^-} \subset U_{y^+} \ \mathrm{and \ our \ Haar} \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} \pi(x) v \, dx \qquad (\mathrm{since} \ U_{y^-} \subset U_{y^+} \ \mathrm{and \ our \ Haar} \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} \pi(x) v \, dx \qquad (\mathrm{since} \ U_{y^-} \subset U_{y^+} \ \mathrm{and \ our \ Haar} \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} \pi(x) v \, dx \qquad (\mathrm{since} \ U_{y^-} \subset U_{y^+} \ \mathrm{and \ our \ Haar} \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} \pi(x) v \, dx \qquad (\mathrm{since} \ U_{y^-} \subset U_{y^+} \ \mathrm{and \ our \ Haar} \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} \pi(x) v \, dx \qquad (\mathrm{since} \ U_{y^-} \subset U_{y^+} \ \mathrm{and \ our \ Haar} \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} \pi(x) v \, dx \qquad (\mathrm{since} \ U_{y^-} \subset U_{y^+} \ \mathrm{and \ our \ Haar} \\ &= (\mathrm{const}) \cdot \int_{U_{y^+}} \pi(x) v \, dx \qquad (\mathrm{const} \ \mathrm{const} \ \mathrm{const}$$

This contradicts our assumption that $\int_{U_{x(s)}} \pi(x) v \, dx = 0$. Therefore

$$\int_{U_{x(t)}} \pi(x) v \, dx \neq 0$$

for all $t \ge 0$, so $v \notin V(U)$ and the theorem is proved.

Corollary 5.8. Let (π, V) be a depth-zero irreducible super-cuspidal representation of *G*.

- (i) $V^{G_x^+}$ can only be non-zero when x is a vertex. In other words, the depth-zero minimal K-types contained in V come from maximal parahorics.
- (ii) Any irreducible subrepresentation of the natural finite-dimensional representation (τ, W) of G_x obtained by restricting π to $V^{G_x^+}$ is cuspidal.

Proof.

- (i) First note that since (π, V) is irreducible and smooth then by [Jac75], (π, V) is admissible. Suppose x ∈ B(G) with G_x nonmaximal. If V^{G⁺_x} ≠ {0}, then by Theorem 5.7, V^{M⁺_x} ≠ {0} for a nonmaximal parabolic P with Levi decomposition MU. But V_U = {0} when V is super-cuspidal, so this cannot happen; therefore G_x is a maximal parahoric.
- (ii) Let P be a proper parabolic subgroup of G_x with Levi decomposition MU, and let $v \in W$. It suffices to show that $v \in W(U)$, or equivalently,

$$\sum_{\mathsf{u}\in\mathsf{U}}\tau(\mathsf{u})v=0\tag{5.3}$$

(this result is analogous to [BZ76, Lemma 2.33]; see [Car85, p.293]). Assume without loss of generality that x is in the standard apartment \mathcal{A} of G. Let $y_0 \in \mathcal{A}_s(\mathsf{G}_x)$ be a vector such that $\mathsf{P} = \mathsf{P}_{y_0}$; note that $y_0 \neq 0$ (cf. Proposition 2.13). By the results in Section 3.2, the vector y_0 corresponds to some point $y \in \mathcal{A}$ near x. The point y is not a vertex, so by part (i), $V^{G_y^+} = \{0\}$. But G_y^+ is the inverse image in G_x of U, and the sum (5.3) is U-invariant, so (5.3) must be zero.

Now we can move on to the second step of our classification, i.e., we will actually induce any depth-zero irreducible super-cuspidal representation of G from a cuspidal representation of a maximal parahoric. This will require doing quite a bit of representation theory first.

Notation 5.9. In the rest of this section, we fix a depth-zero minimal K-type (G_x, σ) , where x is a vertex. Let $F_x = N_G(G_x)$, and let $\mathcal{E}(\sigma)$ be the irreducible representations of F_x (up to equivalence) which contain σ on restriction to G_x .

We also remind the reader about our notation for induction and compact induction (cf. Page 4):

- **Notation 5.10.** We define ind and Ind to be the compact induction and induction functors, respectively.
- **Remark 5.11.** One can partition $\mathcal{E}(\sigma)$ into finitely many equivalence classes by setting $\tau_1 \sim \tau_2$ if there is an unramified character χ of *G* (cf. [Cas, §1.6]) such that $\tau_1 = \tau_2 \otimes \chi$. Note that $\operatorname{ind}_{F_r}^G(\tau \otimes \chi) = (\operatorname{ind}_{F_r}^G \tau) \otimes \chi$.

Proposition 4.22(ii) implies the following:

Corollary 5.12. If $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$ is a vertex, then $F_x = C \cdot G_x$ is compact mod C, and therefore *it is compact mod its center.*

There are several things to note about the elements of $\mathcal{E}(\sigma)$.

Lemma 5.13. Let $\tau \in \mathcal{E}(\sigma)$.

- (i) The elements of $\mathcal{E}(\sigma)$ are exactly the irreducible components of $\operatorname{Ind}_{G_m}^{F_x} \sigma$.
- (ii) τ is finite-dimensional.
- (iii) τ is trivial on G_x^+ . The natural representation τ of G_x satisfies the property

$$\sum_{\mathsf{u}\in\mathsf{U}}\tau(\mathsf{u})=0$$

when U is the unipotent radical of any proper parabolic subgroup of G_x .

Proof.

The first statement follows from Frobenius reciprocity and the fact that G_x is compact. Let $\tau \in \mathcal{E}(\sigma)$, and let V_{τ} be a representation space for τ . Since F_x is compact modulo its center and τ is irreducible and smooth, we have $V_{\tau} = \langle g \cdot v : g \in F_x \rangle$ is finitedimensional for any $v \in V_{\tau}$. Let (π, V) be the induced representation $\operatorname{Ind}_{G_x}^{F_x} \sigma$. It suffices to prove the third statement for π . Let X be the (minimal) facet containing x. We have that if $g \in F_x = \operatorname{stab}_G(X)$, then $gG_X^+g^{-1} = G_X^+$. Therefore if $f \in V$, $g \in F_x$, and $h \in G_x^+$, then

$$(h \cdot f)(g) = f(gh) = \sigma(ghg^{-1}) \cdot f(g) = f(g)$$

as required. Therefore $(\operatorname{res}_{G_x} \pi, V)$ is naturally a representation of G_x . If $U \subset G_x$ is the unipotent radical of any proper parabolic subgroup of G_x , then since σ is cuspidal, we have [Car85, p.293]

$$\sum_{\mathsf{u}\in\mathsf{U}}\sigma(\mathsf{u})=0.$$

If $g \in F_x$, then Proposition 4.22(ii) says that $g = c \cdot h$ for some $c \in C$ and $h \in G_x$. Therefore the automorphism $x \mapsto g \times g^{-1} : G_x \xrightarrow{\sim} G_x$ is an inner automorphism, so $g \cup g^{-1}$ is the unipotent radical of a proper parabolic subgroup of G_x as well. (Alternately, if U is the unipotent radical of the parabolic subgroup corresponding to some $y_0 \in \mathcal{A}_s(G_x)$, then $g \cup g^{-1}$ is the unipotent radical of the parabolic subgroup corresponding to $g \cdot y_0$.) Thus if $f \in V$, we have

$$\sum_{\mathbf{u}\in\mathbf{U}}(\mathbf{u}\cdot f)(g) = \sum_{\mathbf{u}\in\mathbf{U}}\sigma(g\mathbf{u}g^{-1})\cdot f(g) = \sum_{\mathbf{u}\in g\mathbf{U}g^{-1}}\sigma(\mathbf{u})\cdot f(g) = 0.$$

An immediate consequence of Lemma 5.13 is the following:

Lemma 5.14. Let $\tau \in \mathcal{E}(\sigma)$ have representation space V_{τ} , and let $H \subset G_x$ be a subgroup whose image in G_x contains the unipotent radical of some proper parabolic subgroup. Then $V_{\tau}^H = \{0\}$.

Proof.

Suppose that $U \subset G_x$ is a unipotent radical of a proper parabolic subgroup contained in the image of H in G_x , and let $v \in V_{\tau}^H$. Then

$$|\mathsf{U}| \cdot v = \sum_{\mathsf{u} \in \mathsf{U}} \tau(\mathsf{u}) \cdot v = 0$$

by Lemma 5.13. Therefore v = 0.

Corollary 5.15. Let the notation be as in Lemma 5.14, let $y \in \mathcal{B}(G)$, and let $r \ge 0$. There is some constant c > 0 independent of y and r such that if $V_{\tau}^{G_x \cap G_{y,r}} \neq \{0\}$, then $d(x,y) \le c \cdot r$. In particular, if $V_{\tau}^{G_x \cap G_y^+} \neq \{0\}$, then y = x.

Proof.

First we need to establish a geometric fact. Consider the unit sphere $S^{\ell-1} \subset \mathcal{A}_s^{\text{red}}$. For a subset $\Theta \subset \Delta$ and any $\epsilon > 0$, let

$$H_{\Theta,\epsilon} = \{ x \in \mathcal{A}_s^{\text{red}} : \alpha(x) < \epsilon \text{ for all } \alpha \in \Theta. \}$$

and let $H_{\Theta} = H_{\Theta,0} = \mathcal{A}_s^{\text{red}} \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha \in \Theta} H_{\alpha})$. If $\Theta \subset \Delta$ with $|\Theta| = \ell - 1$, then $H_{\Theta} \cap S^{\ell-1}$ consists of two points. Therefore if $\{\alpha\} = \Delta \setminus \Theta$, then there is an $\epsilon > 0$ such $H_{\Theta,\epsilon} \cap S^{\ell-1}$

-	-	

does not intersect $H_{\{\alpha\},\epsilon} \cap S^{\ell-1}$. Since Δ is finite, we can choose ϵ such that the above is true for any $\alpha \in \Delta$.

Continuing with the proof, let $y \in \mathcal{B}(G)$ be arbitrary, and choose an apartment \mathcal{A}' containing x and y. Consider the vector $v = y - x \in \mathcal{A}_s$; let w be the unit vector in the direction of v. Choose a Weyl chamber $D \subset \mathcal{A}_s$ such that $y \in x + \overline{D}$, and let Δ be the set of simple roots corresponding to D, so that $\alpha(v) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \Delta$. By the previous paragraph, there is some $\epsilon > 0$ and some $\alpha \in \Delta$ such that $\alpha(w) \ge \epsilon$. Let $\Theta = \Delta \setminus \{\alpha\}$, and let $P = P_{\Theta}$ as in Section 2.1; write U for the unipotent radical of P. The group Uis generated by root spaces \mathfrak{X}_{β} such that $\beta(w) \ge \epsilon$, i.e., $\beta(y - x) \ge \epsilon \cdot d(x, y)$. But by Remark 5.3, we know that

$$G_{y,r} \cap U = \prod_{\beta \in \Phi^+ \setminus \Theta} \mathfrak{X}_{\beta}(\wp^{-\lfloor \beta(y) - r \rfloor}) \supset \prod_{\beta \in \Phi^+ \setminus \Theta} \mathfrak{X}_{\beta}(\wp^{-\lfloor \beta(x) + \epsilon \cdot d(x, y) - r \rfloor})$$

so if $d(x, y) > r/\epsilon$, then $G_{y,r} \cap G_x \cap U = G_x \cap U$. But $G_x \cap U$ projects onto the unipotent radical of the parabolic in G_x corresponding to P, so by Lemma 5.14, we have $V^{G_x \cap G_{y,r}} = \{0\}$.

Using the above, we may prove some key facts about $\operatorname{ind}_{F_{\tau}}^{G} \tau$ for $\tau \in \mathcal{E}(\sigma)$.

Lemma 5.16. Let $\tau \in \mathcal{E}(\sigma)$.

(i) $\operatorname{ind}_{F_{\tau}}^{G} \tau$ is an admissible and semisimple *G*-module.

(ii) If $\operatorname{Hom}_{F_x}(\tau, \operatorname{res}_{F_x} \operatorname{ind}_{F_x}^G \tau)$ is one-dimensional, then $\operatorname{ind}_{F_x}^G \tau$ is irreducible.

Proof.

Let (π, V) be the induced representation $\operatorname{ind}_{F_x}^G \tau$, and let V_{τ} be a representation space for τ .

(i) In order to show admissibility it suffices to show that $V^{G_{x,r}}$ is finite-dimensional for any r > 0 (cf. Remark 5.3). One has

$$(\operatorname{ind}_{F_x}^G \tau)^{G_{x,r}} = \bigoplus_{\sigma \in F_x \backslash G/G_{x,r}} V_{\tau}^{F_x \cap g_\sigma G_{x,r} g_\sigma^{-1}} = \bigoplus_{\sigma \in F_x \backslash G/G_{x,r}} V_{\tau}^{G_x \cap G_{g_\sigma \cdot x,r}}$$

where g_{σ} is any representative of the double coset $\sigma \in F_x \setminus G/G_{x,r}$ (cf. [BZ76, Lemma 2.24]). However, by Corollaries 5.15 and 4.21, only a finite number of the above summands is nonzero, so since V_{τ} is finite-dimensional, $V^{G_{x,r}}$ must be finite-dimensional as well.

Since τ is irreducible, Schur's Lemma tells us that the center Z of F_x acts by a character on τ , and therefore on V. As in [Cas, Lemma 5.2.5], then, one can find a real-valued character χ of G such that Z acts by a unitary character on $\chi \otimes \pi$. Thus since taking the tensor product with a character does not affect semisimplicity, we may assume without loss of generality that τ , and therefore π , is unitary. But any admissible unitary representation is semisimple (cf. [Cas, Prop. 2.1.14]), so we are done.

(ii) We continue to assume that π is unitary. Suppose that W ⊂ V is a proper G-subrepresentation, so Hom_G(W, V) = Hom_G(W, ind^G_{Fx} τ) ≠ {0}. Frobenius reciprocity thus gives Hom_{Fx}(res_{Fx} W, τ) ≠ 0, so since V is semisimple, W is too, so τ embeds into res_{Fx} W. But semisimplicity also gives V = W⊕W[⊥] as G-submodules, so Hom_{Fx}(τ, res_{Fx} V) is at least two-dimensional.

Now we can prove the main theorem.

Theorem 5.17 ([MP96, Prop. 6.6]). Given $\tau \in \mathcal{E}(\sigma)$, the representation $\operatorname{ind}_{F_x}^G \tau$ is an irreducible super-cuspidal representation of G. Moreover, any irreducible representation of G which contains σ on restriction to G_x is isomorphic to $\operatorname{ind}_{F_x}^G \tau$ for some $\tau \in \mathcal{E}(\sigma)$.

Proof.

Let (π, V) be the induced representation $\operatorname{ind}_{F_x}^G \tau$. If π is irreducible, then by [Mau64], it is super-cuspidal, so by Lemma 5.16, it suffices to show that $\operatorname{Hom}_{F_x}(\tau, \operatorname{res}_{F_x} \pi) = \mathbb{C}$. Let $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}(G/\!/F_x, \tau)$ be the Hecke algebra, i.e., the space of all $\varphi : G \to \operatorname{End}(V_\tau)$ such that (a) φ has compact support mod F_x , and (b) $\varphi(hgh') = \tau(h)\varphi(g)\tau(h')$ for all $h, h' \in F_x$ and $g \in G$. It is easy to show that the map $\mathcal{H}(G/\!/F_x, \tau) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{F_x}(\tau, \operatorname{res}_{F_x} \pi)$ taking $\varphi \mapsto \psi_{\varphi}$ given by $\psi_{\varphi}(v)(g) = \varphi(g)v$ is a natural isomorphism, so it suffices to show that $\mathcal{H}(G/\!/F_x, \tau) = \mathbb{C}$. Let $\mathcal{H}(F_xgF_x)$ be the subspace of \mathcal{H} consisting of functions with support in the double coset F_xgF_x , so that \mathcal{H} is the direct sum of all $\mathcal{H}(F_xgF_x)$, as g ranges through representatives of the double cosets $F_x \backslash G/F_x$. We will show that $\mathcal{H}(F_xgF_x) = \{0\}$ unless $F_xgF_x = F_x$; note that $\mathcal{H}(F_x)$ is one-dimensional because it consists of scalar multiples of the map $h \mapsto \tau(h)$.

Let F_xgF_x be an arbitrary double coset, and let $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(F_xgF_x)$ be nonzero, so $\varphi(g) \neq 0$. If ghg^{-1} is any element of $G_x \cap gG_x^+g^{-1} = G_x \cap G_{gx}^+$, then we have

$$\tau(ghg^{-1})\varphi(g) = \varphi(gh) = \varphi(g)\tau(h) = \varphi(g)$$

because τ is trivial on G_x^+ . Therefore $\varphi(g) \in V^{G_x \cap G_{gx}^+}$, so by Corollary 5.15, we must have gx = x, i.e., $g \in F_x$. Thus \mathcal{H} is one-dimensional and π is irreducible and supercuspidal.

As for the other direction, suppose that (π, V) is an irreducible representation of G which contains σ on restriction to G_x . As in the proof of Lemma 5.16, we can assume that C acts by a unitary character on V, so integration over $C \setminus F_x$ defines a F_x -invariant Hermetian form on V. Therefore we may assume that $\operatorname{res}_{F_x} \pi$ is unitary, so since π is an irreducible G-representation, π is admissible, so $\operatorname{res}_{F_x} \pi$ is semisimple. Since $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_x}(\sigma, \operatorname{res}_{G_x} \pi) \neq \{0\}$, it is easy to see that there is some irreducible subrepresentation τ of $\operatorname{res}_{F_x} \pi$ containing σ , so, by semisimplicity, there is some $\tau \in \mathcal{E}(\sigma)$ such that $\operatorname{Hom}_{F_x}(\operatorname{res}_{F_x} \pi, \tau) \neq \{0\}$. By Frobenius reciprocity for the compact induction functor ind [BZ76, 2.29], since F_x and G are both unimodular, we have $\operatorname{Hom}_G(\pi, \operatorname{ind}_{F_x}^G \tau) \neq \{0\}$, so since both are irreducible, they must be equivalent.

Corollary 5.18 (to Theorems 5.17 and 5.7). If $\tau \in \mathcal{E}(\sigma)$, then the induced representation $\operatorname{ind}_{F_x}^G \tau$ is an irreducible super-cuspidal representation of *G* (necessarily of depth zero), and any depth-zero irreducible super-cuspidal representation of *G* arises from some vertex $x \in \mathcal{B}$ in this way.

5.3. Example: depth-zero super-cuspidals of $SL_2(k)$

At this point it is illuminating explicitly to write down the depth-zero irreducible supercuspidal representations of $G = SL_2(k)$. This is not terribly difficult because $C = \{1\}$.

Throughout this example, keep in mind the results in Section 4.2; in particular, recall that in $\mathcal{B}(SL_2(k))$, all vertices are special.

Notation 5.19. If (π, V) is a representation of any group G and $g \in G$ is any element, then we define the representation $({}^{g}\pi, V)$ by ${}^{g}\pi(h)v = \pi(ghg^{-1})v$.

The map $v \mapsto \pi(g)v$ defines an equivalence $\pi \cong {}^{g}\pi$.

Notation 5.20. If σ is a cuspidal representation of $G = SL_2(f)$ and $x \in \mathcal{B}(G)$ is a vertex, then we put $(\pi_{\sigma,x}, V_{\sigma,x}) = \operatorname{ind}_{G_x}^G \sigma$.

By Proposition 4.22(ii), we have $G_x = N_G(G_x)$ since $C = \{1\}$, so the results in Section 5.2 tell us that each $\pi_{\sigma,x}$ is an irreducible super-cuspidal representation of $SL_2(k)$ (of depth zero), and that all such representations occur as one of the $\pi_{\sigma,x}$.

Remark 5.21. Let σ be a cuspidal representation of G with representation space V_{σ} . Let $v_0 \in V_{\sigma}$ be nonzero, and let $f \in V_{\sigma,x}$ be the function given by

$$f(h) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } h \notin G_x \\ \tau(h)v_0 & \text{if } h \in G_x. \end{cases}$$

Then there is an embedding of V_{σ} into $V_{\sigma,x}$ given by $v_0 \mapsto f$.

The parameters σ , x are in fact the correct ones to use, as the following proposition shows.

- **Proposition 5.22.** The representations $\pi_{\sigma,x}$ and $\pi_{\sigma',x'}$ are equivalent if and only if x is conjugate to x' under G and $\sigma \cong \sigma'$ as representations of G.
- **Remark 5.23.** This proposition has a generalization to any generalized Levi *G* of a simplyconnected *p*-adic Chevalley group.

Proof of Proposition 5.22.

(\Leftarrow) Find a $g \in G$ such that gx = x'. Then $\pi_{\sigma,x} \cong g_{\pi,x'} \cong \pi_{\sigma,x'}$ (cf. Remark 4.8). Since $\sigma \cong \sigma'$, the functorial nature of ind tells us that

$$\pi_{\sigma,x'} = \operatorname{ind}_{G_{x'}}^G \sigma \cong \operatorname{ind}_{G_{x'}}^G \sigma' = \pi_{\sigma',x'}$$

(\Longrightarrow) Suppose that $\pi_{\sigma,x} \cong \pi_{\sigma',x'}$. Let V_{σ} (resp. $V_{\sigma'}$) be a representation space for σ (resp. σ'). First we will show that x and x' must be conjugate under G. Let $y \in \mathcal{B}(G)$ be any point, and let $g_{\sigma} \in G$ be any representative for the coset $\sigma \in G_x \setminus G/G_y^+$. One can show that

$$(\operatorname{ind}_{G_x}^G \sigma)^{G_y^+} \cong \bigoplus_{\sigma \in G_x \setminus G/G_y^+} V_{\sigma}^{G_x \cap g_\sigma G_y^+ g_{\sigma}^{-1}} = \bigoplus_{\sigma \in G_x \setminus G/G_y^+} V_{\sigma}^{G_x \cap G_{g_\sigma y}^+}$$
(5.4)

under the map $f \mapsto (f(g_{\sigma}))_{\sigma}$ (cf. [BZ76, Lemma 2.24]). If $gx \neq x'$ for all $g \in G$, then by Corollary 5.15, we have $V_{\sigma,x}^{G_{x'}^+} = \{0\}$. But there is an embedding of $V_{\sigma'} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{res}_{G_{x'}} V_{\sigma',x'}$, whose image is contained in $V_{\sigma',x'}^{G_{x'}^+}$ because $V_{\sigma'} = V_{\sigma'}^{G_{x'}^+}$, which contradicts the assumption that $\pi_{\sigma,x} \cong \pi_{\sigma',x'}$. Therefore x and x' are conjugate under G, so we may assume that x = x'.

Let $i_x : V_{\sigma} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{res}_{G_x} V_{\sigma,x}$ be the embedding given by Remark 5.21. Equation (5.4) and Corollary 5.15 show that the image of i_x is in fact all of $V_{\sigma,x}^{G_x^+}$, so i_x restricts to an isomorphism of $\operatorname{res}_{G_x} V_{\sigma,x}^{G_x^+}$ with V_{σ} ; similarly, $\operatorname{res}_{G_x} V_{\sigma',x}^{G_x^+}$ is isomorphic to $V_{\sigma'}$. Therefore the isomorphism of $V_{\sigma,x}$ with $V_{\sigma',x}$ restricts to an isomorphism of V_{σ} with $V_{\sigma'}$, completing the proof.

Example 2.28 and Proposition 4.10 imply that there are exactly two orbits of (special) vertices in $\mathcal{B}(SL_2(k))$, so all that is left to do is to find the cuspidal characters of $SL_2(f)$. Assume from now on that the characteristic of f is odd. The character table of $SL_2(f)$ is given in [Car85, p.155]; using [Car85, Prop. 9.1.1], one finds that an irreducible character χ is cuspidal if and only if $\sum_{a \in f} \chi\left(\begin{bmatrix} 1 & a \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}\right) = 0$. With this in mind, one calculates that the only cuspidal characters are as follows:

- For every complex character ω of the cyclic group C_{q+1} of order q+1 such that $\omega^2 \neq 1$, there is a cuspidal character $R(\omega)$ (called the Deligne-Lusztig virtual character, denoted $-R_{\mathbf{T}_s}^{\mathbf{G}}(\omega)$ in [Car85]). We have $R(\omega) = R(\omega')$ if and only if $\omega' = \omega^{\pm 1}$. Therefore there are $\frac{q-1}{2}$ such characters.
- Associated to the nontrivial character ω_0 of C_{q+1} such that $\omega_0^2 = 1$ are two cuspidal characters $\chi^{\pm 1}$.

Therefore we have proved that:

Theorem 5.24. If q is odd, then there are exactly q + 1 depth-zero irreducible supercuspidal representations of $SL_2(k)$.

A. Appendix: Non-simply-connectedness and $SO_4(k)$

It is unfortunately not the case that the Chevalley group generated by a set of Chevalley data (Lie algebra, representation, etc.) is always the algebraic group associated with those data. For instance, if we exponentiate the standard representation of $\mathfrak{so}_4(\mathbf{C})$, we would like to obtain all of $SO_4(k)$ (that is, all elements that preserve a quadratic form); unfortunately, in general we only obtain a subgroup of $SO_4(k)$, as we will demonstrate in this appendix.¹⁴

The Dynkin diagram of SO₄ is of type D_2 , which agrees with $A_1 \times A_1$; i.e., there are two orthogonal simple roots α and β , and the root system is $\{\pm \alpha, \pm \beta\}$. Therefore the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}} = \mathfrak{so}_4 = \mathfrak{sl}_2 \times \mathfrak{sl}_2$ has a two-dimensional Cartan subalgebra \mathfrak{h} , spanned by elements Z_{α} and Z_{β} , and four root spaces $\mathfrak{g}_{\pm \alpha}, \mathfrak{g}_{\pm \beta}$, spanned by $X_{\pm \alpha}$ and $X_{\pm \beta}$. The spaces $\langle X_{\pm \alpha}, Z_{\alpha} \rangle$ and $\langle X_{\pm \beta}, Z_{\beta} \rangle$ are two orthogonal standard copies of \mathfrak{sl}_2 . Therefore the weight lattice is $\Lambda_W = \mathbf{Z}(\alpha/2) \oplus \mathbf{Z}(\beta/2)$, and the root lattice Λ_R is of course $\mathbf{Z}_{\alpha} \oplus \mathbf{Z}_{\beta}$, which is index four in the weight lattice.

We will realize $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}}$ in matrix form as follows. We will take our quadratic form to be $M = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & I_2 \\ I_2 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$, where I_2 is the identity matrix. Then, as in [FH91], the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}}$ is given

 $^{^{14}}$ However, if k is algebraically closed or we generate the simply-connected form, then the Chevalley group will agree with the algebraic group — recall that a simply-connected algebraic group of the type that we are considering is generated by its unipotent elements.

by block matrices $\begin{bmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{bmatrix}$, where B and C are skew-symmetric and $A = -^{t}D$. We may take

$$Z_{\alpha} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 & \\ & -1 & \\ & & 1 \end{bmatrix} \quad X_{\alpha} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & \\ & 0 & \\ & & -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \quad X_{-\alpha} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1 \\ & 0 & -1 \\ & & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$Z_{\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \\ & -1 & \\ & & -1 \end{bmatrix} \quad X_{\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 \\ & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \quad X_{-\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \\ & 1 & -1 & 0 \\ & 1 & -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

One checks that these span $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}}$, and that they satisfy the appropriate relations — in other words, this is a Chevalley basis of \mathfrak{g} . The standard four-dimensional representation $V^{\mathbf{C}}$ is the one that generates SO₄. The weight spaces are spanned by the coordinate vectors $\mathbf{e}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{e}_4$; a calculation shows that the weights are $\pm \alpha \pm \beta$, so the representation lattice is index two in the weight lattice — in other words, SO₄ is not simply connected.

Using [Ste68, Corollary 2], one can see that a lattice V invariant under the set (1.4) is $\mathbf{Ze}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathbf{Ze}_4$, so $V^k = k^4$, with $X_{\pm\alpha}, X_{\pm\beta}$ acting as the matrices above. Therefore we calculate

$$\begin{aligned} x_{\alpha}(t) &= \exp(tX_{\alpha}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & t & \\ 1 & \\ & -t & 1 \end{bmatrix} & x_{-\alpha}(t) = \exp(tX_{-\alpha}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \\ 1 & 1 & -t \\ & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \\ x_{\beta}(t) &= \exp(tX_{\beta}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & t & \\ 1 & -t & 1 \\ & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} & x_{\beta}(t) = \exp(tX_{-\beta}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \\ 1 & -t & 1 \\ & t & 1 \end{bmatrix} \\ w_{\alpha}(t) &= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & t & \\ -t^{-1} & 0 & \\ & 0 & t^{-1} & \\ & 0 & t^{-1} & \\ & -t^{-1} & 0 \end{bmatrix} & h_{\alpha}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} t & t^{-1} & \\ t^{-1} & t \end{bmatrix} \\ w_{\beta}(s) &= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & -s^{-s} \\ -s^{-1} & 0 & \\ & -s^{-1} & 0 \end{bmatrix} & h_{\beta}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} s & s \\ s^{-1} & s^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \end{aligned}$$

so the Cartan subgroup T is given by $\{\text{diag}(st, st^{-1}, s^{-1}t^{-1}, s^{-1}t) : s, t \in k^{\times}\}$ First note that when $(s, t) = \pm (1, 1)$, then $h_{\alpha}(s)h_{\beta}(t) = 1$, so elements of T cannot be uniquely expressed as products of $h_{\alpha}(s)$ and $h_{\beta}(t)$.

We know that the centralizer in G of T is T itself (cf. Proposition B.3). Thus in order to show that $G \neq SO_4(k)$, it suffices to find a diagonal element of $SO_4(k)$ which is not contained in T. Assume that there exists some $a \in k^{\times} \setminus (k^{\times})^2$. Then it is easy to see that $diag(a, 1, a^{-1}, 1)$ preserves our form M but is not contained in T. Therefore $G \neq SO_4(k)$ (unless k is algebraically closed, for instance).

Remark A.1. Although the Chevalley group SO_4 is not simply-connected, one can realize $SO_4(k)$ as a generalized Levi subgroup of G_2 . Therefore one can use the results in this paper to analyze $SO_4(k)$ after all.

B. Appendix: Chevalley group miscellanea

This thesis is primarily concerned with the affine structure of our groups, but there are a few slightly nonstandard pieces of spherical structure of G that we should include for completeness. Therefore, in this appendix, G will be be any Chevalley group over an arbitrary field k.

Let $B \subset G$ be a Borel subgroup containing T with unipotent radical U and opposite unipotent radical \overline{U} . For $w \in W = N/T$, let U_w be the product of the root subgroups for roots $\alpha \in \Phi^+$ such that $w(\alpha) \in \Phi^-$. From [Car89, Cor. 8.4.4], we have: **Theorem B.1.** For every $g \in G$, there exist unique $u \in U, n \in N$, and $u_w \in U_w$, such that w = nT and $g = unu_w$.

Corollary B.2. $N \cap (U\overline{U}) = N \cap (\overline{U}U) = \{1\}$

Proof.

We have $N \cap (U\overline{U}) = (N \cap (\overline{U}U))^{-1}$, so it suffices to show that $N \cap (U\overline{U}) = \{1\}$. Suppose that $n = u\overline{u}$ where $n \in N$ and $u \in U, \overline{u} \in \overline{U}$. Since all positive root systems are conjugate under W, we can find an $n_1 \in N$ such that $u_w := n_1^{-1}\overline{u}n_1 \in U$, so $nn_1 = un_1u_w$. Since $n_1u_wn_1^{-1} \in \overline{U}$, both sides of this equation are now written in canonical form, so we can use Theorem B.1 to conclude that $u_w = u = 1$ and therefore $\overline{u} = n = 1$.

Another fact which we use several times is the following:

Proposition B.3. Suppose that k is an infinite field of characteristic zero and that G is simply-connected. Then the torus T is its own centralizer in G.

Proof.

Let Z be the centralizer in G of T. Since N is the normalizer of T, we have $Z \subset N$. Suppose that there were some $n \in Z \setminus T$. Then n projects onto a nontrivial element w of the Weyl group, so there is some root $\alpha \in \Delta$ such that $w\alpha \neq \alpha$. Therefore by [Ste68, Lemma 20(b)], $nh_{\alpha}(1)n^{-1} = h_{w\alpha}(\pm 1)$, which is not equal to $h_{\alpha}(1)$ by simply-connectedness. This is a contradiction.

We also need a useful fact about root systems. Recall that Λ_R is the root lattice, contained in the Euclidean space *E*. A sort of "Graham-Schmidt" procedure works on this lattice:

Proposition B.4. Let $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in \Lambda_R$ be linearly independent. There is an orthogonal set $y_1, \ldots, y_n \in \Lambda_R$ such that $\operatorname{span}(x_1, \ldots, x_i) = \operatorname{span}(y_1, \ldots, y_i)$ for each $1 \le i \le n$.

Proof.

We will prove the proposition by induction. The base case n = 1 is trivially true. Since Φ contains roots of at most two lengths a and b such that $a^2/b^2 \in \mathbb{Z}$, we may assume that the inner product (x, y) is an integer for every $x, y \in \Lambda_R$ (because $\langle x, y \rangle = 2(x, y)/(y, y) \in \mathbb{Z}$ for $x, y \in \Phi$).

Suppose that we have some y_1, \ldots, y_{n-1} which satisfy the inductive hypotheses. We claim that there are $m \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ and $a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1} \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

 $(mx_n - a_1y_1 - \dots - a_{n-1}y_{n-1}, y_i) = m(x_n, y_i) - a_i(y_i, y_i) = 0$

for each $1 \le i \le n-1$; then we may set $y_n = mx_n - a_1y_1 - \cdots - a_{n-1}y_{n-1} \in \Lambda_R$. It is certainly possible to find such m and a_i because each $(x_n, y_i) \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $(y_i, y_i) \in \mathbb{Z}$.

A related fact, used to prove Theorem 5.7, is as follows.

Lemma B.5. If $x \in A$ is not a vertex, then M(x) is contained in a proper (not generalized) Levi subgroup M of G, whose co-root system Φ_M does not span \mathcal{A}_s^{red} .

Proof.

Note that x is not a vertex iff Φ_x does not span E_{Φ} , which is true iff $\check{\Phi}_x$ (the set of co-roots of the roots in Φ_x) does not span $\mathcal{A}_s^{\text{red}}$. Let $E_x^* \subsetneq \mathcal{A}_s^{\text{red}}$ be the span of $\check{\Phi}_x$, and

choose a nonzero $y\in (E^*_x)^\perp\cap \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{red}}_s.$ Proposition 2.13 tells us that

$$M = \langle T, \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Phi, \alpha(y) = 0 \rangle$$

is a Levi subgroup of G containing M(x), which is proper because $y \neq 0$. The root system Φ_M of M is $\{\alpha \in \Phi : \alpha(y) = 0\}$; since M is a proper Levi subgroup, there is a choice of simple roots Δ and a proper subset $\Theta \subset \Delta$ such that Θ is also a system of simple roots for Φ_M ; in particular, $\check{\Phi}_M$ does not span $\mathcal{A}_s^{\text{red}}$ either.

Remark B.6. Our proof of Theorem 5.7 (which is not substantively different from [MP96, Prop. 6.7]) holds for any M as in Lemma B.5, which is a slightly stronger result than the one stated in [MP96]. However, Moy and Prasad offer a more elegant way to construct such an M in [MP96, §6.3].

C. Index of Notation

The following notational conventions are in place:

- If X is an object associated with a generalized Levi subgroup G of G^c , then X^c is the corresponding object associated with the full Chevalley group G^c , and X is the corresponding object defined over the residue field, when this makes sense.
- If X ⊂ Λ_R is a subset of the root lattice, then X̃ ⊂ Å_R is the corresponding subset of the co-root lattice.
- If X is a vector space, then X^* is its linear dual.

List of symbols, in quasi-alphabetical order:

(\cdot, \cdot)	The inner product on E and E^* .	8
$\langle\cdot,\cdot angle$	$=2(\gamma,\delta)/(\delta,\delta)$ is always an integer for $\gamma,\delta\in\Lambda_R$.	8
$\langle\cdot,\cdot angle$	The canonical pairing of E with E^* .	8
\sim	The equivalence relation on $G \times \mathcal{A}$ used to make the building.	42
[g, x]	The equivalence class of $(g, x) \in G \times \mathcal{A}$ under \sim .	42
$\mathcal{A}_{s}(G)$	The spherical apartment of G.	16
$\mathcal{A}^{\rm red}_{\it s}({\sf G})$	The reduced spherical apartment of G.	16
$\mathcal{A}(G)$	The standard affine apartment of <i>G</i> .	20
$\mathcal{A}(^{g}T)$	The apartment in $\mathcal{B}(G)$ of the torus gTg^{-1} .	43
$\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{red}}(G)$	The reduced affine apartment of G .	21
$\mathcal{B}(G)$	The Bruhat-Tits building of G.	42
C	The split center of <i>G</i> .	14
d	The metric on $\mathcal{B}(G)$.	45
Δ	A set of simple roots for Φ .	12
E	The Euclidean space containing the abstract root system Φ^c .	8
E_{Φ}	$\subset E$ is the subspace of E spanned by the root system Φ .	12
E_{Φ}^*	The dual of E_{Φ} , which can be identified with the subspace of E^* spanned by $\check{\Phi}$.	12
$\mathcal{E}(\sigma)$	The irreducible representations of F_x which contain σ on restriction to G_x .	56
f	$= R/\wp$ is the residue field of k.	15
F_x	$=N_G(G_x).$	56
g	A fixed Lie algebra defined over the integers, coming from a complex semisimple Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}}$ and a Chevalley basis.	8
\mathfrak{g}_γ	$= \mathbf{Z} \cdot X_{\gamma}$ is the (integer) root space in \mathfrak{g} defined by the root γ .	8
G	The generalized Levi subgroup of G^c associated with Φ .	12
G_x	The parahoric subgroup of G associated to the point $x \in \mathcal{A}(G)$.	28
G_x^+	The pro-unipotent radical of G_x .	28
G_F, G_F^+	The parahoric subgroup and its pro-unipotent radical corresponding to a facet $F \subset A$.	28

G_{Ω}	The "parahoric" subgroup of G associated to a region $\Omega \subset \mathcal{A}$.	32
$G_{x,r}$	The Moy-Prasad filtration subgroups of G_x .	50
G_{x,r^+}	$= \bigcup_{s>r} G_{x,s}.$	50
G_x	The quotient group G_x/G_x^+ .	33
h	The (integer) Cartan subalgebra of g.	8
$h_{\gamma}(t)$	$= w_{\gamma}(t)w_{\gamma}(1)^{-1}$ for $t \in k^{\times}$.	11
H_{γ}	The hyperplane in E^* fixed by r_{γ} .	15
$H_{\alpha+n}$	The hyperplane in \mathcal{A} killed by the functional $\alpha + n$.	20
\mathcal{H}_n	The union of all <i>n</i> -facets.	26
Ind	The induction functor.	56
ind	The compact induction functor.	56
k	A finite extension of a p -adic field \mathbf{Q}_p .	15
l	$= \Delta .$	12
L	$= \Phi .$	12
Λ_C	$=\Lambda^c_R\cap E_\Phi^\perp.$	14
Λ_R	The root lattice, which is the lattice generated by Φ .	12
M(x)	The generalized Levi subgroup of G associated to a point $x \in A$.	26
N	The normalizer in G of T if $ k > 3$.	14
N_x	$= N \cap G_x$ is the inverse image in G_x of N _x .	36
N_x	The normalizer in G_x of T if $ f > 3$.	36
ω	A nontrivial discrete valuation on <i>k</i> .	15
\wp	The unique prime ideal in R .	15
P_x	The parabolic subgroup of G associated with $x \in \mathcal{A}_s(G)$.	17
$\overline{\omega}$	A fixed uniformizing element in <i>k</i> .	15
π_{G}	The orthogonal projection map $\mathcal{A}_s(G) \to \mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{red}}(G)$.	16
π_G	The orthogonal projection map $\mathcal{A}(G) \to \mathcal{A}^{red}(G)$.	21
Φ	$\subset E$ is the root system of our generalized Levi subgroup G.	12
Φ^\pm	Some choice of positive and negative roots in Φ .	12
Φ_x	The closed sub-root system corresponding to a point $x \in \mathcal{A}$.	26
Ψ	The affine root system associated to the root system Φ .	28
q	= f .	15
R	The ring of integers in k .	15
r_{γ}	The reflection of <i>E</i> or E^* over the hyperplane orthogonal to the root γ or the co-root $\check{\gamma}$.	15
$r_{\alpha+n}$	The reflection over the hyperplane $H_{\alpha+n}$.	20
$\Re(G)$	The category of smooth representations of G .	3
$\varrho(\pi)$	The depth of the representation π .	51
T	The Cartan subgroup of G^c , which is <i>fixed</i> .	11

T(R)	The maximal compact subgroup of T generated by elements of norm 1.	22
T_{α}	The map $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ given by translation by $\check{\alpha}$.	21
V	Some lattice contained in a faithful complex representation $V^{\mathbf{C}}$ of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{C}}$ which is invariant under the set (1.4).	10
V_{μ}	The weight space (lattice) of V corresponding to the weight μ .	10
v_{μ}	A generator of the weight space V_{μ} , so the v_{μ} generate V as an integer lattice.	10
V^k	$= V \otimes_{\mathbf{Z}} k.$	10
V_x, V_x^+	The Chevalley lattices in V^k preserved by G_x .	30
V(U)	The U-invariant subspace of the representation V of $G \supset U$ generated by all $u \cdot v - v$ for $v \in V, u \in U$.	4
W	The (spherical) Weyl group associated with the root system Φ .	14
\widetilde{W}	The affine Weyl group associated with the root system Φ .	22
W_x	The Weyl group of G_x .	36
$w_{\gamma}(t)$	$= x_{\gamma}(t)x_{-\gamma}(-t^{-1})x_{\gamma}(t) \text{ for } t \in k^{\times}.$	11
$x_{\gamma}(t)$	$= \exp(tX_{\gamma})$ for $t \in k$ is an element of the root group \mathfrak{X}_{γ} corresponding to the root γ .	10
\mathfrak{X}_γ	$= \{x_{\gamma}(t) : t \in k\} \cong k^+$ is the root subgroup corresponding to the root γ .	10
X_{γ}	The element of the Chevalley basis of \mathfrak{g} that generates the root space \mathfrak{g}_{γ} .	9
\mathfrak{X}_ψ	The subgroup associated to the affine root ψ .	28
Z_{γ}	$= [X_{\gamma}, X_{-\gamma}]$ is an element of the Chevalley basis of \mathfrak{g} if $\gamma \in \Delta^c$.	9

References

- [BDS49] A. Borel and J. De Siebenthal, Les sous-groupes fermés de rang maximum des groupes de Lie clos, Comment. Math. Helv. 23 (1949), 200–221 (French).MR 11,326d
- [BT72] F. Bruhat and J. Tits, Groupes réductifs sur un corps local, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1972), no. 41, 5–251 (French).
- [BT84] _____, Groupes réductifs sur un corps local. II. Schémas en groupes. Existence d'une donnée radicielle valuée, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1984), no. 60, 197–376 (French).
- [BZ76] I. N. Bernshtein and A. V. Zelveniskii, Representations of the group GL(n, F) where F is a non-archimedean local field., Russian Math. Surveys **31** (1976), no. 3, 5–70.
- [Car85] R. W. Carter, *Finite groups of Lie type*, Pure and Applied Mathematics, John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1985. Conjugacy classes and complex characters; A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [Car89] _____, Simple groups of Lie type, Wiley Classics Library, John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1989. Reprint of the 1972 original; A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [Cas] W. Casselman, Introduction to the theory of admissible representations of p-adic reductive groups. preprint.
- [Che55] C. Chevalley, Sur certains groupes simples, Tôhoku Math. J. (2) 7 (1955), 14-66 (French).
- [DeB] S. DeBacker, Representation Theory. preprint.
- [DeB02] _____, Parametrizing nilpotent orbits via Bruhat-Tits theory, Ann. of Math. (2) 156 (2002), no. 1, 295– 332.
- [FH91] W. Fulton and J. Harris, Representation theory, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 129, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991. A first course; Readings in Mathematics.
- [Hum75] J. E. Humphreys, *Linear algebraic groups*, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 21, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1975.
- [Hum78] _____, Introduction to Lie algebras and representation theory, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 9, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1978. Second printing, revised.
- [HL94] R. B. Howlett and G. I. Lehrer, On Harish-Chandra induction and restriction for modules of Levi subgroups, J. Algebra 165 (1994), no. 1, 172–183.
- [Iwa66] N. Iwahori, Generalized Tits system (Bruhat decomposition) on p-adic semisimple groups, Algebraic Groups and Discontinuous Subgroups (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Boulder, Colo., 1965), 1966, pp. 71–83.
- [IM65] N. Iwahori and H. Matsumoto, On some Bruhat decomposition and the structure of the Hecke rings of p-adic Chevalley groups, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1965), no. 25, 5–48.
- [Jac75] H. Jacquet, Sur les représentations des groupes réductifs p-adiques, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B 280 (1975), Aii, A1271–A1272 (French, with English summary).
- [Mau64] F. I. Mautner, Spherical functions over b-adic fields. II, Amer. J. Math. 86 (1964), 171-200.
- [Mor99] L. Morris, Level zero G-types, Compositio Math. 118 (1999), no. 2, 135-157.
- [MP94] A. Moy and G. Prasad, Unrefined minimal K-types for p-adic groups, Invent. Math. 116 (1994), no. 1-3, 393–408.
- [MP96] _____, Jacquet functors and unrefined minimal K-types, Comment. Math. Helv. 71 (1996), no. 1, 98–121.
- [Ste68] R. Steinberg, Lectures on Chevalley groups, Yale University, New Haven, Conn., 1968. Notes prepared by John Faulkner and Robert Wilson.
- [SS97] P. Schneider and U. Stuhler, Representation theory and sheaves on the Bruhat-Tits building, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1997), no. 85, 97–191.
- [Tit62] J. Tits, Théorème de Bruhat et sous-groupes paraboliques, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 254 (1962), 2910–2912 (French).MR 25 #2149
- [Tit79] _____, Reductive groups over local fields, Automorphic forms, representations and L-functions (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Oregon State Univ., Corvallis, Ore., 1977), Part 1, 1979, pp. 29–69.